

19 June 2025 EMA/253465/2025 Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP)

# Assessment report

Referral under Article 31 of Directive 2001/83/EC

Azithromycin-containing medicinal products for systemic use

Procedure number: EMEA/H/A-31/1532



# **Table of contents**

Table of contents	2
1. Information on the procedure	3
2. Scientific discussion	
2.1. Introduction	4
2.2. Data on efficacy	
2.2.1. Lower respiratory tract infections (LRTI) including bronchitis and pneumonia	
2.2.2. Upper respiratory tract infections (URTIs) including sinusitis, pharyngitis, and	12
2.2.3. Acute Otitis Media	
2.2.4. Acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections (ABSSSI) including folliculitis, cellulitis, erysipelas, impetigo and secondary purulent dermatitis	
2.2.5. Erythema migrans	
2.2.6. Dental infections (periodontal abscesses and periodontitis)	
2.2.7. Moderate acne vulgaris	
2.2.8. Sexually transmitted diseases (urethritis, cervicitis, prostatitis, chancroid)	
2.2.9. Pelvic inflammatory disease (PID)	29
2.2.10. Mycobacterium avium complex (MAC) infection in people living with HIV	
2.2.11. Gastro-duodenal infections caused by <i>Helicobacter pylori</i>	32
2.2.12. Prevention of exacerbations of eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic asthma	35
2.2.13. Use of azithromycin for the treatment of malaria in the paediatric population $\dots$	35
2.3. Pharmacokinetics	36
2.3.1. Oral formulations	36
2.3.2. Intravenous formulations	38
2.3.3. Drug-drug interactions	39
2.4. Pharmacodynamics	
2.5. Posology recommendations (dosing, duration and use in combination)	
2.5.1. Oral formulations	
2.5.2. Intravenous formulations	
2.6. Data on safety	
2.7. Non-clinical aspects	50
3. Expert consultation	51
4. Discussion and conclusions on benefit-risk balance	54
5. Grounds for Opinion	63

# 1. Information on the procedure

Azithromycin is part of the World Health Organisation (WHO) Model List of Essential Medicines (2023) and WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children (2021) and has been classified into the WATCH category by WHO (AWaRe classification WHO 2017, confirmed in 2021 and 2023) which includes antibiotics with a higher potential for the selection of antimicrobial resistance and thus should be carefully monitored to avoid overuse. However, azithromycin is frequently prescribed in the EU for adult and paediatric patients (DARWIN study report C1-0032¹) and was increasingly used during COVID-19 pandemic in the hospital setting, as shown e.g. via German Antibiotic Consumption Surveillance (AVS). The data suggests that there is an overuse of systemic azithromycin in the EU, which can negatively influence the development of resistance.

Azithromycin resistance rates in the EU (based on systemic administration) are increasing for adults and paediatrics. For example, for *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* a significant increase of minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) above the epidemiological cut-off (ECOFFs) threaten the effectiveness of the dual therapy of azithromycin plus ceftriaxone. For other pathogens the trend is not that significant, however there was a relatively large increase in *Streptococcus pneumoniae* resistance to macrolides at EU/ EEA level in 2021 (+1.5%) compared to the reported rates in macrolide resistance at EU/ EEA level during the period 2017–2020. Moreover, macrolide resistance rates for all age groups significantly differ between member states (MS) (e.g. resistance rate of 3.4-36.1% for *Streptococcus pneumoniae*).

In addition, since many azithromycin products were authorised decades ago by national procedures, there are significant differences between the product information of azithromycin-containing products across the EU/EEA, in particular in the approved indications and posology, but also in other sections of the product information. For oral azithromycin products the wording of several indications might be considered too broad (e.g. infections of the upper respiratory tract) which could promote overuse and resistance development. Furthermore, these indications are not in line with the recommendation in the current EMA guideline on the evaluation of medicinal products indicated for treatment of bacterial infections (CPMP/EWP/558/95 Rev 3). Moreover, some rare indications, such as prophylaxis and treatment of disseminated infections by *Mycobacterium avium* complex in patients with advanced HIV infection or infections by *Helicobacter pylori*, are authorised in some EU/EEA Member States (MSs) only and there is a need to evaluate the benefit-risk balance based on available data.

In contrast, the authorised indications of intravenous azithromycin products are more harmonised across EU/EEA MSs, however, concerns regarding increasing resistance rates are also applicable to those products.

Overall, the issues listed above (increasing resistance rate, high consumption rate and data suggesting overuse, different and broad indications in EU/EEA MS) may contrast in its current form the concept of a rational use of antibiotics and antibiotic stewardship considering the WHO categorisation of azithromycin.

Thus, there is a need to re-evaluate the benefit-risk balance of the azithromycin-containing products for systemic use in their approved indications considering the current scientific knowledge. Furthermore, the appropriate dose and duration of administration for both oral and intravenous formulations need to be discussed as well as the adequacy of safety relevant information and information about pharmacological properties.

Assessment report EMA/253465/2025

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> https://catalogues.ema.europa.eu/node/3659/administrative-details

In addition to oral and intravenous formulations, a few topical azithromycin containing products are approved in EU Member States. However, the approved indications and posology of these products differ largely from that of systemic products. Resistance data of topical azithromycin containing products are limited and difficult to assess due to lack of European committee on antimicrobial susceptibility testing (EUCAST) breakpoints. However, due to the limited use, a significant impact on the resistance development is not expected. Therefore, a re-evaluation of the benefit-risk balance of topical products is not in the scope of this procedure.

On 30 October 2023 the National Competent Authority in Germany therefore triggered a referral under Article 31 of Directive 2001/83/EC and requested the CHMP to assess the impact of the above concerns on the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products for systemic use and to issue a recommendation on whether the relevant marketing authorisations should be maintained, varied, suspended or revoked.

The scope of this procedure is thus limited to systemic (oral and parenteral) formulations of azithromycin.

# 2. Scientific discussion

# 2.1. Introduction

Azithromycin is a macrolide antibiotic inhibiting bacterial protein biosynthesis by binding to the 23S rRNA of the 50S ribosomal subunit. It blocks protein synthesis by inhibiting the transpeptidation/translocation step of protein synthesis and by inhibiting the assembly of the 50S ribosomal subunit.

It is active against many aerobic Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria including intracellular pathogens such as *Chlamydia trachomatis*.

Resistance towards azithromycin is primarily conferred by overexpression of efflux pumps or modification of the target structure (e.g. methylation of the 23S ribosomal subunit by expression of *erm* (erythromycin ribosome methylase) genes, which leads to cross-resistance to macrolides, lincosamides and streptogramin B, the so-called MLSB phenotype).

Azithromycin-containing products for systemic use are authorised in the European Union (EU) mainly as oral and intravenous formulations. Azithromycin for oral administration is authorised for the treatment of children, adolescents and adults and is available as 125 mg, 250 mg, 500 mg, 600 mg tablets/capsules, as 250 mg, 500 mg, 600 mg, 1000 mg dispersible tablets, as powder for oral suspension in bottle (20 mg/ml and 40 mg/ml), in sachet (100 mg, 150 mg, 200 mg, 250 mg, 300 mg, 400 mg, 500 mg, 1000 mg) and as granules of oral suspension, for all pharmaceutical forms expressed as azithromycin (the active substance is usually azithromycin dihydrate).

Azithromycin for oral administration is authorised in most Member States (MS) for the following indications, with variations in the wordings of the indications:

- Infections of the upper respiratory tract including sinusitis, pharyngitis, tonsillitis
- Infections of the lower respiratory tract including acute exacerbation of chronic bronchitis and pneumonia
- Acute bacterial otitis media
- Skin and soft tissue infections (folliculitis, cellulitis, erysipelas, impetigo and secondary purulent dermatitis)

- Uncomplicated infections of the genital tract in women by Chlamydia trachomatis or nonmultiresistant Neisseria gonorrhoeae (cervicitis)
- Uncomplicated genital infections in men due to Chlamydia trachomatis or nonmultiresistant Neisseria gonorrhoeae (urethritis)

While azithromycin for oral administration is only authorised in single MS for the following indications, with variations in the wordings of the indications:

- Erythema migrans (the first symptom of Lyme disease)
- Moderate acne vulgaris
- Treatment of chancroid/soft ulcer caused by Haemophilus ducreyi in men
- Chronic prostatitis caused by Chlamydia trachomatis
- Prophylaxis of disseminated infections caused by organisms of the Mycobacterium avium complex (MAC) alone or in combination with rifabutin in patients with advanced HIV infection
- Treatment of disseminated infections caused by organisms of the MAC in patients with advanced-stage HIV infection
- Periodontal abscesses and periodontitis
- Exacerbations of eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic asthma
- Gastro-duodenal infections caused by Helicobacter pylori

Azithromycin for intravenous administration is authorised in most Member States and only for treatment of adult patients. Azithromycin is available as 500 mg powder for solution for infusion for the following indications, with minor variations in the wordings of the indications:

- community-acquired pneumonia and
- pelvic inflammatory disease / uncomplicated ascending adnexitis.

In addition, the CHMP noted that azithromycin is in the WHO Model List of Essential Medicines first choice for cholera and enteric fever, and the second choice for acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea, however it is currently not authorised in the EU for these indications.

In addition to data from DARWIN and AVS mentioned above, based on the data reported in PSUSAs and calculated as 5 day treatment courses, it is estimated that approximately 300 million patients were exposed to azithromycin containing products between 2017 and 2020, while approximately 465 million patients were exposed between 2020 and 2023, which corresponds to a 1.55-fold increase in exposed patients.

Azithromycin resistance rates in the EU (based on systemic administration) are increasing for adults and paediatric patients, while due to the divergent national decisions taken by MS concerning the authorisation of azithromycin-containing products for systemic use decades ago, there are significant differences between the product information of azithromycin-containing products across the EU MS in the approved, partly broad, indications (some authorised in a few individual Member States only), and posology, but also in other sections of the product information.

In contrast, the authorised indications of intravenous azithromycin products are more harmonised across EU/EEA MSs, however, concerns regarding increasing resistance rates are also applicable to those products.

Overall, there was a need to re-evaluate the benefit-risk balance based on available data in all of the indications of azithromycin containing products for systemic use.

The CHMP considered all available data, including non-clinical and clinical studies, epidemiological studies, susceptibility testing data and scientific literature. A summary of the most relevant data is included below.

# 2.2. Data on efficacy

Data on clinical efficacy and safety data from available clinical studies, considering information about resistance development against pathogens relevant for the approved indications in the EU/EEA were evaluated in order to review the benefit-risk balance for all age groups. Recommendations in current national and European treatment guidelines were also considered. Relevant data are summarised below.

# 2.2.1. Lower respiratory tract infections (LRTI) including bronchitis and pneumonia

The indications related to infections of the lower respiratory tract, covering bronchitis and pneumonia to various degrees, are approved in the EU in azithromycin-containing oral products for children and adults. The indication Community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) is approved in azithromycin-containing products for IV use in adults only.

Lower respiratory tract infections include the following entities: acute bronchitis (AB), community acquired pneumonia, acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease/chronic bronchitis (AECB), and acute exacerbation of bronchiectasis (AEB). The typical common causative pathogens are *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Haemophilus influenza*. Rare pathogens are Enterobacterales (*Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae*, and *Proteus mirabilis*) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Atypical pathogens include *Legionella pneumophila*, *Mycoplasma pneumoniae*, *Chlamydophila pneumoniae*, and *Chlamydia psittaci*. Empirical treatment plays the dominant role in the management of lower respiratory tract infections.

The spectrum of *in-vitro* activity of azithromycin includes the following pathogens relevant for these indications: *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Haemophilus influenzae*, *Moraxella catarrhalis*, *Legionella pneumophila*, and *Chlamydophila pneumonia*.

# Community-acquired pneumonia (CAP)

CAP is an acute infection of the pulmonary parenchyma acquired outside of the hospital with Streptococcus pneumoniae being the primary bacterial pathogen. The clinical presentation of CAP varies, ranging from mild pneumonia characterised by fever and productive cough to severe pneumonia characterised by respiratory distress and sepsis. Because of the wide spectrum of associated clinical features, CAP is a part of the differential diagnosis of nearly all respiratory illnesses.

# Clinical studies sponsored by MAH(s)

The initial Pfizer clinical trial documentation for the treatment of lower respiratory tract infections with the oral formulations comprised 12 studies in which 755 patients aged 16 and older received azithromycin. In the initial filing, 7 studies (117, 326, 103, 106, 109, 303 and 313 [5 open label comparative studies and 2 double-blind studies]) were used to support the claim of effectiveness of azithromycin in lower respiratory tract infections (Table 1). Randomised, comparative studies 103 and 106 were terminated after enrolling only few patients and are not further relevant for the purpose of this procedure.

Table 1: Numbers of pneumonia patients ≥16 years of age treated with azithromycin or comparator in Pfizer studies to support the pneumonia indication

103(US)	1	Erythromycin (1)
106 (Non US)	6	Erythromycin (6)
109 (US)	9	Cefaclor (8)
117 (US)	14	Cefaclor (23)
303 (Non US)	21	Erythromycin (21)
313 (Non US)	4	Augmentin (4)
326 (Non US)	8	Amoxicillin (8)
Total	63	71

The results from one comparative open-label study in LRTIs (protocol 109) and one double-blind study (protocol 117) in pneumonia patients showed that azithromycin (500 mg on the first day of therapy followed by 250 mg/day for 4 days) was bacteriologically and clinically as effective as a standard regimen of cefaclor in the treatment of pneumonia in the few patients included in the studies.

Out of all seven studies submitted, only 22 patients were treated with azithromycin and evaluable for efficacy in pneumonia. For azithromycin IV, five Phase 3 clinical trials were conducted in the treatment of CAP and study 94CE33-0649 was conducted in Legionella patients. One further study was terminated early due to poor enrolment (study 066-138). Of the five CAP studies, two were conducted in the US and are considered pivotal to this indication (studies 066-0618 and 066-0625); the remaining three non-US CAP studies are supportive studies (Studies 066-349, 066-350 and 066-359).

#### Other published studies

Results of numerous clinical trials in which five or three-day azithromycin therapy was compared with amoxicillin, co-amoxiclav, clarithromycin, erythromycin, nemonoxacin, cethromycin azithromycin and levofloxacin which were applied for seven to fourteen days, have been presented. The reviews of Pakhale et al. in 2014, Laopaiboon et al. (2015) and Al-Salloum et al. (2021) analysing multiple trials concluded that azithromycin is an effective, safe and well-tolerated drug in the treatment of community-acquired pneumonia in <u>adults</u>.

The results from RCTs published by Ferwerda et al. (2001) and Kogan et al. (2003), support the results from initial clinical studies for the treatment of CAP in <u>children</u>. In another systematic review of six publications (cohort studies and randomised controlled trials) by Al Saeedy et al., (2021) comparing efficacy of beta lactams and macrolides in the treatment of paediatric pneumonia, use of macrolides as monotherapy or add-on therapy to beta-lactams was found to be more effective where within the macrolide class, azithromycin was more clinically significant compared to erythromycin.

# **Guideline recommendations**

For treatment of CAP in adults, the European Guidelines for the management of adult lower respiratory tract infections (Woodhead et al., 2005) states that macrolides may be used for the treatment of CAP in combination with penicillin G, aminopenicillin, co-amoxiclav or 3<sup>rd</sup> cephalosporin in a hospital setting only. This is in line with the ERS/ESICM/ESCMID/ALAT guidelines for the management of severe community-acquired pneumonia (sCAP) that recommend the addition of macrolides, not fluoroquinolones, to beta-lactams as empirical antibiotic therapy in hospitalised patients with sCAP. According to the NICE 2019 guidelines for the treatment of community-acquired pneumonia (CAP), for adults with non-severe CAP who cannot take amoxicillin, doxycycline, or clarithromycin due to contraindications or intolerance, azithromycin is suggested as an alternative.

For treatment of CAP in children, an update in management of CAP in children was published by Carpenter & Hofto (2023). Outside of the neonatal period, parenteral penicillin or ampicillin is recommended as first-line therapy for otherwise healthy children hospitalised with uncomplicated

pneumonia. In cases of serious penicillin allergies, levofloxacin, linezolid, azithromycin, or clindamycin are options. This is also in line with other national guidelines (Germany, Poland, and Czech Republic).

# Atypical pneumonia

Atypical pathogens are intracellular bacteria causing CAP in a significant minority of patients. *Legionella* spp., *Chlamydia pneumoniae* and *psittaci*, and *Mycoplasma pneumonia* are commonly included in this category. *Mycoplasma pneumoniae* is present in 5–8% of CAP, being the second most frequent pathogen after *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Legionella pneumophila* is found in 3–5% of inpatients and *Chlamydia* spp. is present in less than 1% of patients (Garin et al 2022).

# Clinical studies

Sánchez et al. (1998) studied 19 patients with pneumonia caused by *Legionella*, Sáez-Llorens et al. (1998), conducted a study to determine the importance of *Mycoplasma pneumonia* and *Chlamydia pneumoniae* in community-acquired pneumonia (CAP), and Kogan et al. (2003) compared the clinical efficacy of azithromycin vs. erythromycin and amoxicillin in the treatment of presumed bacterial community-acquired pneumonia in ambulatory children and all authors found azithromycin to be as efficacious in the treatment of atypical pneumonia, as the other antibiotics. The authors concluded that azithromycin is an effective therapeutic option for the treatment of community-acquired classic and atypical pneumonia in children. In addition, study 94CE33-0649 (pneumonia due to *Legionella pneumophila*) is also considered relevant to support the CAP indication for the IV formulation of azithromycin.

#### Guideline recommendations

The annotated British Thoracic Society (BTS) Guideline for the management of CAP in adults (2015) recommends an oral fluoroquinolone for low and moderate severity community acquired *Legionella* pneumonia. In the unusual case when this is not possible due to patient intolerance, a macrolide is an alternative. Antibiotics are not required for the non-pneumonic self-limiting form of legionellosis (pontiac fever). For the management of high severity or life-threatening legionella pneumonia, a fluoroquinolone is recommended. For the first few days this can be combined with a macrolide (azithromycin is an option in countries where it is used for pneumonia) or rifampicin as an alternative. Clinicians should be alert to the potential small risk of cardiac electrophysiological abnormalities with quinolone-macrolide combinations.

According to the German guideline "Management of Adult Community-acquired Pneumonia and Prevention – Update 2021", azithromycin may be given as alternative therapy in case of atypical pneumonia caused by *Legionella* spp., *Mycoplasma pneumonia* or *Chlamydophila pneumonia*.

# Acute bronchitis (AB)

AB is a common clinical condition characterised by an acute onset but persistent cough, with or without sputum production. It is typically self-limited, resolving within one to three weeks. Symptoms result from inflammation of the lower respiratory tract and are most frequently due to viral infection.

# Clinical studies

The Pfizer clinical trial documentation for the treatment of acute bronchitis initially comprised 5 studies in which seven-hundred-seventy patients were enrolled and treated with azithromycin (study 421), or comparators. The table shows the numbers of patients, all  $\geq$ 16 years of age, who were enrolled in each of the studies supporting the bronchitis claim.

Table 2: Pfizer studies supporting the bronchitis claim

Protocol	Azithromycin N	Comparator N								
Bronchitis										
103(US)	22	Erythromycin (26)								
109 (US)	146	Cefaclor (69)								
303 (Non US)	72	Erythromycin (66)								
313 (Non US)	48	Augmentin (54)								
326 (Non US)	133	Amoxicillin (134)								
Total	421	349								

These five studies also included patients with CAP as described above, and only 133 patients were treated with azithromycin and considered evaluable for efficacy in acute bronchitis.

These 5 comparative studies found azithromycin (500 mg on the first day of therapy followed by 250 mg/day for 4 days, or 500 mg/day for 3 days) to be bacteriologically more effective than a standard regimen of amoxicillin and is as effective as standard regimens of erythromycin, cefaclor, or amoxicillin/clavulanic acid in the treatment of bronchitis caused by *Haemophilus influenzae*, *Haemophilus parainfluenzae*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Moraxella catarrhalis*, *Escherichia coli*, *Klebsiella* spp. and *Enterobacter* spp. Also, azithromycin is clinically more effective than cefaclor and is as effective as erythromycin, amoxicillin, or amoxicillin/clavulanic acid in treating patients with bronchitis.

Reviews in which azithromycin therapy was compared to other antibiotics in acute bronchitis have been presented, for example the review by Killeen and Wolfson (2020) assessed the effect of antibiotics in patients with acute bronchitis in a Cochrane review and concluded that antibiotics including azithromycin provide only small benefits in cough and activity level in patients with acute bronchitis.

Limited evidence of clinical benefit to support the use of antibiotics in acute bronchitis was also reported in a meta-analysis including 17 randomised controlled trials covering 5099 participants (Smith SM. et al., 2014, update 2017). The authors also concluded that antibiotics may have a modest beneficial effect in some patients such as frail, elderly people with multimorbidity who may not have been included in trials to date.

# **Guideline recommendations**

The NICE guideline for acute cough (2019) and Albert et al. (2010) suggest that antibiotics should not routinely be offered to people (adults or children) with an acute cough associated with acute bronchitis. This is in line with other EU/EEA national recommendations (e.g. France).

# Acute exacerbation of chronic bronchitis (AECB)

AECB is a sustained worsening of a chronic bronchitis patient's symptoms from their usual stable state, which is beyond normal day-to-day variations, and is acute in onset. Commonly reported symptoms are worsening breathlessness, cough, increased sputum production and change in sputum colour.

#### Clinical studies

The initial Pfizer clinical trial documentation for the treatment of AECB comprised two studies (109 mentioned above, and 315), which found that cure and bacterial eradication occurred in the majority of patients.

Results of numerous clinical trials in which azithromycin therapy was compared to other antibiotics have been presented. Schouenborg et al. (2000) found similar success rates of a 3-days azithromycin 500 mg OD regimen compared to 10 days pivampicillin (700 mg BID), and Siempos et al. 2007 found

no statistically robust differences in a meta-analysis covering 7405 patients regarding treatment success in intention-to-treat and clinically evaluable patients between (a) macrolides and quinolones, (b) azithromycin/clavulanic acid (A/C) and quinolones, or (c) A/C and macrolides.

The authors concluded that macrolides, quinolones and pivampicillin may be considered equivalent for the treatment of patients with an acute bacterial exacerbation of chronic bronchitis in terms of shortterm effectiveness.

# **Guideline recommendations**

According to The European Guidelines for the management of adult lower respiratory tract infections (Woodhead et al., 2005, updated 2011), tetracycline and amoxicillin are first-choice antibiotics for treatment of mild COPD without comorbidities. Macrolides are not recommended as first line treatment for acute exacerbations of COPD (AECB) because of reduced activity against *Haemophilus influenzae*, and very high rates of pneumococcal resistance to macrolides in many European countries but could be used when local bacterial resistance rates impair effectiveness of first choice agents and in in case of intolerance to these agents. Moreover, for treatment of moderate to severe COPD, macrolide antibiotics are generally not recommended. This recommendation is in line with the NICE guidelines on acute exacerbation of chronic pulmonary disease (2018) and other national guidelines (France).

# Acute exacerbation of bronchiectasis (AEB)

Bronchiectasis is a heterogeneous chronic respiratory disease that is characterised by frequent respiratory infections. In general, it is common belief that most of the exacerbations of bronchiectasis in adults are infectious events.

#### Clinical studies

Altenburg et al (2013) and Goyal et al (2018) conducted randomised double-blind studies where azithromycin has demonstrated its efficacy in the treatment of infectious exacerbations among patients with bronchiectasis. They found that among adults with non-CF bronchiectasis, the daily use of azithromycin for 12 months resulted in a lower rate of infectious exacerbations compared with placebo, and that azithromycin is non-inferior to amoxicillin clavulanate for resolving exacerbations in children with non-severe bronchiectasis in children 1-9 years of age, respectively. However, Altenburg et al. 2013 found a macrolide resistance rate of 88% in azithromycin-treated individuals, compared with 26% in the placebo group.

# Guideline recommendations

The European Guidelines for the management of adult lower respiratory tract infections (Woodhead et al., 2005, updated 2011) does not mention macrolide antibiotics for the treatment of AEB. However, the European Respiratory Society guidelines for the management of adult bronchiectasis (Polverino et al. 2017) suggests long-term treatment with macrolides (azithromycin, erythromycin) for adults with bronchiectasis and chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection in whom an inhaled antibiotic is contraindicated, not tolerated or not feasible. Moreover, long-term treatment with macrolides (azithromycin, erythromycin) is indicated in addition to or in place of an inhaled antibiotic, for adults with bronchiectasis and chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection who have a high exacerbation frequency despite taking an inhaled antibiotic. Further, long-term treatment with macrolides is suggested for adults with bronchiectasis not infected with *P. aeruginosa*. However, these long-term treatment regimens are not currently authorised posologies for azithromycin containing products and have been shown to lead to macrolide resistance rate of 88% following 12 months of azithromycin (Altenburg et al. 2013, Polverino et al. 2017).

# Resistance development in LRTIs

Resistance depends on the strain, e.g. for *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, convincing European surveillance data were presented, which indicated a sustaining problem of acquired resistance in this species in the range of 20% (but a longitudinal decline over time in susceptibility to azithromycin has not occurred (WHO Europe 2022, ECDC, 2020 and 2022, ATLAS 2017 and SENTRY 2022). National data varied in the level of acquired resistance ranging from 8-10 % in Germany to 26.5 % in Poland. On a national level, e.g. in HR, pneumococcal macrolide resistance is also decreasing but remains on a high level (32% in 2018 to 24% in 2022) (Andrašević et al., 2022). According to Zhanel et al. (2014), per 100 subjects treated empirically with azithromycin, an additional 3.1 clinical failures would be predicted, as a consequence of azithromycin resistance (low and high level resistance).

Additionally, penicillin-susceptible strains of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (PSSP) are more likely to be susceptible to azithromycin than penicillin-resistant strains of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (PRSP). The EU/EEA population-weighted mean percentage for combined penicillin non-wild-type and resistance to macrolides was 9.7% in 2022, with a significantly increasing trend during the period 2018–2022 (ECDC, 2022). There is a notable correlation between the penicillin G Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) and macrolide resistance. Strains with higher penicillin G MICs are more likely to exhibit resistance to macrolides, including azithromycin. Numerous studies highlighted a high prevalence of co-resistance between penicillin and azithromycin, underscoring the complexity of treating infections caused by *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. With regard to the data from the EARS-Net report 2022, for both, PSSP and PRSP, acquired resistance may be a problem (resistance level above 10% threshold).

For *S. aureus*, the evidence suggests susceptibility rates over time against *S. aureus* (around 70% and higher) have remained stable since 2018, (SENTRY and ATLAS databases).

National data from Poland showed high and common susceptibility of *Haemophilus influenzae* for azithromycin and clarithromycin between 2005 and 2019 and in 2022. The SENTRY and ATLAS Surveillance Programmes found that azithromycin susceptibility in *Haemophilus influenzae* isolates collected from medical centres in Europe during 2019-2022 and 2018-2022 respectively, was high and in the range of 99%. Cadenas-Jiménez et al. (2024) and Carrera-Salinas et al. (2022) found that high susceptibility of persistent lineages of *Haemophilus influenzae*, some of them isolated before treatment.

National data from Portugal indicate that acquired resistance may be a problem for *Legionella pneumophila* (azithromycin-resistance in 12 of 100 clinical isolates collected between 2006 and 2022), but the number of isolates was very limited. Because of the fastidious nature of the organism, no gold standard for antimicrobial susceptibility testing of *Legionella pneumophila* exists. According to the EUCAST guidance on *Legionella*, acquired antimicrobial resistance in *Legionella pneumophila* is rare. While there may be laboratory evidence of reduced susceptibility of *Legionella pneumophila* to azithromycin, interpretation of the results and comparison with other resistance data might be limited.

Common susceptibility (1-10% resistance) was reported for *Mycoplasma pneumoniae* in SE in 2022. Multiple review articles indicate low level macrolide resistance in *Mycoplasma pneumoniae* in the European region. However, local resistance might exceed the 10% threshold, e.g. in Italy, but recent data is often missing. National data from Slovenia, Germany and Spain underpin the outcome of the review articles.

Swedish data from 2022 indicate a common susceptibility of *Chlamydia trachomatis* and *Chlamydophila pneumoniae* with low level AZM-resistance (<1%), indicating low level "category 1" resistance.

# 2.2.2. Upper respiratory tract infections (URTIs) including sinusitis, pharyngitis, and tonsillitis

#### **Sinusitis**

Acute rhinosinusitis (ARS) is defined as symptomatic inflammation of the nasal cavity and paranasal sinuses lasting less than four weeks. The most common aetiology of ARS is viral infection. Only about 2% of cases are complicated by bacterial infection. The most common bacterial pathogens identified in ARS are *Streptococcus pneumonia*, *Haemophilus influenzae*, and *Moraxella catarrhalis*. Acute bacterial rhinosinusitis (ABRS) is commonly a self-limited disease.

#### Clinical studies

The Pfizer clinical trial documentation for the treatment of sinusitis initially comprised 3 studies conducted in 1987/1988 in which 228 patients aged 16 or older received azithromycin.

Study 113 and 314 (1988) were multicentre, open-label, randomised trials comparing azithromycin (500 mg on day 1 followed by 250 mg/day for 4 days) and amoxicillin (500 mg TID for 10 days) found that clinical response and bacterial eradication was comparable in in both treatment groups.

Study 302 (1987), an open, multicentre study to assess the safety and efficacy of azithromycin compared to erythromycin in the treatment of upper respiratory tract infections. Clinical cure was reported for 83% of azithromycin patients and 79% of erythromycin patients. Bacterial eradication was reported for 87% of azithromycin patients and 86% of erythromycin patients.

Published results from RCTs support the results from studies 113, 314, and 302, e.g. Casiano et al. (1991) and Alagić-Smailbegović et al (2006).

# **Guideline recommendations**

According to the current NICE guideline for the treatment of the acute sinusitis, first-choice oral antibiotic is phenoxymethylpenicillin in adults and in children. Alternative first choices for penicillin allergy or intolerance (for people who are not pregnant) are doxycycline and clarithromycin.

National Guidelines from Czechia and Germany reflect current NICE guidance from UK (NICE) and US (American Academy of Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery Foundation) that first-choice oral antibiotic is phenoxymethylpenicillin or amoxicillin with or without clavulanate in adults and in children Macrolide antibiotics and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole are not recommended for initial therapy of ABRS (Rosenfeld et al 2015).

#### Resistance development

Resistance data for *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Haemophilus influenzae* have been described in the section on LRTI above. According to data from the SENTRY database, *Moraxella catarrhalis* is commonly susceptible to azithromycin, indicating low level "category 1" resistance.

# **Pharyngitis**

Acute pharyngitis (AP) is a common infectious disease in adults and children with mostly viral aetiology. The main bacterial pathogens are group A  $\beta$ -haemolytic streptococci (GABHS), i.e. Streptococcus pyogenes.

# Clinical studies

The Pfizer clinical trial documentation for the treatment of pharyngitis initially comprised 5 studies in which 406 patients (including paediatric subjects) received azithromycin. Three studies conducted in 1988/1989 were designed to recruit <u>adult</u> patients with pharyngitis: one double blind, comparative

study was conducted in the U.S. (116) versus penicillin V, two U.S. studies were of open label, randomised, comparative design, versus erythromycin (102) and penicillin V (108), which found all comparable efficacy in terms of clinical improvements or bacterial eradication.

For the treatment of pharyngitis in the <u>paediatric population</u>, a total of 842 children were enrolled in 3 multicentre double-blind comparative trials that comprise the primary efficacy database (163, 163Z, 175) and randomised to therapy with azithromycin (422 patients) or penicillin V (420 patients). Moreover, results of 2 additional U.S. studies (126 and 126Z) and 5 non-U.S. studies (306, 321, 335, 397, and 398) of azithromycin in the treatment of pharyngitis were presented, which found either better (163, 175, 163Z) or similar efficacy and safety compared with penicillin V (321, 306, 126, 126Z, 355) in 3-day and 5-day regimens.

# Literature data

Results of numerous clinical trials in which five or three-day azithromycin therapy was compared with penicillin V, erythromycin, clarithromycin, roxithromycin or cefaclor which were applied for a ten-day period, have been presented by Hedin et al. (2023), Hooton (1991), O'Doherty et al. (1996) and Koga et al. (2011).

All authors concluded that azithromycin appears to be a safe and effective alternative treatment for streptococcal pharyngitis/tonsillitis in children and adults.

# **Guideline recommendations**

Pellegrino et al. 2023 performed a comparison of 19 current recommendations from national and international guidelines for the treatment of acute pharyngitis in children and adults. Three groups of the guidelines can be distinguished: one group supports the antibiotic treatment of group A  $\beta$ -haemolytic Streptococcus (GABHS) to prevent acute rheumatic fever (ARF), the second considers acute pharyngitis a self-resolving disease, recommending antibiotics only in selected cases and the third group recognises a different strategy according to the ARF risk in each patient. An antibiotic course of 10 days is recommended if the prevention of ARF is the primary goal; conversely, some guidelines suggest a course of 5–7 days, assuming the symptomatic cure is the goal of treatment. Penicillin V and amoxicillin are the first-line options. In the case of penicillin allergy, first-generation cephalosporins are a suitable choice. In the case of beta-lactam allergy, clindamycin or macrolides (including azithromycin) could be considered according to local resistance rates.

According to treatment guidelines from CDC, IDSA, NICE, and France, azithromycin is not the substance of first choice for the treatment of acute pharyngitis and tonsillitis, however, it may be an alternative in case of beta-lactam allergy.

# **Tonsillitis**

Acute tonsillitis (AT) is mainly caused by viruses. The most important pathogens that cause bacterial tonsillitis are GABHS, i.e. *Streptococcus pyogenes*. Generally, a clear differentiation between GABHS-induced pharyngitis and tonsillitis is not possible and results from RCTs and guideline recommendations apply to both entities.

#### Clinical studies

Li et al. (2019) conducted an RCT to evaluate the clinical efficacy of azithromycin, cefaclor, and amoxicillin in treatment of paediatric tonsillitis (256 children enrolled) in a 3-,5- and 10-day treatment regimen respectively, and found comparable outcomes in terms of clinical success and bacterial eradication.

Hamill et al., (1993) found that once-daily azithromycin for three days is clinically equivalent to ten days of penicillin V qid in the treatment of children with acute pharyngitis or tonsillitis caused by GABHS.

#### Guideline recommendation

The ESCMID, NICE and Czech guidelines state that if antibiotics are indicated for the treatment of streptococcal tonsillopharyngitis in children, phenoxymethylpenicillin is the first-choice treatment; amoxicillin could be an alternative. In case of penicillin allergy or intolerance, clarithromycin or spiramycin may be used.

Similar to the indications sinusitis and pharyngitis, macrolides are only alternatives in case of allergy or intolerance to penicillin.

# Resistance development (pharyngitis and tonsillitis)

For *S. pyogenes*, a recent trend for increasing resistance was observed in the ATLAS and SENTRY databases (16.25% in 2021, 160 isolates; and 15.9% in 2022, 107 isolates), whilst the previous resistance rates were below 10% threshold, respectively. Since the sample-size of the databases was quite limited, the recent increase in azithromycin-resistance in *S. pyogen*es might be an artefact. National data from PL (8.9% in 2022, similar to the resistance levels in 2019 and 2020; an exception was the year 2021, where 25.6% of isolates showed resistance to erythromycin.), SE (1–10% in 2022), and FR (10% in 2021, 5% resistance in group A streptococci in 2022) do not exceed the 10% threshold, indicating common susceptibility.

# 2.2.3. Acute otitis media

The indication acute otitis media (AOM) is approved for orally administered azithromycin-containing medicinal products for paediatric population and adults.

# AOM in the paediatric population

Acute otitis media is one of the most common inflammatory disorders in children and includes ear pain, ear rubbing, hearing loss and ear drainage. Fever occurs in about 2/3 of the patients. It is an acute, suppurative infectious process characterised by the presence of infected middle ear fluid and inflammation of the mucosa lining the middle ear space. The infection is most commonly triggered by a dysfunction of the Eustachian tube, which leads to a backflow and suppuration of retained secretions. AOM can also be associated with purulent otorrhoea if the tympanic membrane is ruptured. Due to the easier ascent of pathogens through the shorter Eustachian tube, children are particularly affected.

The most common bacterial pathogens are *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (caused more than 50% of paediatric AOM cases worldwide) and *Haemophilus influenzae* (responsible for approximately 20% of AOM episodes in children aged <6 years), followed by *Moraxella catarrhalis* (prevalence rate of approximately 10-1%). *Streptococcus pyogenes*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, Viridians streptococci, and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* are found in smaller numbers. Group A Streptococcus and *Staphylococcus aureus* are less common causes of AOM in the general paediatric population. In addition, Group A Streptococcus may be an important pathogen in patients with severe AOM requiring hospitalisation.

A viral upper respiratory infection is a common predisposing factor for AOM in children, and viruses may coinfect the middle ear along with bacteria.

The spectrum of activity of azithromycin includes the following pathogens relevant for the indication AOM: *Moraxella catarrhalis, Streptococcus pyogenes* are commonly susceptible species. *Streptococcus pneumoniae, Staphylococcus aureus* are species for which acquired resistance may present a problem

during use. According to EUCAST, the clinical evidence for the efficacy of azithromycin in *Haemophilus influenzae* respiratory infections is conflicting due to high spontaneous cure rates.

Clinical trials with 5-day dosing regimen:

For the treatment of otitis media, a total of 1,574 children were enrolled in 4 multicentre clinical trials conducted by Pfizer Central Research in the US. These studies comprise the primary efficacy database (studies 128, 134, 178 and 176) and randomised to intended therapy with the 5-day dosing regimen of azithromycin (890 patients) or Augmentin (684 patients). One study (134) was a double-blind comparative trial versus Augmentin, 2 (studies 128 and 178) were open-label comparative trials versus Augmentin, and 1 (study 176) was an open-label non-comparative trial. These studies showed that a 5-day OD azithromycin regimen (10 mg/kg once on day 1 followed by 5 mg/kg once daily) in paediatric AOM was comparably efficacious to amoxicillin 40mg/kg/day + clavulanate TID in a 10-days regimen.

In addition to the 4 US studies listed above, the results of two non-US studies of azithromycin in the treatment of AOM have been presented by Pfizer (studies 322 and 334 studied azithromycin 5-days vs Augmentin 10-days dosing regimen in children 5-15 years and 2-5 years, respectively), which both found higher cure rates for azithromycin than Augmentin in AOM.

Clinical trials with accelerated 1- and 3-day dosing regimen

Following initial regulatory approvals for the 5-day dosing regimen, additional paediatric studies were conducted to support the use of azithromycin using the dosing regimen of 30 mg/kg given as a single dose or given over 3 days (10 mg/kg/day) for otitis media. In the 4 pivotal otitis media trials (R-0581, A0661015, AZM-NY-95-001, A0661014), a total of 1,169 children aged 6 months to 12 years were randomised and 741 received treatment with azithromycin at a dose of 30 mg/kg, either as a single dose (n = 487), or as a regimen of 10 mg/kg/day for 3 days (n = 254), and 424 subjects received comparators (amoxicillin, amoxicillin/clavulanate or ceftriaxone). These studies found that that:

- a single dose of azithromycin is as safe and effective as amoxicillin/clavulanate in the treatment of otitis media in paediatric patients (R-0581).
- a single dose of 30 mg/kg was effective in promoting resolution of the signs and symptoms of acute otitis media (Study A0661015).
- satisfactory and comparable clinical responses were found for azithromycin 1-day patients,
   azithromycin 3-day patients and ceftriaxone patients (Study AZM-NY-95-001).
- similar clinical success (cure) was reported for azithromycin patients (3-day regimen) compared to 10 days of amoxicillin/clavulanate (Study A0661014).

In addition, 2 non-US trials 337, and 394 studied this dosing regimen found that azithromycin 3 days was either superior (study 337) or comparable (study 394) to 10 days amoxicillin in terms of clinical responses.

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of the efficacy and safety of azithromycin and amoxicillin/clavulanate in the treatment of otitis media in children from Dawit et al. (2021) support the results from the above-mentioned clinical studies. The meta-analysis results showed no statistically significant difference in efficacy in favour of amoxicillin/clavulanate after completion of treatment. The authors concluded that azithromycin is comparable to amoxicillin/clavulanate to treat otitis media in children, and it is safer and more tolerable.

# Guideline recommendations

Acute otitis media is usually a self-limiting disease and resolves spontaneously within two to seven days in 78% of cases. In paediatric patients without risk factors with uncomplicated acute otitis media, initial observation and symptomatic treatment with systemic analgesics should be carried out first; immediate antibiotic therapy should be avoided due to the rapidly growing resistance caused by antibiotic misuse, which is dependent on age, the severity of the patient's case, and ability to access healthcare facilities. The immediate administration of antibiotics has no effect on pain within the first 24 hours. The benefit of antibiotics has only been proven to a small extent with regard to pain from the 2<sup>nd</sup> day of treatment. Even in the case of fever and/or vomiting, it is justifiable to wait for the first 24-48 hours while observing the child and only prescribe antibiotics if the symptoms worsen or fail to improve. However, if earache persists after 48 hours and in patients with an increased risk (AOM with otorrhoea, aged less than 24 months with bilateral AOM, concomitant/underlying diseases, recurrent infections, tympanostomy tubes, immunosuppression, poor general condition, high fever, persistent vomiting and/or diarrhoea), immediate antibiotic therapy should be initiated. The following antibiotic therapy is overall recommended in guidelines as shown in a systematic review of 17 European national clinical practice guidelines for acute otitis media (AOM) in children (Suzuki et al 2020): Amoxicillin is considered the first-line treatment, and amoxicillin with clavulanic acid is encouraged to broaden antimicrobial coverage for patients with recurrent AOM and recent history of amoxicillin use in the previous month. Cephalosporin is used for patients with penicillin allergies, and macrolides are used if the patient is allergic to penicillin and cephalosporin. If symptoms persist after two to three days of proper antibiotic administration, diagnosis reassessment is considered, and a confirmed diagnosis without symptom improvement suggests treatment failure, which is first aided by an empiric broadening of antibiotic coverage; further treatment failure requires antibiotic susceptibility testing as determined by middle ear fluid cultures obtained by tympanocentesis.

# **AOM** in adults

The incidence of acute otitis media (AOM) is much higher in children than in adults and therefore, most of the medical literature focuses on the diagnosis, treatment and complications of acute otitis media in children. Many of the data on acute otitis media in adults have been obtained and are extrapolated from studies in paediatric patients. There is limited data on the incidence of AOM in adults. A Dutch study (Rijk et al. 2021) examined the incidence in primary care and the current treatment of AOM in adolescents and adults aged 15 years and older between 2015 and 2018 (equivalent to a total of 1,261,575 person-years): 5,358 patients had one or more episodes of AOM (total number of AOM episodes: 6667; an average of 1.2 per patient). The overall incidence of AOM was 5.3/1000 person-years and was relatively stable over the study period. The incidence decreased with increasing age (from 7.1 in patients aged 15 to 39 years to 2.7/1000 person-years in patients aged 64 years and older).

Most of the data on the microbiology of acute otitis media were obtained by culturing middle ear fluid obtained by needle aspiration (myringotomy) in children. However, limited data show that the microbiology of acute otitis media in adults is similar to that in children: As in children, the most common pathogens are *Streptococcus pneumoniae Haemophilus influenzae* and *Moraxella catarrhalis* is the third most common otopathogen. While AOM caused by *S. aureus* (including methicillin-resistant strains) is rare in children, it is possibly more common as a cause of AOM in adults; however, the actual incidence is unknown.

In adults, dysfunction of the Eustachian tube, entities causing compression of the Eustachian tube or outlet obstruction or an abnormality in the host immunological response may predispose the individual to developing AOM. Further, the onset of AOM is often preceded by an upper respiratory tract infection or an exacerbation of seasonal allergic rhinitis. AOM in adults usually occurs on one side and is

characterised by earache and reduced or muffled hearing. Other symptoms such as high fever, severe pain behind the ear or facial paralysis indicate a rare complication.

Results of clinical studies in which adults with AOM were also included and which examined the efficacy and safety of azithromycin in the relevant indication and population do not allow for any valid conclusions to be drawn about how effective and safe azithromycin is specifically for the treatment of AOM in adults because of a lack of subgroup analyses related to the adult population. The studies are therefore to be considered primarily supportive.

In the scientific literature, only very limited data can be found regarding the effective and safe treatment of AOM in adults (Müller 1993, Müller 1996, O'Doherty 1996). Overall, the data from these few publications support the results from clinical trials and the scientific literature in children with AOM and suggest that azithromycin may be a treatment option for adults with AOM.

No EU/EEA treatment guidelines addressing the treatment of AOM in adults were identified.

#### **Recurrent AOM**

Recurrent AOM was not specified as part of the authorised indications. Recurrent AOM is usually defined in the scientific literature as  $\geq 3$  distinct and well-documented episodes of AOM within six months or  $\geq 4$  episodes within 12 months (Pichichero 2016). Winter season, male gender, prolonged use of pacifiers and passive exposure to smoking have been associated with an increased likelihood of recurrence. Predisposing factors also include underlying conditions such as cleft palate, syndromes with craniofacial anomalies including Down syndrome, and persistent Eustachian tube dysfunction. In addition, infants and toddlers whose first episode of AOM occurred before the age of six months are at higher risk for recurrent AOM. It is reported that half of children younger than 2 years treated for AOM will experience a recurrence within 6 months. Symptoms that last more than 10 days may also predict recurrence (Lieberthal, Carroll et al. 2013).

Interventional treatment options include watchful waiting with episodic antimicrobial therapy (particularly suitable for children  $\geq 2$  years of age because frequency of recurrent episodes declines with immunologic and physiologic maturation) or intensified treatment with prolonged antibiotic therapy or surgery with insertion of a ventilation tube, alone or in combination with adenoidectomy (Hoberman, Preciado et al. 2021).

Only limited data are available overall for recurrent AOM. A monocentre, open, comparative, perspective, randomised study was conducted (AZM-1-92-004 (completed 1996)) comparing azithromycin once weekly administration compared to amoxicillin daily over a course of 6 months. The result of the efficacy parameter (at least one relapse episode of otitis media) was slightly worse in the azithromycin treatment group after 24 weeks of treatment but comparable to amoxicillin treatment group after 48 weeks. No statistically significant differences were found at any time point. An openlabel, comparative, randomised trial of azithromycin versus amoxicillin for prophylaxis in paediatric patients with recurrent otitis media was also conducted (AZM-AR- 96-001). However, due to the high dropout rate (58.14 %), no efficacy analyses could be performed.

In the scientific literature, only a few publications can be found that address the treatment of recurrent AOM with azithromycin. Mohs et al. (1993) report data from 13 cases of recurrent AOM (8 in the azithromycin group, 5 in the amoxicillin group). Arrieta et al. (2003) report data from a double-blind, double-dummy multicentre clinical trial in the US and Latin America comparing a high-dose azithromycin regimen with high-dose amoxicillin-clavulanate for the treatment of 300 children between 6 months and 6 years of age with recurrent or persistent AOM. The children were randomised to receive either high-dose azithromycin (20 mg/kg body weight once daily for 3 days) or high-dose amoxicillin-clavulanate (90 mg/kg divided twice daily for 10 days). Two-thirds of the patients were <2 years old. On days 12 to 16, the clinical success rates for azithromycin and amoxicillin-clavulanate

were comparable for all patients (86% vs. 84%) and for children <2 years (85% vs. 79%). On days 28 to 32, clinical success rates were higher for azithromycin than for amoxicillin-clavulanate in all patients (72% vs. 61%, P = 0.047) and in children under 2 years of age (68% vs. 51%, P = 0.017).

Azithromycin is not listed as a treatment option for patients with recurrent AOM in the current scientific literature.

#### Resistance development

Resistance data for *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Haemophilus influenzae* have been described in the section on LRTI above.

According to data from the SENTRY database, *Moraxella catarrhalis* is commonly susceptible to azithromycin, indicating low-level "category 1" resistance.

# 2.2.4. Acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections (ABSSSI) including folliculitis, cellulitis, erysipelas, impetigo and secondary purulent dermatitis

Uncomplicated skin and skin structure infections typically include cellulitis, folliculitis, impetigo, erysipelas and simple abscesses. These types of skin infections are most commonly caused by *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Streptococcus pyogenes*. Less common causes include other *Streptococcus* species or Gram-negative bacteria.

*In-vitro* data indicate efficacy against *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Streptococcus pyogenes* and *Streptococcus epidermidis*, however, the *in-vitro* activity is describes as considerably lower compared to erythromycin. Furthermore, *in-vitro* activity against some Gram-negative pathogens is described.

#### Clinical studies

The safety and effectiveness of azithromycin for treating skin and skin structure infections were initially evaluated in 5 comparative trials: one double-blind study (118) of azithromycin versus cephalexin and 4 randomised, comparative studies of azithromycin versus cephalexin (110), erythromycin stearate (304/304A), cloxacillin (316) or erythromycin ethylsuccinate (104). These studies showed comparable efficacy with the other antibiotics tested, while in study 316 azithromycin showed a significantly higher bacterial eradication rate in the azithromycin group compared to cloxacillin.

Jennings et al. (2003) investigated efficacy of azithromycin for the treatment of uncomplicated skin and skin structure infections in a multicentre, investigator blind study that compared the efficacy and safety of azithromycin with cefadroxil. A total of 296 patients were randomised to receive either azithromycin (500 mg  $\times 1$  day followed by 250 mg/day  $\times 4$  days) or cefadroxil (500 mg BID  $\times 10$  days). Clinical success rates assessed between days 28 and 32 were 100% for azithromycin and 90% for cefadroxil (p = 0.007). The eradication rates for *S. aureus* were 100% and 89%, respectively, and for *S. pyogenes* were 100% and 83%, respectively.

# **Guideline recommendations**

According to WSES/GAIS/WSIS/SIS/AAST Recommendations for Management of SSTIs (2022), in CA-MRSA, if coverage for both streptococci and MRSA is desired, azithromycin is an alternative recommended in the case of beta-lactam allergy. Treatment of cat-scratch diseases includes azithromycin (500 mg on day 1, 250 mg/day for the next 4 days).

IDSA Clinical Practice Guidelines for SSTIs (2014) recommends azithromycin for cat scratch disease.

#### Resistance development

Regarding resistance development of *Staphylococcus aureus* the evidence suggests susceptibility rates over time against *S. aureus* have remained stable since 2018, with susceptibility rates around or higher than 70% reported in in the SENTRY (AZM resistance above 25% since 2019: 26.6% in 2021, 25.9% in 2022) and ATLAS databases (ERY data as surrogate; resistance level: 27.6% in 2018, 32.24% in 2021). In HR, methicillin-susceptible *S. aureus* (MSSA) strains show moderate rates of resistance to macrolides (17%) (Andrašević et al., 2022). Macrolide resistance remains the resistance most often associated with  $\beta$ -lactam resistance. In FR, among the  $\beta$ -lactam-resistant strains, 58% are macrolide-resistant (62% in children, 56% in adults) (Varon et al., 2021). Thus, Methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) is less likely to be susceptible to azithromycin than methicillin-susceptible strains of *S. aureus* (MSSA).

For Streptococcus pyogenes see indication URTI above.

# 2.2.5. Erythema migrans

Lyme disease (LD) is a systemic, tick-borne infection, caused by *Borrelia burgdorferi*. It is the most common tick-borne disease in Europe. The disease is divided into early and late stage. The most common sign of early stage is erythema chronicum migrans. Although erythema migrans is usually self-limited, untreated Lyme disease commonly disseminates, resulting in late stage with cardiological, neurological, joint and/or skin manifestations.

In vitro data indicate that azithromycin presents antibacterial activity against Borrelia burgdorferi.

# Clinical studies

Clinical efficacy of azithromycin has been evaluated in patients with early Lyme disease. In the majority of adult studies azithromycin was administered in a total dose of 3 g (Pleterski-Rigler, 1993). Total dose in children was 60 mg/kg (Strle et al., 1992). With respect to resolution of signs and symptoms of early stage, and the prevention of late stage of Lyme disease, azithromycin was considered to be at least as effective as penicillin V and doxycycline (Weber et al 1993; Ruscio, 1996; Strle et al., 1996; Strle et al., 1993;). Moreover, in some studies, both erythema migrans and systemic symptoms of infection resolved more rapidly in azithromycin-, than in doxycycline-, or penicillin V-treated patients (Pleterski-Rigler, 1994; Gorišek and Rogl, 1996).

A randomised, multicentre, open clinical trial was undertaken to compare the efficacies of azithromycin (500 mg bid on the 1st day, followed by 500 mg once daily for the next 4 days) and doxycycline (100 mg bid for 14 days) in the treatment of patients with Lyme disease associated with erythema migrans. Clinical success was observed in 95.5% patients treated with azithromycin, and 82.5% patients treated with doxycycline (p=0.0731) (Baršić et al 2000).

A network meta-analysis evaluated efficacy and safety of antibiotic therapy in early cutaneous Lyme borreliosis in adult patients. Overall, 19 studies (2532 patients) were included. The antibiotics investigated were doxycycline, cefuroxime axetil, ceftriaxone, amoxicillin, azithromycin, penicillin V, and minocycline. Pooled effect sizes from NMAs did not detect any significant differences in treatment response by antibiotic agent, dose, or duration. There were also no differences in the effect sizes among antibiotic agents and treatment modalities in treatment-related adverse outcomes, which were generally mild to moderate, and treatment failures were rare (Torbahn et al. 2018).

A unblinded prospective clinical study was performed in patients younger than 15 years with untreated solitary erythema migrans referred to the institution during 2002–2003. Eighty-four patients received azithromycin (20 mg/kg/d (maximum, 1000 mg/d) for the first day followed by 10 mg/kg/d (maximum, 500 mg) in 1 daily dose for 4 additional days) and 84 amoxicillin (50 mg/kg/d (maximum,

1500 mg/d), divided into 3 equal doses, administered every 8 hours for 14 days). Comparison of azithromycin and amoxicillin for the treatment of children with solitary erythema migrans revealed comparable efficacy and adverse effects of treatment (Arnež & Ružić-Sabljić 2015).

A further study reported the results from the randomised, comparative study conducted in 93 patients (younger than 8 years were excluded) with clinically defined erythema migrans. Forty-nine of them were treated with doxycycline (100 mg twice daily for 14 days) and forty-four received azithromycin (500 mg twice daily for the first day, followed by 500 mg once daily for the next four days). Compared to doxycycline, azithromycin possessed equal efficacy for treatment of early Lyme borreliosis. (Christova & Komitova 2003).

Two further studies were identified that applied a 10-day azithromycin dose regimen (Strle et al 1992 (250 mg bd for two days followed by 250 mg od for eight days) and Weber et al 1993 (500 mg daily for 10 days). Azithromycin showed similar efficacy and safety to penicillin (in both studies) and doxycycline (in Strle et al 1992).

# **Guideline recommendations**

According to the NICE guideline for Lyme disease treatment, oral azithromycin is recommended as second alternative in adults and young people (aged 12 and over) with Lyme disease without focal symptoms but with erythema migrans and/or non-focal symptoms (NICE NG95 2018).

The Clinical Practice Guidelines by the Infectious Diseases Society of America, American Academy of Neurology, and American College of Rheumatology for the Prevention, Diagnosis, and Treatment of Lyme disease recommends, for patients with erythema migrans, using oral antibiotic therapy with doxycycline, amoxicillin, or cefuroxime axetil. For patients unable to take both doxycycline and beta-lactam antibiotics, the preferred second-line agent is azithromycin (Lantos et al., 2021). This is in line with the recommendations in the German AWMF S2k Guideline Cutaneous Lyme borreliosis.

In addition, according to the treatment guideline "Cutaneous Lyme borreliosis: Guideline of the German Dermatology Society" azithromycin is recommended in adults and children in the treatment of cutaneous Lyme borreliosis as an alternative treatment with the treatment duration of 5 – 10 days. The recommended dose for adults is 250 mg twice daily and for children 5-10 mg/kg/day.

# Resistance development

Data on antibiotic susceptibility testing in *Borrelia burgdorferi* in general is scarce. Yet, no cases of acquired antibiotic resistance in *Borrelia burgdorferi* were reported. However, antibiotic tolerance/persistence of *Borrelia burgdorferi* in patients has been reported as reason of concern.

# 2.2.6. Dental infections (periodontal abscesses and periodontitis)

Since dental infection includes a vast number of different entities, a further specification of indications was deemed necessary. The following assessment focusses on the two indications periodontal abscesses and periodontitis already approved in some SmPCs.

Periodontal abscesses are a common and painful dental emergency resulting from bacterial accumulation or foreign body impaction in periodontal pockets. They affect both patients with or without active periodontal disease and require prompt as well as long-term management.

Periodontitis is a progressive multifactorial inflammatory disease associated with dysbiotic dental plaque biofilms of the tooth-supporting apparatus. Its primary features include the loss of periodontal tissue and alveolar bone loss, presence of periodontal pocketing and gingival bleeding. If untreated, it may lead to tooth loss, although it is preventable and treatable in the majority of cases.

The bacterial flora of odontogenic infections represents a mixed flora, in which both aerobic, facultative anaerobic as well as strictly anaerobic bacteria can be detected. The most frequently detected aerobic bacteria of odontogenic infections include the *viridans streptococci* and *Staphylococcus aureus*, but also *Neisseria* species, *Klebsiella* species, *Enterococcus faecalis*, *Capnocytophaga gingivalis*, *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans*, *Eikenella corrodens* and *Lactobacillus* species. Among the anaerobic bacteria, *Peptostreptococcus* and *Prevotella* species dominate alongside *Porphyromonas* species. *Bacteroides* and *Fusobacterium* species can be detected alongside *Veillonella* and *Eubacterium* species as well as *Campylobacter* species.

The spectrum of *in-vitro* activity of azithromycin includes the following pathogens relevant for the indications periodontal abscesses and periodontitis: group A streptococci, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Neisseria species* and *Peptostreptococcus*.

#### Clinical studies

Pfizer provided information on one pivotal clinical study. Study AZM-F-93-006 was a multicentre, double-blind study of the efficacy and safety of azithromycin (3 days) versus a spiramycin-metronidazole combination (7 days) in the treatment of stomatological infections of dental origin conducted in 1994-1997. The following efficacy results were reported:

Table 3: Response rates with 90% confidence interval limits, PP analysis

14010	AZM response	Comparator response rate	Rate diff	Lower limit (CI 90 %)	Upper limit (CI 90 %)
Ratio < 0.7	85.0 % (n=112/132)	92.3 % (n=130/141)	- 7.3 %	-13.6 %	-1.0 %
Ratio ≤ 0.3		59.9 % (n=84/141)	0.3 %	-9.3 %	10.0 %

Table 4: Response rates with 90% confidence interval limits, ITT analysis

	AZM response rate	Comparator response rate	Rate diff	Lower limit (CI 90 %)	Upper limit (CI 90 %)
Ratio < 0.7	84.9 % (n=124/146)	92.7 % (n=139/141)	- 7.7 %	-13.7 %	-1.7 %
Ratio ≤ 0.3	59.6 % (n=87/146)	61.3 % (n=92/150)	-1.7 %	-11.1 %	7.6 %

The supportive studies AZM-B-95-001 (open, randomised clinical trial comparing the safety, tolerance and efficacy of azithromycin and amoxicillin/clavulanic acid in the treatment of acute periapical abscesses, 1996) and AZM-E-94-001 (open comparative multicentre study of the efficacy, safety and tolerance of azithromycin versus amoxicillin/clavulanic acid in the treatment of patients with dental and periodontal soft tissue infections, 1995-1997) were provided. Azithromycin was prescribed for 3 days, by oral route at 500 mg daily and was found to be as efficacious as amoxicillin/clavulanic acid in these infections.

Muniz et al. (2013), Teughels et al. (2020) and Keestra (2014) performed systemic reviews to determine the efficacy of azithromycin as treatment of periodontitis (alone and in combination, or in combination with scaling and root planning (SRP)). Most studies used azithromycin as an adjuvant treatment for chronic periodontitis, usually in a single daily dose of 500 mg for 3 days, and both reviews found that:

- the use of azithromycin as adjuvant to conventional treatment for chronic and aggressive periodontitis generally improves clinical and microbiological findings compared to conventional treatment alone and
- the best outcomes were observed for the combination of amoxicillin plus metronidazole, followed by metronidazole alone and azithromycin.

- systemic antibiotics combined with SRP offer additional clinical improvements compared to SRP alone. Although there were no statistically significant differences, there was a trend that for initially moderate and deep pockets, metronidazole or metronidazole combined with amoxicillin, resulted in clinical improvements that were more pronounced over doxycycline or azithromycin.

#### **Guideline recommendations**

In general, antibiotic treatment of odontogenic infections should only be considered in patients with a tendency to spread and or at risk for complications. According to the European Society of Endodontology Position Statement on the use of Antibiotics in Endodontics (2018), azithromycin should be used in case of penicillin allergy for adjunctive systemic treatment in conjunction with endodontic therapy. These recommendations are in line with other international and national guidelines (AWMF odontogenic infection GL and Belgian GL and American Dental Association GL, Sanz M. et al. 2008; AFSSAPS Recommendations 2011).

#### Resistance development

Because of the diversity of the flora of the oral cavity and the polymicrobial nature of dental infections, creating a concise list of pathogens relevant to the indication "dental infections" is difficult. Based on literature, *Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans* (formerly *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans*), *Bacteroides* spp., *Fusobacterium* spp., *Porphyromonas gingivalis*, *Prevotella* spp., *Tannerella forsythia* and *Treponema denticola* were identified as major contributors to periodontal disease in humans.

According to Kuriyama et al. (2007), who determined the antimicrobial susceptibility of 800 isolates from patients with dentoalveolar infection, *Peptostreptococcus micros* and *Porphyromonas* species exhibited high susceptibility to azithromycin, while the majority of *Fusobacterium* strains were resistant to erythromycin and azithromycin. High erythromycin resistance rates in *Fusobacterium nucleatum* was also found in isolates from patients with endodontic infections, as well as high azithromycin-resistance (60%) in *Enterococcus faecalis*, which showed a medium erythromycin resistance rate (10%-20%) Ardila et al. (2023). Arrendondo et al. (2019) evaluated resistance to azithromycin and erythromycin of 100 *Prevotella* spp. isolates from 52 patients with chronic periodontitis. A higher degree of resistance to azithromycin and erythromycin was detected in comparison to previous studies, with a prevalence of 51% for *erm*(F) and 19% for *erm*(B). This is in accordance with the data of Ardila and Bedoya-García (2022), who assessed the prevalence and proportions of antimicrobial-resistant species in patients with odontogenic infections and found erythromycin-resistance in *Peptostreptococcus* spp., *Bacteroides* spp., and *Prevotella* spp., and azithromycin- and erythromycin-resistance in Gramnegative microorganisms.

# 2.2.7. Moderate acne vulgaris

Acne vulgaris is a common chronic skin disease involving blockage and/or inflammation of pilosebaceous units (hair follicles and their accompanying sebaceous gland). Acne can present as non-inflammatory lesions, inflammatory lesions, or a mixture of both, affecting mostly the face but also the back and chest. Acne develops from the following four factors: (1) follicular epidermal hyperproliferation with subsequent plugging of the follicle, (2) excess sebum production, (3) the presence and activity of the commensal bacteria *Cutibacterium acnes* (formerly *Propionibacterium acnes*), and (4) inflammation. In addition, genetics is also a key factor in the pathophysiology of acne (Rao et al., 2020).

# Clinical studies

As stated by the MAH Teva B.V., azithromycin was investigated in a pilot study in 120 subjects to identify the optimum azithromycin dose in the treatment of acne vulgaris (Study SUM-OD-03-99-HR-1) in which subjects were randomised to one of the three treatment groups (A, total dose 4.5 g of azithromycin in 7 weeks; B, total dose 6.0 g in 10 weeks; and C, total dose 7.5 g in 13 weeks). The group percentage of "cure" was lower and group percentage of "treatment failure" higher in group A than in groups B and C. Authors concluded that azithromycin in a total dose of 6.0 g in 10 weeks seemed to be a promising agent in the treatment of papulopustular acne vulgaris with few side effects and good patient compliance (Basta-Juzbasic et al., 2007).

Based on results of this pilot study, 10 weeks of pulse azithromycin treatment with total dose of 6 g of azithromycin was selected to be compared with doxycycline as standard tetracyclines treatment of moderate acne vulgaris in a double-blind, controlled, prospective study in 240 patients. Reduction in the number of lesions was similar with both azithromycin and doxycycline treatments. Also, the upper 95% confidence limit of 5 inflammatory lesions has satisfied the noninferiority criterion (Maleszka et al., 2011; SUM-AD-03-02-INT-1).

In a randomised, comparative study the role of a monthly dose of azithromycin was evaluated and compared with daily doxycycline treatment (Parsad et al., 2001). Sixty patients with moderate to severe acne were randomly assigned to two treatment groups, azithromycin, and doxycycline, both in combination with tretinoin cream 0.05 %. The monthly dose of azithromycin was found to be as effective as daily doxycycline on a pure protocol basis and statistically significantly better than doxycycline by intention to treat analysis.

Another dosing scheme was presented in a small (n=51) randomised, investigator-blinded study that was performed in order to compare the efficacy of azithromycin (500 mg/day on 3 consecutive days per week in the first month, on 2 consecutive days per week in the second month, and on 1 day per week in the third month) with doxycycline (twice a day for the first month and once a day for the second and third months). Statistically significant improvement for the facial lesions was obtained with both drugs. However, no statistically significant difference was found for efficacy parameter between two treatment groups. The beneficial effect continued until two months after treatment (Kus et al., 2005).

A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials included six studies assessing 906 patients with moderate to severe acne vulgaris. Results revealed no significant difference between the two groups regarding remaining acne lesion counts (p=0.27), patients' self-assessment of treatment (p=0.67), and the investigators' assessment of treatment (p=0.32). The authors concluded that azithromycin pulse therapy is equivalent to doxycycline at 12 weeks in the efficacy of the treatment for moderate to severe acne vulgaris and that oral azithromycin pulse therapy may be an alternative to doxycycline in the management of acne for those unable to tolerate doxycycline (Kim et al., 2018).

#### Guideline recommendations

According to the last international consensus from the Global Alliance to Improve Outcomes in Acne (2018), retinoids have an essential role in the treatment of acne. For most patients with inflammatory acne, comedonal acne, or both, a topical retinoid plus benzoyl peroxide (BPO) is recommended as first-line therapy. Together, these agents target multiple aspects of acne pathophysiology, working to normalize keratinization, reduce inflammation, and kill *P. acne*. The same consensus acknowledges that the role of antibiotics in acne therapy has changed. Neither topical nor systemic antibiotics should be used as monotherapy for acne treatment. Systemic antibiotics are useful for moderate-to-moderately severe acne, but efforts should be made to limit the duration of therapy to 3-4 months. The top 3 factors to consider when determining duration of antibiotic therapy include the severity of

acne, the potential for bacterial resistance, and the response to treatment. Factors that make it difficult to limit the duration of systemic antibiotic therapy include acne recurrence and patient preference. Oral antibiotics are indicated when inflammatory acne is not responding well to topical treatments and acne involving trunk or multiple bodily areas. Response to therapy should be evaluated at 6-8 weeks (Thiboutot et al 2018).

# Resistance development

According to a review by Karadag et al. (2021), resistance for the newer macrolides like azithromycin and clarithromycin has been increasing in *Cutibacterium acnes*. Azithromycin showed regionally variable resistance rates according to publications from 2010 to 2020 in non-European countries, which ranged from 5% (Egypt) to 100% (India).

Recent European data on azithromycin resistance in *C. acnes* is scarce. Mercieca et al. (2020) isolated *C. acnes* strains from patients in Malta between December 2015 and September 2017. Azithromycin-resistance was found in 18% of isolates.

# 2.2.8. Sexually transmitted diseases (urethritis, cervicitis, prostatitis, chancroid)

# Urethritis/cervicitis due to Chlamydia trachomatis

Chlamydia trachomatis is the most common bacterial cause of sexually transmitted disease and is a serious international health issue (Topic et al., 2006, Geisler, 2007, Gerbase et al., 1998). Chlamydia trachomatis affects all age groups, with the greatest risk in individuals <25, and can cause acute and chronic, recurrent and persistent urogenital infections. Asymptomatic infection is common in both men and women and detection frequently relies on screening. The most common manifestation of disease is local mucosal inflammation associated with a discharge, urethritis in males and urethritis/vaginitis/cervicitis in female patients. Complications in women can include pelvic inflammatory disease, ectopic pregnancy, neonatal transmission, and infertility and in men epididymitis and prostatitis. Both men and women can also develop rectal infections, conjunctivitis and Reiter's syndrome.

*In vitro* azithromycin presents antibacterial activity against *Chlamydia trachomatis*, a strict intracellular pathogen. After oral administration, azithromycin distributes to the extravascular compartment, reaching initially high intracellular and tissue concentrations.

# Clinical studies

As documented by the originator, clinical trial documentation for the treatment of chlamydial urethritis/cervicitis initially comprised 6 studies investigated between 1986 and 1988 (studies 101, 107A, 119, 301A/B, 320 and 125) in which 674 patients aged 16 or older received azithromycin. Most of the trials compared 1-day treatment with azithromycin versus multiple doses of the comparative agent (studies 101, 107A, and 301A/B). In addition to having a 1-day azithromycin treatment group, Protocols 101, 107A, and 301A/B, also had a 3-day regimen group. All studies used a total dose of 1 g of azithromycin. These studies demonstrated that a single 1 g dose of azithromycin was as safe and effective in the treatment of chlamydial urethritis/cervicitis as a standard 7-day regimen of doxycycline. Bacterial eradication was seen in 293/305 (96.1%) evaluable azithromycin patients (1 g single dose) and 253/257 (98.4%) evaluable doxycycline patients at last evaluation.

Literature data included randomised clinical trials in which azithromycin was compared to doxycycline for chlamydial infections. These trials found a single dose (1 g or 3 g) azithromycin to be equivalent to standard therapy with doxycycline in terms of bacteriologic cure (Martin et al., 1992), pathogen eradication (Topic et al., 2006, Thorpe et al., 1996) or treatment failure (Geisler et al., 2015).

The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews investigated interventions for treating genital Chlamydia trachomatis infection in pregnancy. Eight comparisons were included in this review; three compared antibiotics (erythromycin, clindamycin, amoxicillin) versus placebo; five compared an antibiotic versus another antibiotic (erythromycin, clindamycin, amoxicillin, azithromycin). No study reported different antibiotic regimens. Treatment with antibacterial agents achieves microbiological cure from *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection during pregnancy. There was no apparent difference between assessed agents (amoxicillin, erythromycin, clindamycin, azithromycin) in terms of efficacy (microbiological cure and repeat infection) and pregnancy complications (preterm birth, preterm rupture of membranes, low birth weight). Azithromycin and clindamycin appear to result in fewer side effects than erythromycin. All the studies in this review were conducted in North America, which may limit the generalisability of the results. In addition, study populations may differ in low-resource settings and these results are therefore only applicable to well-resourced settings. Furthermore, the trials in this review mainly took place in the nineties and early 2000's and antibiotic resistance may have changed since then (Cluver et al., 2017).

#### Guideline recommendations

In the European Guideline on the Management of Chlamydia Trachomatis (2015), azithromycin (oral, 1 g) is a recommended first-line treatment option. Especially in pregnancy and during breast feeding and for acute or chronic follicular conjunctivitis. In the CDC Sexually Transmitted Infections Treatment Guidelines (2021), doxycycline (100 mg orally 2 times/day for 7 days) or as alternative regimens azithromycin (1 g orally in a single dose), or levofloxacin (500 mg orally once daily for 7 days) are recommended regimen for chlamydial infection among adolescents and adults.

# Resistance development

Resistance data provided indicate a common susceptibility of azithromycin against *Chlamydia trachomatis*.

# Prostatitis caused by Chlamydia trachomatis

Chlamydia trachomatis can cause chronic bacterial prostatitis. Even if more than 50% of men with Chlamydia trachomatis infections are asymptomatic, acute manifestation of the infection is responsible for a number of symptoms, infertility, and long term reduced quality of life.

*In vitro* azithromycin presents antibacterial activity against *Chlamydia trachomatis*, a strict intracellular pathogen. After oral administration, azithromycin distributes to the extravascular compartment, initially reaching high intracellular and tissue concentrations.

#### Clinical studies

A chronic prostatitis study comparing azithromycin with clarithromycin (Škerk et al., 2002, Škerk et al., 2003) found similar eradication and clinical cure rates for both drugs. When compared to ciprofloxacin significantly higher clinical cure was achieved in the group of patients treated with azithromycin. A study by the same author in 2004 comparing a 4.5 g dose (given as a 3-day therapy of  $1 \times 500$  mg weekly for 3 weeks (46 patients)) with 6.0-g dose (given as a 3-day therapy of  $1 \times 500$  mg for 4 weeks (43 patients)) found that eradication rate and clinical cure did not significantly differ with regards to the total dose of 4.5g or 6.0 g of azithromycin administered.

Another study from Škerk et al. in 2004, involving 125 patients, compared azithromycin (4.0 g given as a single dose of  $1 \times 1000$  mg weekly for 4 weeks) with doxycycline (100 mg b.i.d. for 28 days) found no significant difference between the eradication rates and the clinical cure rates of the two antimicrobials.

# Guideline recommendations

The Guidelines on urological infections of the European Association of Urology and 2015 European *Chlamydia trachomatis* guideline recommend both azithromycin and doxycycline as first-line treatment for chronic bacterial prostatitis caused by *Chlamydia trachomatis*.

# Resistance development

Resistance data provided indicate a common susceptibility of azithromycin against *Chlamydia trachomatis*.

# Urethritis/cervicitis due to Neisseria gonorrhoeae

Infection with *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* is an important cause of cervicitis, urethritis, and pelvic inflammatory disease (Newman et al., 2007). Gonorrhoea is the second most commonly reported bacterial STD. The majority of urethral infections caused by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* among men produce symptoms that cause them to seek curative treatment soon enough to prevent serious sequelae, but treatment might not be soon enough to prevent transmission to others. Among women, infections often do not produce recognisable symptoms until complications (e.g. PID) have occurred. Both symptomatic and asymptomatic cases of PID can result in tubal scarring that can lead to infertility or ectopic pregnancy. The selection of appropriate therapy for gonorrhoea is complicated by the ability of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to develop resistance to antimicrobial therapies and the incidence of resistance varies with the geographical area.

*In-vitro* activity of azithromycin includes efficacy against *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and high tissue concentrations are reached when using oral azithromycin.

# Clinical studies

The clinical trial documentation for the treatment of gonococcal urethritis/cervicitis initially comprised 5 studies investigated between 1988 and 1990 (114, 124, 130, 305 and 319) in which 589 patients aged 16 or older received azithromycin. Of the 3 studies conducted in the US, two (114, 130) were openlabel, randomised, comparative trials of azithromycin versus ceftriaxone and one (124) was an openlabel, non-comparative trial. The results of these 3 studies support the conclusion that azithromycin is effective as a single oral 2 g dose for the treatment of acute gonococcal urethritis/cervicitis. In addition to these 3 studies, the results of 2 non-US studies (305, 319) provide additional safety data for this indication.

In two further trials published in the literature a single 1 g dose (Swanston et al.,2001) and a single 2 g dose (Takahashi et al.,2014) were effective for patients with gonococcal and nongonococcal urethritis in terms of improvement of clinical signs and symptoms and bacterial eradication.

# **Guideline recommendations**

The European Guideline on Diagnosis and Treatment of Gonorrhoea in Adults (2020) recommends high-dose ceftriaxone and azithromycin (ceftriaxone 1 g plus azithromycin 2 g) or ceftriaxone 1 g monotherapy for uncomplicated gonorrhoea infections when the antimicrobial susceptibility is unknown. Azithromycin is also used in combination with ceftriaxone for gonococcal infections in pregnancy or when breastfeeding, for gonococcal infection of the pharynx and for gonococcal conjunctivitis. It is used in combination with spectinomycin or gentamicin when ceftriaxone resistance is identified. The German AWMF S2k guideline Diagnosis and Therapy of Gonorrhoea recommends empiric treatment with ceftriaxone 1-2 g IV or IM plus 1.5 g oral azithromycin (both as single doses).

However, regarding guidelines outside of EU/EEA, it is noted that in the update of the new CDC guidance, co-treatment for gonorrhoea with azithromycin is no longer recommended.

# Resistance development

The European Gonococcal Antimicrobial Surveillance Programme (Euro-GASP) reports on resistance in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* against azithromycin. In 2022, around 25.6% of isolates had an MIC >1 mg/L (EUCAST ECCOFF), which was a significant increase since 2019 (ECDC, Euro-GASP, 2021). Isolates with an azithromycin MIC above the ECOFF were collected in the 23 EU/EEA countries that participated in Euro-GASP. Thirteen isolates displayed 'high-level azithromycin resistance' with MICs of  $\geq$ 256 mg/L compared to 19 in 2021. Of the 13 high-level azithromycin-resistant isolates, one was also resistant to ceftriaxone (MIC=0.25 mg/L), cefixime (MIC=1 mg/L) and ciprofloxacin.

On a national level, common susceptibility of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* towards azithromycin (resistance rate <10%) was seen in FR (9%, 2022), PT (average 5.04% between 2003 and 2018, always below 10%), and DK (2% in 2020), while commonly acquired resistance was described in DE (12.2% in 2020, preliminary 20.7% in 2021), SE (34% in 2021), AT (19.6% in 2021), BE (33.6% in 2022), FI (16% in 2020), and IE (11% in 2021). Lu et al. (2022) conducted a meta-analysis of 134 reports from 51 countries, covering 165,172 *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* isolates and found a global prevalence of resistance over the past three decades of 6% for azithromycin and 48% for erythromycin with a significant change in macrolide resistance prevalence over time. Since azithromycin-resistance in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* in the EU/EEA is increasing, but resistance rates on the EU level did not exceed the 10% threshold, proper surveillance and resistance testing of this organism is especially important.

# Urethritis and cervicitis caused by Mycoplasma genitalium

While urethritis and cervicitis due to *Mycoplasma genitalium* was not specifically mentioned in the indications, it could be considered part of a broad indication included in SmPCs of some azithromycin products in the form of "*mycoplasmosis*" stated in the context of sexually transmitted diseases.

Since *Mycoplasma genitalium* lacks a bacterial wall, it is intrinsically resistant to various antibiotics classes such as beta-lactams. Active classes include tetracyclines, macrolides, quinolones and streptogramines. Therapy for *Mycoplasma genitalium* is indicated if *Mycoplasma genitalium* is detected. This is intended to prevent sexual transmission and later complications such as PID and negative reproductive outcomes. Current partners of *Mycoplasma genitalium*-positive patients should be tested and treated with the same antimicrobial as the index patient. A test of cure should be considered in all patients.

# Clinical data

Some of the trials discussed in the section on urethritis/cervicitis due to *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* also included patients with *Mycoplasma genitalium* infection, e.g. Takahashi (2014) found a microbiological eradication rate of 71.4% for *Mycoplasma genitalium* in male urethritis patients.

In the current European guideline on the management of *Mycoplasma genitalium* infections (Jensen et al., 2021), azithromycin is included as first-line therapy for the treatment of uncomplicated *Mycoplasma genitalium* infection without macrolide resistance mutations or resistance testing. The regimen recommended is azithromycin 500 mg on day one, followed by 250 mg on days 2–5 (oral, total dose: 1.5 g). This regimen is also effective for the treatment of *Chlamydia trachomatis* uncomplicated infections. The extensive use of 1 g single dose azithromycin globally for sexually transmitted diseases, in particular for uncomplicated infections due to *Chlamydia trachomatis*, *Mycoplasma genitalium* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (the latter, in combination with ceftriaxone) are likely to have contributed to the accelerated selection of macrolide-resistant strains in *Mycoplasma genitalium*.

Due to the observation that cure rates with azithromycin were lower for high-load infections, the concept of resistance-guided sequential therapy (RGST) has been developed. A seven-day course of

doxycycline substantially reduces organism load in most cases of *Mycoplasma genitalium* infection, but it results in microbiologic cure in only 30 to 40 % of the patients. Therefore, after the initial treatment with doxycycline (7 days), the patients are subsequently treated with a 2.5 g oral dose of azithromycin (1 g on day 1 followed by 500 mg days 2–4).

This form of RGST is now the recommended treatment in the Australian *Mycoplasma genitalium* guidelines and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Sexually Transmitted Infections Treatment Guideline (2021) for macrolide-sensitive *Mycoplasma genitalium* infections. A different regimen of RGST is recommended in the British Association for Sexual Health and HIV (BASHH) guidelines (2018, last updated: 2023): doxycycline 100 mg twice a day for seven days followed by azithromycin 1 g orally as a single dose then 500 mg orally once daily for 2 days (total azithromycin dose: 2 g) where the organism is known to be macrolide-sensitive or where resistance status is unknown.

Nonetheless, the European Guidelines (2021) highlight that there is no clinical evidence that the higher dose (2–2.5 g) of azithromycin is better than the 1.5 g extended dosage scheme previously recommended and that clinical trials, preferably randomised and controlled, evaluating this approach would be valuable.

#### Resistance development

A systematic review and meta-analysis described a marked increase globally in macrolide resistance from 10% before 2010 to 50% in 2016–2017. These results were updated up to February 2022 and it was found that compared with 2015–2017, global macrolide resistance was stable at 44.8% in 2018–2020, although in Europe, prevalence continued to increase (from 30% in 2015–2017 to 43% in 2018–2021). In those regions where stabilisation was apparent, plausible explanations include reduced use of single-dose azithromycin as first-line therapy and the uptake of resistance-guided therapy for *Mycoplasma genitalium*.

#### Chancroid due to Haemophilus ducreyi

Chancroid or ulcus molle is a sexually transmitted infectious disease that is rare in Europe and is caused by the bacterium *Haemophilus ducreyi*. It occurs mainly in tropical countries (e.g. Southeast Asia, Africa) but also in Latin America. The disease affects men about five times as often as women. The combination of a painful genital ulcer and tender suppurative inguinal adenopathy suggest the diagnosis of chancroid. A definitive diagnosis requires identification on special culture media or via PCR.

*In vitro* activity of azithromycin includes efficacy against *Haemophilus ducreyi* and high tissue concentrations are reached when using oral azithromycin.

# Clinical trials

The clinical trial documentation of Pfizer for the treatment of genital ulcer disease due to *Haemophilus ducreyi* initially comprised 3 studies: 120, 328 and AZM-NY-90-007 investigated between 1989 and 1991 in which 258 patients aged 16 or older received azithromycin. The results supported the conclusion that a single 1 g oral dose of azithromycin is as effective as a single 250 mg intramuscular injection of ceftriaxone and oral erythromycin (500 mg QID for 7 days) in the treatment of genital ulcer disease caused by *Haemophilus ducreyi* in males. A single 1 g oral dose of azithromycin appeared to be as effective as a single 250 mg IM injection of ceftriaxone in the treatment of genital ulcer disease caused by *Haemophilus ducreyi* in females, but the number of female patients precluded definitive conclusions.

No additional publications were provided related to the indication chancroid due to *Haemophilus ducreyi* as part of this procedure.

# Guideline recommendations

In the CDC Sexually Transmitted Infections Treatment Guidelines (2021), azithromycin (1 g orally in a single dose), or ceftriaxone (250 mg IM in a single dose), or ciprofloxacin (500 mg orally 2 times/day for 3 days), or erythromycin base (500 mg orally 3 times/day for 7 days) are the recommended regimens for chancroid.

#### Resistance development

Worldwide, several isolates with intermediate resistance to either ciprofloxacin or erythromycin have been reported (Lautenschlager 2017). Nevertheless, there has been a lack of published antimicrobial susceptibility data for *Haemophilus ducreyi* for the past two decades. The absence of such data could be due to various reasons such as a decrease in the prevalence of the disease, difficulties in culturing the bacterium, or challenges in conducting and funding the necessary research (Lautenschlager et al., 2017). Global information on macrolide resistance in *Haemophilus ducreyi* is scarce but indicates high azithromycin susceptibility rates, and resistance data from Europe are actually not available. This might be especially attributable on the low incidence of *Haemophilus ducreyi* infection in Europe.

# 2.2.9. Pelvic inflammatory disease (PID)

PID is an infection of the female reproductive system including endometritis, salpingitis, oophoritis and pelvic peritonitis, which is caused by ascending infection from the vagina or the cervix. Typical symptoms include pelvic pain and vaginal discharge. Normally, oral treatment with appropriate antibiotics is sufficient, however, in severe cases, fever, severe pain and a pronounced feeling of illness occur where initial treatment with IV antibiotics is indicated. If left untreated, PID can lead to adhesions and resulting fertility problems in premenopausal woman.

In sexually active premenopausal women, a broad spectrum of bacteria are possible as causative pathogens. In addition to the sexually transmitted bacteria *Neisseria gonorrhoeae, Chlamydia trachomatis* and *Mycoplasma genitalium*, the vaginal flora and the pathogens of bacterial vaginosis (principally the anaerobes *Peptococcus* spp., *Peptostreptococcus* spp., *Bacteroides bivius*, *Bacteroides disiens* and *Bacteroides fragilis*) as well as in rare cases *mycoplasma* and *ureaplasma* can cause PID. Empiric antibiotic treatment includes a combination of antibiotics with broad efficacy against these pathogens.

The spectrum of *in-vitro* activity of azithromycin includes the following pathogens relevant for the indication PID: *Neisseria gonorrhoeae, Chlamydia trachomatis, Ureaplasma urealyticum, Mycoplasma hominis*. However, increased rates of resistance have been reported in some of them such as *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and *Mycoplasma genitalium*. For this reason, azithromycin is not recommended for the treatment of uncomplicated gonorrhoea and pelvic inflammatory disease unless laboratory results have confirmed susceptibility of the organism to azithromycin.

#### Clinical studies

A clinical study report (dated January 2002) of a double blind, double dummy, randomised, multicentre, comparative study of the efficacy, safety and tolerability of oral azithromycin tablets versus oral ofloxacin and metronidazole in the treatment of patients with mild to moderate acute salpingitis (PID) was submitted. The study was investigated in the time period 1996-1998. Subjects were randomised into three treatment groups (oral azithromycin 500 mg once a day for 3 days; azithromycin 100 mg as a single dose on the first day followed by 500 mg once a day for 2 days; or oral ofloxacin 400 mg twice a day plus oral metronidazole 500 mg twice a day for 14 days). Satisfactory clinical response was documented in 76% (azithromycin 1500 mg group, n=50), 83%

(azithromycin 2000 mg group, n=46) and 88% (ofloxacin-metronidazole group, n=50) of treated patients.

Furthermore, information was provided about the two pivotal trials (Studies 341 and 342) which investigated IV azithromycin in the indication PID. These studies included only subjects appropriate for initial inpatient IV therapy. Three treatment groups were investigated: azithromycin 500 mg IV for one day (two days in study 342), followed by 250 mg oral daily for six days (five days in study 342); azithromycin (same dosage) plus metronidazole either 500 mg IV TDS for one day followed by 400/500 mg oral TDS for 11 days, or 400/500 mg oral TDS for 12 days; metronidazole (same dosage), with concomitant doxycycline (100 mg oral BD for 14 days) plus cefoxitin (2g IV or IM stat) and probenecid (1 g oral on Day 1) (study 341) or doxycycline (100 mg oral BD for 21 days) plus coamoxiclav (1 g IV TDS for 5 days then 500 mg oral TDS for 16 days). The following efficacy results were reported:

Table 5: Pfizer studies supporting the PID claim, clinical outcome at end of treatment, evaluable subjects

Clinical response rates	Azithromycin				Azithromycin plus Metronidazole			Comparator*				
(%):	N	Cure	Imp	Fail	N	Cure	Imp	Fail	N	Cure	Imp	Fail
Laparoscopy at baseline	33	79	18	3	31	84	16	0	26	88	8	4
No laparoscopy at baseline	6	50	50	0	9	56	44	0	3	67	33	0
All subjects	39	74	23	3	40	78	23	0	29	86	10	3

Source: Efficac Key: Imp = I

Efficacy Table 11.1.1

Imp = Improved

\*Comparator for Study 341 = metronidazole+doxycycline+cefoxitin+probencid

\*Comparator for Study 342 = doxycycline + co-amoxiclav

In the literature Savaris et al. (2007) concluded that in this RCT 1 g of azithromycin weekly for 2 weeks combined with ceftriaxone is equivalent to ceftriaxone plus a 14-day course of doxycycline for treating mild PID. Bevan et al. (2003) found in a randomised open-label study that azithromycin, alone or with metronidazole, provides a shorter, simpler treatment option for the successful management of acute PID. In an unblinded, non-comparative phase 3 trial (Mikamo et al., 2014) the authors concluded that azithromycin intravenous-to-oral switch therapy demonstrated clinical and bacteriological effects for PID caused by various etiologic agents including quinolone-resistant strains.

# **Guideline recommendations**

The recommended treatment for PID is based on published treatment guidelines and considers the severity of infection, clinical presentation, and an understanding of the polymicrobial nature of PID.

The European Guideline for the Management of PID (Ross et al., 2017) recommends treatment including ceftriaxone 500 mg IM single dose plus oral azithromycin 1 g single dose followed by a second dose of oral azithromycin 1 g after one week as an alternative treatment option. In the CDC Recommendation for treatment of PID (2021), treatment regimen of azithromycin 500 mg IV daily for 1–2 doses, followed by 250 mg orally daily for a total azithromycin duration of 7 days or in combination with metronidazole 500 mg 3 times/day for 12–14 days is recommended in case of cephalosporin allergy.

Anaerobic bacteria have been isolated from the upper genital tract of women who have PID, and data from *in vitro* studies have revealed that some anaerobes (e.g. *Bacteroides fragilis*) can cause tubal and epithelial destruction. Addition of metronidazole to IM or oral PID regimens more effectively eradicates anaerobic organisms from the upper genital tract and therefore most recent guidelines recommend the systematic use of it.

# Resistance development

Resistance data for *Chlamydia trachomatis* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* are discussed above. As previously said, high resistance rates have been reported for *Mycoplasma genitalium*, the role of which in the pathogenesis of PID has evolved such that some studies have reported that *Mycoplasma genitalium* PID and cervicitis incidence rates are comparable to *Chlamydia trachomatis*.

Data on azithromycin resistance in *Ureaplasma* spp. is very limited and does not reflect all regions from the EU/EWR area. Resistance rates between 0 and 10% were measured, but the number of isolates was varying (DE: 170 strains, isolated 2016-2019, 0% resistance; EL: 2992 isolates, 2014-2022, 3.05-7.03%; PL: 141 isolates, 2003-2015, ~10%). From the available data, there were no concerns regarding high resistance rates in the genus *Ureaplasma*.

# 2.2.10. *Mycobacterium avium* complex (MAC) infection in people living with HIV

MAC can cause opportunistic infections in immunocompromised subjects. Disseminated MAC infection is a severe complication of advanced HIV/AIDS disease, which may lead to a pulmonary disease resembling tuberculosis (TB) in patients with lung disorders, including bronchiectasis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and pneumoconiosis or residual granulomatous lesions produced by TB and mycoses. DMAC infection is associated with significant morbidity and mortality in patients with AIDS and results in increased hospital admission and short survival. Treatment regimens include at least two effective antibiotics. Prophylaxis against non-tuberculous Mycobacteria may be considered in subjects with CD4 counts <50 cells/ $\mu$ L who remain viraemic on their antiretroviral regimen (ART).

Azithromycin shows good in vitro activity against pathogens of the Mycobacterium avium complex.

# Prophylaxis of MAC infection in people living with HIV

# Clinical studies

The Phase 3 program dated 1995 consisted of two randomised, double-blind, controlled clinical trials to investigate the efficacy of 1200 mg weekly azithromycin in the prevention of MAC and other opportunistic infections in subjects living with HIV with CD4 counts below 100 cells per mm³. Azithromycin was shown to be statistically significantly superior to placebo as prophylaxis against disseminated MAC disease. Furthermore, azithromycin was at least as effective as rifabutin in this indication with a one-year incidence of 7.62% in the azithromycin group and 15.25% in the rifabutin group. The combination of azithromycin and rifabutin prevented disseminated MAC disease better than either of the drugs as monotherapy (one year incidence 2.75%).

#### Guideline recommendations

The European AIDS Clinical Society Guidelines (2023) recommend oral azithromycin 1200-1250 mg once weekly or clarithromycin 500 mg twice daily or rifabutin 300 mg once daily for MAC prophylaxis. In the WHO guideline "Management of Opportunistic Infections and General Symptoms of HIV/AIDS Clinical Protocol for the WHO European Region (2006)" azithromycin 1200 mg, PO QW is recommended as first-choice antibiotic. Alternative antibiotic is clarithromycin 500 mg PO BID.

#### Treatment of DMAC infection in people living with advanced HIV infection

# Clinical studies

Overall, six clinical Phase 2 and 3 studies were investigated to support the indication "Treatment of DMAC infection in patients with advanced HIV infection" in 2000 (one pivotal study, two primary supportive studies and 3 additional studies designed as compassionate use with one of them in non-

disseminated disease). A total of 716 subjects were included in these six MAC treatment studies, of whom 630 subjects received azithromycin. The pivotal study was a multicentre, double blind, randomised comparison of single, oral, daily doses of azithromycin (250 mg or 600 mg) with clarithromycin 500 mg BID administered for 24 weeks in HIV-positive patients. In addition, both groups received a single daily dose of ethambutol (800 mg or 1200 mg based on body weight). The study demonstrated a comparable efficacy of azithromycin 600 mg once daily and clarithromycin 500 mg BID (both in combination with ethambutol) for the treatment of DMAC (bacteriological EP and clinical EP time to death).

Koletar et al. (1999) conducted a multicentre, randomised, dose-ranging study to determine the safety and efficacy of two different doses of azithromycin for treating DMAC in patients with AIDS. Azithromycin 600 or 1,200 mg daily for 6 weeks. This study demonstrates that azithromycin is useful as the primary macrolide in the treatment of DMAC. Symptomatic improvement and quantitative reduction in mycobacteraemia occurred with both 600- and 1,200-mg doses.

#### Guideline recommendations

In the European AIDS Clinical Society Guidelines (2023) azithromycin (500 mg qd po) plus ethambutol (15-20 mg/kg qd po) is a preferred therapy for treatment of MAC. In the ATS/ERS/ESCMID/IDSA Clinical Practice Guideline on Treatment of Nontuberculous Mycobacterial Pulmonary Disease (2020) recommends a 3-drug regimen that includes a macrolide over a 3-drug regimen without a macrolide in patients with macrolide-susceptible MAC pulmonary disease. Azithromycin-based treatment regimens are preferred over clarithromycin-based regimens because of better tolerance, less drug-interactions, lower pill burden (single daily dosing), and equal efficacy. However, when azithromycin is not available or not tolerated, clarithromycin is an acceptable alternative.

# Resistance development

Loewenstein et al. (2023) retrieved patients with macrolide-resistant MAC isolates between March 2019 and March 2022 from the mycobacteriology reference laboratory database at Radboud UMC, Nijmegen, the Netherlands and identified sixteen patients with macrolide-resistant MAC disease in a total of 815 patients with MAC isolates (2%). Wetzstein et al. (2020) investigated phenotypic and genotypic antibiotic susceptibility patterns of 98 MAC isolates from a cohort from the metropolitan region of Frankfurt, Germany for the period 2006–2016. Here, according to CLSI breakpoints, macrolide resistance was rare (1.2% [95% CI 0.7–7.3]) in isolates in the base cohort. Wetzstein et al. (2024) performed whole genome sequencing (WGS) on a multi-national set of MAC 610 isolates from 465 patients from Germany, France, and Switzerland. Predicted resistance to macrolides was rare. Overall, 62/1917 isolates with known *rrl* mutations conferring macrolide resistance were found in the global dataset (3.2%).

Overall, limited data on azithromycin/macrolide resistance of species of the *Mycobacterium avium* complex is available. Nevertheless, the data summarized above indicates a low resistance rate of MAC species towards macrolide antibiotics.

# 2.2.11. Gastro-duodenal infections caused by Helicobacter pylori

This indication for orally administered azithromycin is only authorised in the MSs HR and SK.

Helicobacter pylori is the most prevalent chronic bacterial infection and is associated with peptic ulcer disease, chronic gastritis, gastric adenocarcinoma, and gastric mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphoma.

Most people become infected with *Helicobacter pylori* in the first few years of life without realising it. The bacterium can survive in the acidic environment of the stomach by producing an alkaline

protective layer. There it damages the mucous membrane and can cause inflammation. The exact mode of transmission of an *Helicobacter pylori* infection (oral-oral, gastral-oral, faecal-oral or their combination) is still unclear.

A systematic review with meta-analysis of the global prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection shows a strong variation of infection between different regions and countries. According to current findings, the highest prevalence is in Africa (70.1%, 95%CI, 62.6-77.7) and the lowest in Oceania (24.4% 95%CI 18.5-30.4). At 34.3% (95%CI 31.3-37.2), Western European countries are among the regions with the lowest prevalence in a global comparison. However, the prevalence varies greatly within Europe, with the highest values in Portugal (86.4%), Estonia (82.5%) and Latvia (79.2%) and the lowest values in Switzerland (18.9%), Denmark (22.1%) and Sweden (26.2%).

#### Clinical studies

The indication for the treatment of "Stomach and duodenal infections caused by *Helicobacter pylori*" was granted for azithromycin-containing medicinal products based on a single study performed in 1997 (SUM-AD-05-97-HR-2). In this multicentre, randomised, parallel-group study, the efficacy and safety of a dual therapy of azithromycin and ranitidine bismuth citrate was compared with a triple therapy of azithromycin, amoxicillin and ranitidine bismuth citrate in the eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* in 144 patients with gastric ulcers. Overall, the study showed that triple therapy with azithromycin, amoxicillin and ranitidine bismuth citrate achieved a higher rate of eradication and clinical cure of *Helicobacter pylori* than a dual therapy with azithromycin and ranitidine bismuth citrate.

Data on the clinical efficacy of azithromycin as part of a treatment regimen for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication are available from randomised clinical trials published in the scientific literature, although there have also been contradictory results published, and *Helicobacter pylori* eradication rates varied considerably both for triple and quadruple therapy.

A meta-analysis by Dong et al. published 2009 evaluated 14 randomised trials that compared azithromycin-containing therapy with standard triple-therapy regimens for first-line treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Pooled *Helicobacter pylori* eradication rates were 72.01% (95% CI: 58.09%-85.93%) and 69.78% (95% CI: 66.47%-73.09%) for patients with or without azithromycin by intention-to-treat analysis. The authors concluded overall that azithromycin containing triple-therapy regimens could be equally effective in eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* compared with standard first-line triple-therapy regimens.

It is noted that the eradication rates in this meta-analysis were below the 80% referenced in the Points to consider on wording of Helicobacter Pylori eradication therapy in selected SPC sections (EMA 1999).

Other studies also do not show sufficient eradication rates of *Helicobacter pylori* with a treatment regimen that includes azithromycin as part of a combination therapy: Sullivan et al. 2002 investigated an azithromycin-based regimen with an already established clarithromycin-based regimen in the eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in a prospective, randomised, blinded comparative analysis performed on 56 patients with upper GI symptoms and documented *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Patients were randomised to a treatment arm, which consisted of bismuth, clarithromycin, amoxicillin, and lansoprazole (B-LAC) or one consisting of bismuth, azithromycin, amoxicillin, and lansoprazole (B-LAA). To assess eradication, patients then received repeat endoscopy at 8 weeks from entrance into the study. Rapid urease test and histopathology were again used to evaluate infection. The results suggested that B-LAC was superior to B-LAA in the eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* and that the treatment regimen B-LAA containing azithromycin was not a suitable regimen in the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* because of its substandard eradication rate.

#### **Guideline recommendations**

Spontaneous elimination of an *Helicobacter pylori* infection without prior eradication therapy is common in infants and young children, but rare from pre-school age and in adults. Therefore, all adult patients with evidence of active infection with *Helicobacter pylori* should be offered treatment. The treatment regimen for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication should overall consider local antibiotic resistance patterns, previous exposure and allergies to specific antibiotics (besides also cost, side effects, and ease of administration), meaning that the choice of initial antibiotic regimen should be guided by the presence of risk factors for macrolide resistance and the presence of a penicillin allergy. It is important to mention that eradication rate of conventional triple therapy (proton pump inhibitor (PPI), clarithromycin, amoxicillin or metronidazole) has declined progressively worldwide, particularly due to increasing clarithromycin resistance. Due to the resistance conditions and the resulting loss of efficacy, standard triple therapy has meanwhile become less important. According to the recent treatment guidelines, bismuth quadruple therapy (i.e. PPI, bismuth, tetracycline, metronidazole) is particularly recommended for empirical first-line therapy.

It is worth mentioning that according to current treatment guidelines, the aim of first-line treatment of patients with *Helicobacter pylori* infection should be an eradication rate of >90%. Although this goal is desirable, it is currently not realistic in view of the drugs available, the regulatory approval status and the poorer treatment adherence conditions frequently encountered in practice. However, treatment regimens that have achieved an eradication rate of at least  $\geq$ 80% in intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis in randomised, controlled treatment trials should be used. To date, there is all in all insufficient data from RCTs to demonstrate  $\geq$ 80% efficacy of azithromycin as part of a treatment regimen for HP eradication.

Azithromycin is not listed in European or international guidelines for the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection.

# **Resistance development**

None of the MAHs submitted data regarding the resistance rate of *Helicobacter pylori* to azithromycin; only clarithromycin-resistance data were provided for *Helicobacter pylori*. Azithromycin and clarithromycin are affected by the same resistance mechanisms, i.e. efflux pumps in the cytoplasmic membrane, change of target structure via methylation of the 23S rRNA or mutations in the 23S rRNA target structure/the large subunit ribosomal proteins and enzymatic inactivation of macrolides. It has been shown that mutations in the 23S rRNA confer cross-resistance towards clarithromycin and azithromycin in clinical *Helicobacter pylori* isolates. Additionally, because of their similar size (14- and 15-membered ring structure), clarithromycin and azithromycin are targeted by the same efflux pumps. Data on the transferability of clarithromycin-resistance via 23S rRNA methylation on azithromycin is scarce. Lastly, enzymatic inactivation of macrolides is of minor clinical relevance. Thus, based on the data discussed above, due to the cross-resistance to clarithromycin and azithromycin via 23S rRNA or mutations and efflux pumps and despite of some uncertainties, it is thought that general trends for azithromycin resistance in *Helicobacter pylori* can be derived based on clarithromycin data.

Bujanda et al. (2021) studied a time-trend analysis of *Helicobacter pylori* primary resistance to antibiotics in Europe collected from 2013 to December 2020. The average resistance rate to clarithromycin was 25% (95% CI, 16–34%), which was highest in 2016, with 34% of cases. A multicentre European study from 2018 reported elevated primary resistance of *Helicobacter pylori* towards clarithromycin (21.4%; range 4.8–36.9, 1211 patients included; Megraud et al., 2021), which is underpinned by national data from France (primary clarithromycin resistance 20% in 2022, secondary resistance was close to 50%) and Bulgaria (clarithromycin resistance rate of 30%, isolates collected between 2018 and 2022), but not reflected in the data of Sweden (resistance level of 1-10% in 2022).

# 2.2.12. Prevention of exacerbations of eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic asthma

The term "eosinophilic" asthma generally refers to the clinical inflammatory phenotype of asthma wherein a significant number of sputum, airway, and/or blood eosinophils are present. Conversely, individuals with "non-eosinophilic" asthma may still demonstrate low numbers of eosinophils, but the dominant inflammatory cell type may include neutrophils, mixed granulocyte inflammatory cells, or very few inflammatory cells, termed paucigranulocytic inflammation (Carr et al 2018). In asthma, exacerbations are periods where symptoms worsen. Exacerbations in both types can be clinically distinct, with eosinophilic exacerbations potentially causing more severe symptoms and requiring more intensive treatment (Heaney et al. 2021).

#### Clinical data

Azithromycin 500 mg three times a week for 48 weeks is authorised only in a few SmPCs (and none in products from the originator) as an additional drug for the prevention of exacerbations of eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic asthma in adult patients with symptomatic asthma, who are already receiving treatment with medium and high doses of inhaled glucocorticosteroids and a long-acting  $\beta$ -2 agonist. This is based on a randomised and double-blind study evaluating the above-mentioned dosing regimen (Gibson et al. 2017).

Various clinical trials have been performed, including with other regimens, to support the use of azithromycin for this indication with inconsistent results.

In a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials to assess the efficacy and safety of azithromycin in patients with persistent asthma, it was concluded that add-on therapy of azithromycin failed to improve asthma exacerbations and other relevant endpoints (Wang et al. 2019).

Similar conclusions were reached in another systematic review and meta-analysis that included seven randomised controlled trials, where azithromycin administration showed no significant improvement in FEV1, total airway inflammatory cells and symptom assessment (Tian et al. 2019).

# 2.2.13. Use of azithromycin for the treatment of malaria in the paediatric population

While treatment of malaria is currently not authorised with azithromycin in the EU, neither for adult patients not for the paediatric population, most of the azithromycin SmPCs included a section on azithromycin for treatment of uncomplicated malaria in children in section 5.1. This section is based upon a recommendation published in the European Public Assessment Report for paediatric studies in accordance with Article 46 of Regulation (EC) No 1901/2006 (Procedure Number: PT/W/0007/pdWS/001) published in 2019.

During the procedure, data from 4 clinical studies (A0661190, A0661157, A0661158, A0661201), as well as a literature articles (10 articles from 2000 to 2015) and malaria guidelines (UK malaria guideline from 2007; WHO malaria guideline from 2015) were assessed. The outcome of the assessment was, that non-inferiority of azithromycin monotherapy or combination therapy with chloroquine or artemisinin-based drugs in the treatment of uncomplicated malaria in children could not be demonstrated. These studies are considered a strong evidence against the use of azithromycin either as monotherapy or part of combine scheme for treating malaria.

During the Article 46 procedure, the SmPC Advisory Group and Paediatric Committee PDCO were consulted. The SmPC Advisory Group considered that, the results of all pharmacodynamics or efficacy studies conducted in children should be presented in Section 5.1, if the information is considered relevant to prescribers when managing paediatric patients with malaria or to prevent misuse. PDCO

agreed with the inclusion of the information in the SmPC in this specific case, based on the evidence / robustness of the data being analysed and considering the current and continued investigational activity in the field evaluating azithromycin used in malaria.

Inclusion of this data should be considered if the risk of off-label use would be reasonable. Although malaria treatment guidelines were updated in the meantime (WHO Guidelines for malaria (published 16th October 2023), still no recommendation for the use of azithromycin in this indication is included. All available guidelines and the standard of care do not recommend its use. In addition, consideration should be given to official guidance on the appropriate use of antibacterial agents, as recommended in section 4.1 of the azithromycin SmPC. A recent search of clinical trial databases did not show any ongoing studies of azithromycin in malaria patients.

Altogether, the probability for off-label use of azithromycin (in combination with chloroquine or artemisinin-based therapies) in the malaria indication is currently considered to be low. Thus, the information on the non-inferiority of azithromycin alone or in combination for the treatment of malaria in paediatric patients with malaria should be removed from section 5.1 of the SmPC.

# 2.3. Pharmacokinetics

As part of the procedure, MAHs were asked to discuss of the adequacy of the recommended dosage and duration of treatment for the approved indications, specifying the studies on which those recommendations are based and a detailed description of the underlying pharmacokinetic analyses including determination of the pharmacodynamic index (PDI), target attainment analyses and pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic (PK/PD) analyses for efficacy according to the "Guideline on the use of pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in the development of antimicrobial medicinal products (EMA/CHMP/594085/2015)". Furthermore, information about available PK data and population pharmacokinetic (PopPK) analysis from different age groups of paediatric population, elderly patients, patients with renal impairment and patients with hepatic impairment was requested from MAHs to justify the dosage and treatment duration in these populations. The below sections present the underlying data from MAHs to address these points.

#### 2.3.1. Oral formulations

# **Absorption**

The bioavailability of a single oral dose of 500 mg azithromycin is approximately 37% based on a comparison of AUC calculated up to 24, 48 or 72 h after dosing (Study 066-006; Foulds et al., 1990). The time to achieve  $C_{\text{max}}$  is 2-3 h.

#### Food effect

Several bioavailability studies in the fed and fasted state have been conducted with azithromycin showing that the effect of food on the bioavailability of azithromycin is formulation-dependent (study 066-057, Foulds et al., 1996).

As a consequence, the overall recommendation for the method of administration in section 4.2 of the harmonised SmPC is that all oral formulations (except the capsule formulation) of azithromycin can be taken with or without food, even though the administration immediately before a meal can improve their gastrointestinal tolerability. The capsule formulation should be taken either at least one hour before or two hours after a meal.

#### Distribution

Azithromycin is widely and rapidly distributed from plasma to the extravascular compartment, including tissues such as tonsil, lung and gynaecological tissues as well as the intracellular compartment (in particular to polymorphonuclear leukocytes, macrophages, and monocytes), from where it redistributes to plasma and extracellular compartment. Pharmacokinetic studies have shown considerably higher azithromycin concentrations in certain tissues (up to 50 times the maximum concentration observed in the plasma). This indicates an extensive binding with a steady-state volume of distribution ranging from 23 to 31 L/kg. The redistribution phase from the intracellular to the extracellular compartment and to the plasma may result in prolonged low concentrations after treatment cessation (study 066-057; Foulds et al., 1990 & 1993). This causes concern that azithromycin may promote the development of antimicrobial resistance as discussed in a number of published papers (Matzneller et al., 2013; Kong et al. 2019; Zheng et al. 2014). In addition, due to its extensive extravascular distribution, azithromycin is not recommended for the treatment of serious infections where high plasma concentrations may be needed. This is, for instance, the case of pneumococcal pneumonia that may course with associated bacteraemia. For that reason, a crossreference has been added from the warning in section 4.4 related to antimicrobial resistance to section 5.2, where relevant information on this point has been included under the subheading Distribution.

#### Metabolism

Azithromycin is metabolised in the liver and excreted in the bile. Several metabolites were identified in bile with no significant antimicrobial activity. The primary route of biotransformation is N-demethylation of the desosamine sugar on the 9a position. Other pathways include O-demethylation, hydrolysis of cladinose (deconjugation of the cladinose sugar), and hydroxylation of desosamine sugar and macrolide ring (Peters, 1992; Schentag & Ballow, 1991).

There is no evidence of hepatic cytochrome P450 induction or inactivation via the formation of a cytochrome-metabolite complex. Also, auto-induced metabolism of azithromycin by this pathway has not been detected (Schentag & Ballow, 1991).

# **Elimination**

The azithromycin elimination half-life in serum following an IV dose is consistent with that observed following oral administration of 500 mg daily with a 3-day regimen (about 66 h to 68 h; Amsden et al., 1999; Foulds et al., 1990) and closely reflects the tissue depletion half-life of 2.3 to 3.2 days (Foulds et al., 1990). Therefore, extensive uptake and subsequent release of drug from tissues may contribute to the long terminal half-life of azithromycin.

Urinary excretion is a minor elimination route and was approximately 12% and 5% within 72 h after an IV dose and an oral dose, respectively (study 066-006; Foulds et al., 1990).

Based on studies with immediate-release formulations, the majority of systemically available azithromycin is excreted unchanged in the bile (study 066-014).

# Pharmacokinetics in special populations

# Patients with renal impairment

In study AZM-NY-90-008 statistically significant differences in AUC<sub>0-120</sub> (8.8  $\mu$ g\*h/mL vs. 11.7  $\mu$ g\*h/mL), C<sub>max</sub> (1.0  $\mu$ g/mL vs. 1.6  $\mu$ g/mL), and CL<sub>r</sub> (2.3 mL/min/kg vs. 0.2 mL/min/kg) following administration of 1 g azithromycin were observed between the group with GFR <10 mL/min (renal impairment) and GFR >80 mL/min (normal renal function).

The definition of renal function groups used in study AZM-NY-90-008 is however not in line with the current EMA guideline on the evaluation of the pharmacokinetics of medicinal products in patients with

decreased renal function (EMA/CHMP/83874/2014). Thus, the GFR rate should be stated instead of the terms "mild/moderate" and "severe renal impairment" in the product information. Since azithromycin is mainly excreted by non-renal processes, the difference between renal function groups cannot be fully explained by differences in renal clearance. However, based on these results, no dose adjustment is necessary in patients with GFR 10–80 mL/min. In patients with GFR <10 mL/min azithromycin should be administered with caution.

# Patients with hepatic impairment

The results of study AZM-I-90-001 demonstrate that the PK of azithromycin do not differ significantly between healthy volunteers and patients with mild or moderate hepatic impairment. Therefore, no modification of the azithromycin dosage is necessary for patients with mild to moderate hepatic impairment. However, PK has not been studied in patients with severe hepatic impairment (Child-Pugh Class C) and since azithromycin is primarily eliminated through the hepatobiliary route, azithromycin should be administered with caution in these patients.

# Elderly

Based on the results of the PK study 066-212, it has been concluded that a dose modification is not considered necessary in the elderly – particularly since mean  $C_{max}$  (the relevant PK parameter for safety) was comparable in both age groups. However, according to the study report, azithromycin exposure was higher in elderly women compared to elderly man (AUC<sub>24</sub>: mean increase up to 25%;  $C_{max}$ : mean increase up to 37.5%).

Due to the increased risk in the elderly of developing cardiac arrhythmia and torsades de pointes, a warning in section 4.4 of the SmPC was already included before the referral but was slightly modified during this procedure and in addition a cross-reference to section 4.4 was included in section 4.2.

# Paediatric patients

PK data in paediatric patients are available from study 066-136 using oral suspension in children aged 6-15 years for treatment of streptococcal pharyngitis, study 066-172 in children aged 6 months to 5 years for otitis media and study 066-220 on safety and PK of a 3-day regimen (10 mg/kg daily) of oral azithromycin (oral suspension) in 16 patients 6 months to 10 years with bacterial infection.

Considering the study data, CHMP considered that the wording for section 5.2, subsection "Paediatric population" should present the PK parameters of study 066-136 and study 066-172 separately. The values of the PK parameters are approximately 1.7 times greater in children 6 to 15 years of age than in children 1 to 4 years of age. This does not seem to be the result of the underlying condition (pharyngitis versus otitis media) suggesting that there may be some relationship between azithromycin pharmacokinetics and age which justifies the recommendation included in section 4.2 of the SmPC of the powder for oral suspension regarding the recommendation to accurately measure the dose of 10 mg/kg (or 5 mg/kg for the 5-day regimen) for children weighing less than 16 kg (less than 3 years of age). Overlap of values however exists between the 2 groups.

# 2.3.2. Intravenous formulations

The information related to absorption, distribution, metabolism, elimination and PK in special populations is the same as for the oral formulations. No information on the paediatric population needs to be included as the IV formulations is currently only authorised for adult patients. Considering the available data, the following should be included in section 5.2 of the SmPC of the IV formulations:

"In patients hospitalised with community-acquired pneumonia receiving single daily one-hour intravenous infusions for 2 to 5 days of 500 mg azithromycin at a concentration of 2 mg/ml, the mean

 $C_{max} \pm S.D.$  achieved was 3.63  $\pm$  1.60  $\mu$ g/ml, the mean  $C_{trough}$  (C24) after the start of the final infusion dose was 0.2  $\mu$ g/ml and the mean AUC0-24 was 9.6  $\pm$  4.8  $\mu$ g.h/ml.

The mean  $C_{max}$ ,  $C_{trough}$  (C24) and AUC0-24 values were 1.14  $\pm$  0.14  $\mu$ g/ml, 0.18  $\pm$  0.02  $\mu$ g/ml, and 8.03  $\pm$ 0.86  $\mu$ g·hr/ml, respectively, in normal volunteers receiving a 3-hour intravenous infusion of 500 mg azithromycin at a concentration of 1 mg/ml.

Comparison of the plasma pharmacokinetic parameters following the first and fifth daily doses of 500 mg intravenous azithromycin in healthy volunteers showed almost no change in  $C_{max}$ , but there was a 40-61% increase in AUC0-24 reflecting a 2.2- to 3-fold increase in  $C_{trough}$  (C24) levels."

# 2.3.3. Drug-drug interactions

Considering a reasonable likelihood of co-administration with azithromycin, the following DDIs are supported based on the referred evidence from clinical studies PK data and/or post-marketing reports, and should be included:

- 1. In the text describing the interaction of azithromycin with medicinal products that are known to prolong the QT interval (beyond the medicinal products that were already uniformly included in the respective warning in section 4.4 of the SmPC that is moved to section 4.5 as a result of the current procedure):
  - Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine, due to an increased risk of 30-day cardiovascular mortality, chest pain or angina and heart failure when co-administered (PSUSA/00000788/202304, Daby et al., 2021, Lane et al., 2020)
- 2. In the table listing active substances for which clinically relevant DDIs were observed:
  - Atorvastatin: increased risk for rhabdomyolysis (Strandell et al., 2009, Westphal et al., 2000.)
     after co-administration
  - Ciclosporin: increase in C<sub>max</sub> and a narrow therapeutic index and more adverse reactions were reported upon co-administration in a MAH study.
  - Colchicine: increased serum levels in case of co-administration with azithromycin (PSUSA/00010491/201704, DiGiacinto et al., 2011)
  - Dabigatran due to post-marketing data presented by Li et al. (2023) that found an increased risk for haemorrhages in patients receiving dabigatran concomitantly
  - Digoxin: *in vitro* and *in vivo* data from a study by Eberl et al. (2007) indicating increased digoxin exposure, and a population-based study by Gomes et al. (2009) indicating an increased risk for digoxin toxicity.
  - Warfarin: post-marketing reports indicating potentiation of anticoagulation upon coadministration and a retrospective cohort study by Penning-van Beest et al. (2008) indicating an increased bleeding risk upon co-administration of coumarins with azithromycin.
- 3. In the listing of medicinal products for which no clinically relevant change in the exposure of azithromycin or the other substance was observed upon co-administration based on clinical data:
  - Aluminium hydroxide and magnesium hydroxide (only for oral formulations)
  - Carbamazepine
  - Cetirizine
  - Cimetidine (only for oral formulations)
  - Efavirenz
  - Fluconazole
  - Methylprednisolone
  - Midazolam
  - Rifabutin

- Sildenafil
- Theophylline
- Triazolam
- Trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole
- Zidovudine

The following DDIs should not be included in section 4.5 of the SmPC and section 2 of the PL:

- 1. As no products containing the respective active substance are currently marketed according to the Article 57 product database of EMA:
  - Astemizole
  - Didanosine
  - Indinavir
  - Nelfinavir
  - Terfenadine
- 2. As the data available does not provide sufficient evidence for inclusion of a DDI with azithromycin:
  - Ergotamine
  - other antibiotics
  - Alfentanil
  - Bilastine and mizolastine
  - Bromocriptin
  - Direct-acting oral anticoagulants:
    - o Edoxaban
    - o Other factor Xa inhibitors such as apixaban and rivaroxaban
    - o Other thrombin inhibitors than dabigatran
  - Ivabradine
  - Phenytoin
  - Protease inhibitors other than indinavir and nelfinavir
  - Relugolix
  - Simvastatin
  - Sirolimus

# 2.4. Pharmacodynamics

# Susceptibility

The efficacy of azithromycin depends mainly on the ratio between AUC (area under the curve) and MIC of the causative organism. Azithromycin covers a relatively broad spectrum of pathogens, including Gram-positive, Gram-negative, atypical and intracellular pathogens.

Due to low permeability of the outer membrane, most Gram-negative species are inherently resistant to macrolides, e.g. *Pseudomonas spp.* and Enterobacterales. However, in comparison to other macrolides, azithromycin shows a slightly better activity against Gram-negative bacteria.

Azithromycin demonstrates cross-resistance with erythromycin-resistant Gram-positive isolates. Macrolide-resistant isolates are found relatively frequently among Gram-positive facultative aerobic bacteria, in particular methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) and penicillin-resistant *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (PRSP). As discussed below, some ribosomal modifications determine cross-resistance

with other classes of antibiotics whose ribosomal binding sites overlap those of the macrolides (MLSB-resistance): the lincosamides (including clindamycin) and the streptogramin B.

#### Mechanisms of resistance

To date, various resistance mechanisms towards azithromycin are known, and are detected in isolates of clinically relevant bacterial species. The two most frequently encountered mechanisms of resistance to macrolides, including azithromycin, are (1) target modification, (most commonly by methylation of 23S rRNA) and (2) efflux pumps (Wierzbowski et al., 2006). Enzymatic inactivation of macrolides, a third known resistance mechanism, is only of minor clinical interest. Cross-resistance between other macrolides (between azithromycin, clarithromycin, erythromycin and roxithromycin) has been reported.

No significant new information on azithromycin resistance mechanisms was found during the procedure. Covered resistance mechanisms range from efflux pumps in certain bacteria to mutations in ribosomal proteins, underlining the challenges in treating infections with evolving bacterial resistance.

# Prevalence of resistance

Even if the data quality could be improved in some areas, diverse bacteria in distinct regions display varying degrees of resistance to azithromycin. Cumulatively, the data suggest an increasing global prevalence of azithromycin resistance among bacterial strains, with resistance developing against pathogens relevant to the approved indications of azithromycin in the EU/EEA. Detailed information about azithromycin resistance rates is included in the specific indication sections (see above in the Efficacy section).

#### Conclusion on pharmacodynamics

Based on the provided data, a harmonised wording is included in section 5.1 of the SmPC, including sections on mechanism of action, pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic relation, mechanisms of resistance, susceptibility testing interpretive criteria, and prevalence of acquired resistance.

# 2.5. Posology recommendations (dosing, duration and use in combination)

The authorised dosing regimens are mostly based on the clinical studies conducted during the clinical development of azithromycin that were performed in their majority more than 20 years ago, i.e. at a time when the epidemiological situation was different in terms of the prevalence of resistance in the organisms that are relevant for the approved indications. Additionally, the current availability of other measures such as pneumococcal vaccines and vaccines for the prevention of invasive disease due to *Haemophilus influenzae* are also responsible for the changing epidemiology for some infections.

While for certain infectious diseases, the use of extended regimens of azithromycin is recommended, for community-acquired pneumonia recent systematic reviews and meta-analysis for both paediatric and adult patients suggest that shorter courses of treatment may be equally effective as the standard 10-day regimen in (e.g.) adults.

Except for streptococcal tonsillitis and for erythema migrans (see above), no changes have been proposed by the CHMP in terms of doses and treatment duration due to the difficulties to support them with recent robust data. Of particular concern was the potential association between the use of single and high azithromycin dose for uncomplicated gonococcal and non-gonococcal urogenital disease and the emergence of macrolide-resistant *Mycoplasma genitalium* strains. For other indications minor adjustments and clarifications were introduced.

Due to the above uncertainties, a sentence is included in section 4.2, Posology of the SmPC stating that "Consideration should be given to the treatment regimens, doses and duration of treatment as recommended in updated treatment guidelines for each indication".

## 2.5.1. Oral formulations

Azithromycin oral formulations are marketed in the EU as granules/powder for oral suspension (e.g. 20 mg/ml and 40 mg/ml) or tablets/capsules of different strengths (e.g. 125 mg, 250 mg, 500 mg, 600 mg).

Two dosage regimens with a total dose of 1.5 mg azithromycin in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg and 30 mg/kg azithromycin in paediatric patients aged 6 months and older are authorised for the treatment of infections of the upper and lower respiratory tract, acute bacterial otitis media, dental infections and skin and skin structure infections.

Following oral administration of a single 500 mg dose to 36 fasted healthy male subjects, the mean pharmacokinetic parameters were AUC<sub>0-72</sub> = 4.3  $\mu$ g\*h/mL, C<sub>max</sub> = 0.5  $\mu$ g/mL, and T<sub>max</sub> = 2.2 h (Study 066-042).

With a regimen of 500 mg on Day 1, followed by 250 mg daily on Days 2 to 5 (5-day regimen), PK parameters of azithromycin in plasma in healthy adults (18-40 years of age) were as follows:  $C_{max}$  was 0.41  $\mu$ g/mL on day 1 and 0.24  $\mu$ g/mL on day 5, while AUC<sub>0-72</sub> was 2.6  $\mu$ g\*h/mL on day 1 and to 2.1  $\mu$ g\*h/mL on day 5.  $T_{max}$  increased from 2.5 h to 3.2 h (Study 066-212).

The 5-day regimen in adults consists of a single 500 mg dose on the first day, followed by a single 250 mg dose on days 2 to 5. Alternatively, a daily dose of 500 mg is given for three days (3-day regimen). For the paediatric population the 5-day regimen consists of a single dose of 10 mg/kg on day 1, followed by a single dose of 5 mg/kg on days 2-5. For the 3-day regimen, a single dose of 10 mg/kg is given for 3 days. The daily and total adult dose should not be exceeded in paediatric patients.

Pivotal studies for these indications have mainly been conducted with the 5-day regimen. However, cross-over studies in healthy adult volunteers comparing the PK of 1500 mg orally administered azithromycin when given as 3-day and 5-day regimen showed (apart from the slightly higher drug accumulation when administered as a 3-day regimen) no significant differences (Wildfeuer et al., 1993; Amsden et al., 1999). The terminal half-life in serum obtained by both regimens were about 66 h (Amsden et al., 1999) indicating that an effective concentration of azithromycin can be maintained for several days after administration.

More recently, concerns have been raised about the possibility that this prolonged half-life in tissues (extravascular) leads to low concentrations during the redistribution phase from the intracellular compartment once treatment is finished and that this promotes the development of resistance.

With respect to the paediatric population, the studies described in section 5.2 in paediatric patients show that even though there is some overlap in the systemic exposure between older and younger children, the latter (aged 1 to 4 years) may have less systemic exposure when treated at the same dose per kg of body weight. For that reason, for children weighing less than 16 kg, the SmPC and the PL indicate that the dose of azithromycin should be accurately measured, and these children should be dosed as closely as possible to the recommended dose, i.e., the formulation and the measuring device selected for these children should allow dose flexibility. As an example, the powder for oral suspension in sachets for which the minimum strength is 100 mg cannot be used to treat these children at the right dose. Therefore, the dosing tables and accompanying text for liquid oral formulations were updated to reflect the maximum daily dose per bodyweight and weight band for the individual mg/kg dosing regimens.

The subsection on method of administration for the oral formulations, in particular for powder for oral suspension in bottle has been rationalised.

# Lower respiratory tract infections

The 3-day and 5-day regimen have been investigated in clinical studies and in most EU MSs either a 3day regimen or a 3-day and 5-day regimen are currently authorised. Data of pivotal studies are supported by PK data. For example, in study 066-207 the tissue concentrations of azithromycin (after oral administration of 500 mg) was assessed in patients undergoing pulmonary resection. Pulmonary tissue concentrations of azithromycin were similar in samples taken at 24, 72 and 96 h post-dose (3.097, 2.550 and 3.940 μg/g, respectively) and were greater than the MICs of many common sensitive pathogens. Plasma levels of azithromycin were negligible at the same time points (0.134, <0.05, and <0.05 μg/mL, respectively). Moreover, Baldwin et al. (1990) showed that human bronchial samples, particularly alveolar macrophages (AM), contain very high levels of azithromycin after a single oral 500 mg dose, with mean peak levels 48 h post-dose of 2.18 µg/ml, 3.9 µg/mL and 23 µg/mL in ELF, bronchial mucosa and AM, respectively. When a 5-day regimen of oral azithromycin was given to healthy volunteers elevated drug concentrations in AM (>80 µg/ml) persisted up to 21 days and high concentration in ELF sustained for 7 days (with the highest mean concentration of 3.12 µg/ml after day 5) (Olsen et al., 1996). Recently, Hughes et al. (2020) developed an azithromycin population PK model using data from literature and individual clinical trials to predict concentrations in the lung, intracellular poly/mononuclear cells (PBM/PML), and AM. Predicted concentrations were higher in AM and PBM/PML, followed by lung tissue, and were lowest in serum. Simulated PBM/PML concentrations exceeded 4  $\mu$ g/mL following the first dose and for  $\sim$  14 days following 500 mg once daily for 3 days or 500 mg on 1 day/250 mg once daily on days 2-5. Simulated lung concentrations were above 1 µg/mL following the first dose and for  $\sim 10$  days for both dosage regimens.

Based on the azithromycin concentration measured in pulmonary tissue, ELF and AM, treatment of lower respiratory tract infections including treatment of atypical pathogens seems to be reasonable and efficacy data for most entities are available. Moreover, efficacy of both regimens has been shown and since the 3-day and 5-day oral regimen can be considered comparable based on PK data, both regimens should be included in the product information provided that the product can be used for both regimens (e.g. the 500 mg tablet for treatment of adults and adolescents >45 kg has a score line and thus can be divided into equal doses for the 5-day regimen). Dosing recommendations in the paediatric population (based on body weight; max. total dose 30 mg/kg) are equivalent to the dosing recommendations in adults (total dose of 1500 mg) and as studied for other indications. Thus, authorised dosing recommendations are sufficiently justified.

# Upper respiratory tract infections including sinusitis, pharyngitis, tonsillitis

The pivotal phase 3 studies have been conducted with the 5-day regimen and efficacy has been proven. However, due to the PK properties of azithromycin, a similar systemic exposure can be achieved with a 3-day regimen as already described above. In most EU MS either a 3-day regimen or a 3-day and 5-day regimen is authorised. Study 066-003 conducted in healthy subjects undergoing tonsillectomy showed that azithromycin distributed extensively into tonsillar tissue after two 250 mg doses (12 h apart) and was still detectable after 7.5 days (mean concentration 0.93  $\mu$ g/g). The mean concentration of azithromycin in tissue 9-18 h after the second dose was more than 100-fold that in the serum (4.5  $\mu$ g/g in tissue versus 0.03  $\mu$ g/mL in serum). The tissue t<sub>½</sub> was 3.2 days (Foulds et al., 1991). In sinus fluid, a mean azithromycin of 0.65  $\mu$ g/ml has been determined after a 500 mg dose (Margaritis et al., 2007).

#### Paediatric population

In clinical studies three dosing regimens based on body weight (12 mg/kg daily for 5 days, 10 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg for 3 days) were investigated for treatment of pharyngitis and two dosing regimens for treatment of tonsillitis (10 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg for 3 days). In the treatment of pharyngitis caused by *Streptococcus pyogenes* azithromycin has proved to be effective when it is administered at a dose of 10 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg for 3 days with a maximum daily dosage of 500 mg. At these two dosages a comparable clinical effect was observed, however, the eradication of the bacteria was more significant at a daily dosage of 20 mg/kg. Similarly, the dosing regimen of 10 mg/kg for 3 days was shown to achieve similar clinical response but inferior bacteriological eradication than the regimen of 12 mg/kg for 5 days. Thus, it has been agreed to include the following two dosing regimens in the product information: 20 mg/kg/day for 3 days and the 12 mg/kg/day for 5 days.

The dosing regimen of 10 mg/kg for 3 days has been removed from the posology section of the harmonised Product Information due to its inferior bacteriological eradication.

Efficacy of the 5-day regimen has been shown in adults and since the 3-day and 5-day oral regimen can be considered comparable based on PK data, both regimens should be included in the product information provided that the product can be used for both regimens (e.g. the 500 mg tablet for treatment of adults and adolescents >45 kg has a score line and thus can be divided into equal doses for the 5-day regimen).

#### Acute bacterial otitis media

Several clinical trials with different dosing regimens (3-day and 5-day regimen as well as single dose of 30 mg/kg) in the paediatric population have been conducted.

For treatment of adults in most EU MS either a 3-day regimen or a 3-day and 5-day regimen is currently authorised, while for treatment of children additionally the single-dose treatment is recommended in some EU MS. The single dose of 30 mg/kg is supported by PK data from healthy adult volunteers showing equivalent serum and white blood cell exposures whether a total dose of 1.5 g of azithromycin was given as a 1 day or 3-day regimen (e.g. serum  $AUC_{0-inf}$  13.1  $\mu$ g\*h/ml vs 11.2  $\mu$ g\*h/ml). However, as expected, the peak serum concentration ( $C_{max}$ ) after a single dose was significantly higher than for the 3-day regimen (1.46 vs 0.54  $\mu$ g/mL, respectively) (Amsden and Gray, 2001).

In a study of children with acute bacterial otitis media, azithromycin 10 mg/kg administered on day 1 followed by 5 mg/kg on days 2 to 5 (total dose 30 mg/kg) achieved mean peak middle-ear fluid concentrations of 8.6 and 9.4  $\mu$ g/mL at 24 and 48 hours after the initial dose, respectively. In contrast, at 48 hours after treatment, azithromycin concentrations in plasma were ~300 times lower than those in middle-ear fluid (Pukander and Rautianen, 1996).

Three dosing regimens are approved for the treatment of paediatric patients with AOM, i.e. single dose of 30 mg/kg, 10 mg/kg/day for 3 days and 10 mg/kg on day 1, followed by 5 mg/kg/day on days 2-5.

All three dosing regimens in the paediatric population are supported by efficacy and PK data. The authorised dosing regimen (3-day and 5-day regimen) in adults is (except for the 1-day regimen) equivalent to the dosing recommendations in the paediatric population and acceptable.

## Acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections

The pivotal phase 3 studies in adults have been conducted with the 5-day regimen for which efficacy has been proven. However, due to the PK properties of azithromycin, a similar systemic exposure can be achieved with a 3-day regimen as already described above. In most EU MS either a 3-day regimen or a 3-day and 5-day regimen is authorised.

The 5-day dosing regimen in adults is sufficiently justified by efficacy data. Since the 3-day and 5-day oral regimen can be considered comparable based on PK data, both regimens should be included in the product information provided that the product can be used for both regimens (e.g. the 500 mg tablet for treatment of adults and adolescents >45 kg has a score line and thus can be divided into equal doses for the 5-day regimen). Dosing recommendations in the paediatric population (based on body weight; maximum total dose 30 mg/kg) are equivalent with the dosing recommendations in adults (total dose of 1500 mg) and as studied for other indications. Thus, authorised dosing recommendations are sufficiently justified.

# **Erythema migrans**

This indication is authorised in single MSs with the following dosing recommendation in adults (total dose of 3 g) and based on one RCT: 1000 mg on day 1, followed by 500 mg once daily on days 2-5.

For the paediatric population the following dosing regimen is authorised which is supported by studies by Arnez et al. (2002) and Arnez et al. (2015): 20 mg/kg on Day 1, followed by 10 mg/kg on Days 2-5 mg/kg.

The dosing regimen is supported by efficacy data. However, after review of more recent literature data on efficacy and current treatment guidelines, it has been suggested to prolong the treatment from 5 to 10 days in line with current EU and US treatment guidelines, as well as two studies that showed adequate efficacy in the 10 days regimen (see above under 2.2.5).

# **Dental infections**

The pivotal Phase 3 study and most of the cited studies have been conducted with the 3-day regimen which are supported by PK data from Malizia et al. (1997). Azithromycin concentrations in plasma, saliva, and periodontal tissues were evaluated in 28 patients treated with the 3-regimen. The highest concentrations of azithromycin were observed 12 hours after the last dose in plasma, saliva, gingiva, and bone (0.33 mg/L, 2.14 mg/L, 6.47 mg/kg, and 1.86 mg/kg, respectively) and then declined gradually. However, consistent levels of the drug in saliva and periodontal tissues could be detected up to 6.5 days. Among the samples examined, the highest concentration of azithromycin was found in the gingiva at each time studied. Moreover, the ratios of salivary or periodontal tissue levels versus plasma concentrations remained nearly unmodified from 12 h up to 6.5 days.

The 3-dosing regimen is sufficiently justified by efficacy and PK data. Since the 3-day and 5-day oral regimen can be considered comparable based on PK data, both regimens should be included in the product information provided that the product can be used for both regimens (e.g. the 500 mg tablet for treatment of adults and adolescents >45 kg has a score line and thus can be divided into equal doses for the 5-day regimen). Dosing recommendations in the paediatric population (based on body weight; maximum total dose 30 mg/kg) are equivalent with the dosing recommendations in adults (total dose of 1500 mg) and as studied for other indications. Thus, the currently authorised dosing recommendations are sufficiently justified.

# Sexually transmitted infections

The following dosing recommendations are currently authorised in EU MS:

- single 1000 mg dose for treatment of uncomplicated urogenital infections due to *Chlamydia trachomatis*
- single 1000 mg dose for treatment of chancroid/soft ulcer due to Haemophilus ducreyi
- single 1000 mg dose (in combination with 250 mg ceftriaxone) or 2000 mg single dose (in combination with 500 mg ceftriaxone) for treatment of uncomplicated urogenital infections due to azithromycin-susceptible *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*

- total dose of 4.5 g for treatment chronic prostatitis caused by *Chlamydia trachomatis* given as 500 mg daily for 3 consecutive days which should be repeated for 3 weeks

Efficacy of these regimens have been shown in clinical studies and are supported by the following PK data:

In study 066-208 the concentrations of azithromycin in gynaecological tissues after oral administration of a single 500 mg dose (2x 250 mg, capsule formulation) in patients undergoing gynaecological surgery was assessed. Azithromycin penetrated well into gynaecological tissue with a long residence time ( $t_{1/2}$  about 67 hours). Mean azithromycin concentrations were between 1.44  $\mu$ g/g (24 h post dose) and 0.78  $\mu$ g/g (96 h post-dose) in gynaecological tissue. In a similar study (066-005) azithromycin were measured 14-19 h post-dose in fallopian tube (3.3  $\mu$ g/ml), ovary (2.7  $\mu$ g/ml), uterus (3.5  $\mu$ g/ml) and cervix (2.8  $\mu$ g/ml). Azithromycin concentrations in all tissue samples were more than 28-fold greater than those in serum.

Worm and Osterlind (1995) determined azithromycin concentrations in cervical mucus and plasma samples from 20 women with proven cervical chlamydial infection 1, 7 and 14 days after a single oral 1 g dose and found that in mucus azithromycin concentrations were above the MIC of *Chlamydia trachomatis*.

In study 066-001 the degree to which orally administered azithromycin (2x 250 mg, capsule formulation) distributes into prostatic and other urological tissues (testes, epididymis and kidney) has been assessed. Azithromycin distributed extensively in prostatic tissue and concentrations in prostatic tissue persisted long after drug in plasma declined to very low levels ( $t_{1/2}$  of 73 h). The mean prostatic tissue concentration at 24-29.5 hours after the first dose was 2.2  $\mu$ g/g while the mean concentration at 149 hours after the first dose was 0.62  $\mu$ g/g.

The dosing regimens for oral azithromycin for the treatment of the above-mentioned sexually transmitted infections have been assessed in clinical studies performed in the 1990s. The epidemiological situation has changed that much since then however there is currently no recent data that would be able to challenge these dosing regimens. Particularly for diseases due to *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (refer to data from the Euro-GASP surveillance project) azithromycin alone or in combination with ceftriaxone (the latter the mainstay of the treatment of gonococcal diseases) is no longer recommended in many treatment guidelines even though some of them have not been updated yet. In this respect, updates from the 2021 CDC Guidelines reported by Dalby and Stoner (2022) indicate that ceftriaxone monotherapy is recommended as the treatment of choice for gonorrhoea. Even though it is repeatedly alleged that azithromycin distributes to the sites of urogenital infection, this does not seem to be the only factor that influences azithromycin efficacy for this indication. Therefore, a specific warning is included in section 4.4 regarding sexually transmitted diseases in relation to the need for susceptibility testing prior to treatment of sexually transmitted infections, and the exclusion of certain pathogens before treatment of some of these infections.

Single dose azithromycin can still be considered an option for urogenital disease due to *Chlamydia trachomatis* and can continue to be reflected in the PI, but CHMP also noted that doxycycline, 100 mg twice per day for seven days is the preferred regimen by some European and American guidelines. As However, given the rapid changes in the treatment landscape of sexually transmitted diseases and the impact that treatment failures may have from a public health perspective, the posology tables in section 4.2 include a footnote prompting to the treatment regimens, doses and duration of treatment as recommended in updated treatment guidelines for each indication.

# Pelvic inflammatory disease (PID)

See below under intravenous formulations.

# Prophylaxis and treatment of disseminated MAC infections

For this indication, a 600 mg oral formulation is marketed in single EU Member States. The recommended dose is 1200 mg once per week for prophylaxis of disseminated MAC infections and 600 mg once daily for treatment of disseminated MAC infections based on clinical studies.

These dosing recommendations were supported by Study 066-062 and 066-077, which were Phase 1 PK studies to assess the azithromycin uptake by leukocytes and the absolute bioavailability of single oral doses of azithromycin following oral and IV administration of 1200 mg azithromycin or following oral administration of 250 mg or 600 mg doses daily for 22 days in HIV patients.

The efficacy of azithromycin for the prevention or treatment of MAC infections have not been established in children.

<u>Prophylaxis of MAC infections in persons living with HIV with inadequate immune restoration and virologic control</u>

A 1200 mg once weekly dose of azithromycin studied in two Phase 3 studies (066-155, 066-174) has been shown to provide effective prophylaxis of MAC infections. Moreover, it has been shown that high azithromycin concentrations are achieved with this dosing regimen in leukocytes and the slow release from these cells and the long elimination half-life of azithromycin allows a once weekly administration.

Thus, the dosage regimen of azithromycin 1200 mg once per week for prophylaxis against MAC infections in patients living with HIV is sufficiently justified. In case neither the 600 mg tablets nor the powder for oral solution are available to administer 1200 mg, it seems reasonable to use the 250 mg tablets to make a dose of 1250 mg instead of 1200 mg. This is supported by current treatment guidelines.

# Treatment of DMAC infections in persons living with advanced HIV

Efficacy of the recommended dosing regimen of azithromycin 600 mg once a day has been shown in treating infections due to DMAC when administered in combination with other antimycobacterial agents that have shown *in vitro* activity against MAC such as ethambutol. PK data showed that sufficiently high azithromycin concentrations are achieved with this dosing regimen in white blood cells.

Thus, the dosing regimen of 600 mg azithromycin daily is sufficiently justified for oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg. As in the prior case, if the 600 mg strength is not available, the dose of 500 mg can be used. This is supported by current treatment guidelines.

The duration of therapy with azithromycin in the indication treatment and prophylaxis of MAC will depend on various patient-specific factors (e.g. ART, CD4 cell counts, safety and tolerability while on azithromycin therapy, other opportunistic infections), which must be taken into account by the treating physician. Given the above and the fact that SmPC section 4.2 include the following information: "Considerations should be given to the treatment regimens, doses and duration of treatment as recommended in updated treatment guidelines for each indication." length of azithromycin therapy is not included in SmPC section 4.2.

The two indications are proposed to be kept in section 4.1 for adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg for the solid and liquid formulations of azithromycin. In the case of the oral liquid formulations, this is restricted to subjects who are not able to swallow the solid formulations. In addition, currently these uses are expected to occur very rarely given current recommendations for treatment of HIV-1 and the availability of potent antiretroviral regimens.

Regarding children under 12 years of age, the safety and efficacy for the prevention or treatment of MAC have not been established. Based on paediatric pharmacokinetic data, it is said that a dose of 20 mg/kg would be similar to the adult dose of 1200 mg but with a higher  $C_{\text{max}}$ . Given that currently

the recommendation for children living with HIV is to initiate antiretroviral treatment as soon as the diagnosis is made and given the potential need for long-term treatment with azithromycin, an indication for prophylaxis or treatment of MAC infection continues to be not recommended for children.

# 2.5.2. Intravenous formulations

The intravenous formulation is authorised only for treatment of adult patients requiring initial IV therapy.

# Community-acquired pneumonia (CAP)

Efficacy of azithromycin in treatment of CAP was shown in clinical studies. The authorised dosing regimen of the IV formulation is: 500 mg once daily for at least 2 days, followed by oral dose of 500 mg daily to complete a 7- to 10-day course.

In a multi-dose PK study healthy volunteers received 500 mg azithromycin intravenously over 3 h at a concentration of 1 mg/mL daily for five days. After the first dose,  $C_{max}$  averaged 1.08±0.13 µg/mL, while the  $C_{min}$  at 24 h averaged 0.06±0.01 µg/mL, and the AUC<sub>24</sub> averaged 5.00±0.64 µg\*h/mL. After the fifth dose,  $C_{max}$  increased by 6% (1.14±0.14 µg/mL) and AUC increased by 61% (8.03±0.86 µg/mL/h) (Garey & Amsden, 1999).

Safety and tolerability of the IV formulation was investigated in healthy volunteers for single doses up to 4000 mg infused over 2 h and for 500 mg dose once daily for up to five days (e.g. studies 006-234, 066-006 and 95CK33-0674).

In study 93CE33-0625A, the PK of azithromycin following multiple IV doses of 1 h infusions of 500 mg azithromycin QD for 2 to 5 days in hospitalised patients with CAP was investigated. Mean peak plasma levels of 3.6  $\mu$ g/mL, mean AUC<sub>0-24</sub> of 9.6  $\mu$ g\*h/mL, and mean trough level C<sub>24</sub> of 0.20  $\mu$ g/mL were determined. The mean azithromycin plasma concentration profile showed a rise up to C<sub>max</sub> followed by a rapid fall in plasma levels within 1 h following the end of infusion.

With respect to the body weight distribution of adult patients enrolled in CAP studies of this formulation, in the PK study 93CE33-0625A, azithromycin  $C_{max}$  and  $AUC_{0-24}$  in female participants with body weight of 45 kg was 5.6 µg/mL and 19.6 µg\*h/mL. While the MAH concluded that the systemic exposure to azithromycin is similar to that in participants with body weight above 50 kg, the CHMP noted that when these values are compared to those of the overall population of the study, it became evident that the systemic exposure is higher in the female subgroup, however overall no different dosage recommendations between male and female patients were considered necessary.

Given that late adolescents (aged 16 years) were only planned to be enrolled in a CAP study of IV azithromycin (study 066-138) which was terminated early due to poor enrolment, the indication of CAP for the intravenous formulation of azithromycin is restricted to adult patients (please refer to section 4). for a summary on agreed patient populations in the multiple dosage forms for CAP and AECB.

# Pelvic inflammatory disease

The recommended dosing regimen is as follows, based on the efficacy and safety data of two pivotal trials: 500 mg once daily intravenous dose for at least 1 or 2 days, followed by oral dose of 250 mg daily to complete a 7-day course.

This is supported by PK studies (066-208, 066-006) showing that azithromycin penetrates well into gynaecological tissue with a long half-life (see 2.2.8. above).

The dosing regimen for intravenous azithromycin was assessed in clinical studies and is supported by PK data. A switch to oral dose is foreseen in the SmPC of the intravenous formulation if clinically

indicated after 1 or 2 days of IV treatment, although this indication is currently not reflected in the SmPC of the oral formulations. Taking into account the bioavailability of the oral formulations, the CHMP was of the view that PID could be included in the product information of oral azithromycin formulations but restricted to adult women given the currently limited role of azithromycin for the treatment of PID and the scarce clinical data in the adolescent population.

Overall, the present role of azithromycin for the treatment of PID is limited given that it is only recommended as part of oral alternative regimens in very particular circumstances at the dose of 250 mg orally daily in combination with metronidazole 500 mg every 12 hours for 12–14 days. In the harmonised SmPC the recommendation is for a complete course of 7 days, with treatment to be initiated always intravenously. Monotherapy is seldom recommended and therefore the harmonised SmPC states that azithromycin should be used in combination with e.g. metronidazole.

# 2.6. Data on safety

Post-marketing data estimates that approximately 1350 million patients worldwide have been exposed to the originator's azithromycin-containing medicinal products in the scope of this procedure since first approval. In contrast, regarding the cumulative post-marketing exposure to azithromycin of the MAH Teva (derived from the recent PSUR with DLP 30.04.2023), approximately n=547,186,381 and n=2,325,788 patients were treated with oral or parenteral formulations, respectively. This is considered a sufficiently large exposure to characterise the safety profile.

Main data sources in terms of post marketing safety data analysis were the latest available Core Safety Profile (CSP) for azithromycin from 2013, the currently valid Core Data Sheet (CDS) version 19.0 of the originator Pfizer (dated 10.08.2022), the Company Core Safety Information (CCSI) of the MAH Teva (dated 18.02.2022), SmPCs of different EU-MSs providing further safety related information beyond those included in the CSP and CDS, clinical efficacy studies mentioned above that also had safety objectives, and literature as well as scientific guidelines. Further data sources were the PSUSA ARs for azithromycin (systemic use) from 2014, 2017, 2020 and 2023, PRAC signal ARs for azithromycin, the originator's currently approved Risk Management Plan (RMP) according to GVP Module V (Rev. 2) and the FDA's United States Prescribing information (USPI).

Overall, the CHMP considers that these data sources provided sufficient information to widely confirm the established post marketing safety profile as included within relevant SmPC sections and the corresponding sections in the PL of most EU/EEA MSs. A summary of the information regarding the sections of the product information related to safety (on contraindications, warnings/precautions fertility, pregnancy and lactation, effects on ability to drive and use machines, undesirable effects and overdoses) is provided below:

# **Contraindications**

Overall, as currently labelled in most MS only the following contraindication is supported based on the available data: "The use of azithromycin-containing products is contraindicated in patients with hypersensitivity to the active substance, erythromycin, any macrolide or ketolide antibiotic, or to any excipient listed in section 6.1.". The CHMP considered that no further data is available which indicate a need for additional contraindications.

# Special warnings and precautions for use

This section was reviewed taking into consideration the already existing information in the different SmPCs, the available data from clinical studies and post-marketing and a consultation with the IDWP.

Besides the above-mentioned warnings related to AMR and on sexually transmitted infections, the CHMP identified based on the available data also the need to harmonise the warnings on severe skin

and hypersensitivity reactions, QT interval prolongation, hepatotoxicity, *Clostridioides difficile* associated diarrhoea (CDAD), pseudomembranous colitis, Myasthenia gravis, non-susceptible organisms, ergot derivatives and infantile hypertrophic pyloric stenosis (IHPS).

#### Safety related to drug-drug interactions and other interactions

See Pharmacokinetics section.

#### Fertility, pregnancy and lactation

This section was updated following consultation with PRAC (see below), to provide guidance based on the data in more than 7000 pregnancies and animal studies. Epidemiological evidence related to the risk of miscarriage following azithromycin exposure in early pregnancy is inconclusive. Overall, CHMP agreed with PRAC to recommend that azithromycin should only be used during pregnancy if clinically needed.

# Effects on ability to drive and use machines, undesirable effects and overdose

This section was harmonised to align with the available information from company core safety data from the originator companies.

# **Undesirable effects**

Information provided within SmPC Section 4.8 'Undesirable effects' of nearly all MAHs appeared to be mostly consistent when compared with the EU CSP or originator CDS and CCSI, respectively. Most of the existing differences between some generic medicinal products and the respective reference medicinal products were minor and not substantial. These were addressed and reflected in the updated section 4.8. In this context, some terms have been adjusted to match the current MedDRA terminology/PTs (e.g. "decreased appetite" has been substituted for "anorexia" and "Candida infection" for "candidiasis") and also some terms have been grouped (e.g. "loose stool" is considered to be sufficiently represented by the PT "diarrhoea" and has therefore been removed). The PL was updated accordingly.

# **Excipients of known effect**

Azithromycin use in the paediatric population is extensive and therefore the fact that many of the authorised medicinal products, particularly the powder for oral suspension in bottle contain excipients considered as potentially harmful for the paediatric population is of concern. Two of these excipients are benzyl alcohol and ethanol that are included as ingredients of the flavouring agents of these formulations to mask the apparent bitter taste of the drug substance and improve its palatability. Within the EU, there are azithromycin-authorised products that do not contain these excipients. On the other hand, the content of these two excipients is variable for the same products authorised to the same MAH in different EU countries, thus discrepancies in exist in the product information. Azithromycin is included in the priority list of the WHO Paediatric drug optimization (PADO) group. Optimization of the available formulations is one of the areas of interest identified.

MAHS are reminded to keep their PI up to date in accordance with current guidance, including the QRD template and the excipients guideline.

# 2.7. Non-clinical aspects

No relevant new non-clinical data became available since the approval of azithromycin that would have an impact on the overall benefit-risk balance. However, some additional, supportive data with respect to embryotoxicity (Karbulut et al. 2008, Lu et al. 2023, Kemp et al. 2014) and proarrhythmogenic potential (Yang et al. 2017), were identified in the literature. These data do not change the overall

benefit-risk assessment or recommendations for use during pregnancy and lactation and were supporting a harmonisation of SmPC sections 4.6 and 5.3 and the PL accordingly, see also further details under 3. Expert Consultation below.

# 3. Expert consultation

The CHMP consulted the Infectious Diseases Working Party (IDWP) and the PRAC on several issues. Their respective advice is provided below.

## 1. PRAC advice to the CHMP

PRAC advice was sought regarding the use of azithromycin-containing medicinal products for systemic use in pregnancy.

The PRAC considered that there is a large amount of available data in pregnant women, which however does not support different level of risk between the trimesters of pregnancy. The PRAC also noted that data on the first trimester in view of miscarriage is inconclusive.

Considering the uncertainty of the data on the risk of malformations/abortions, the PRAC agreed to reflect this adequately in the product information and advised therefore that the following wording should be used in section 4.6 of the SmPC:

"There is a large amount of data from observational studies on exposure to azithromycin during pregnancy (more than 7000 azithromycin exposed pregnancies). Most of these studies do not suggest an increased risk of adverse foetal effects such as major congenital malformations or cardiovascular malformations.

Epidemiological evidence related to the risk of miscarriage following azithromycin exposure in early pregnancy is inconclusive. Animal studies do not indicate reproductive toxicity (see section 5.3).

Azithromycin should only be used during pregnancy if clinically needed."

# 2. IDWP responses to the CHMP list of questions

As part of their responses to questions from CHMP, the IDWP recommended that the final agreed list of indications for azithromycin should not be restricted to situations in which other commonly used or recommended antibacterial agents cannot be used or are not considered appropriate. The WP considered the current sentence "Consideration should be given to official guidance on the appropriate use of antibacterial agents." sufficient to cover the variable rates of resistance observed across MS as well as different opinions and policies on which treatments should be considered first rather than second line, so that prescribers in various MS to consult national guidance as well as available relevant information on antimicrobial resistance in their country/region. There is also no mean percentage of resistance for a major pathogen that could justifiably be used to underpin removing an indication for use.

For **eradication of** *Helicobacter pylori* IDWP considered that to date the clinical demonstration in support of the use of macrolides in such an indication only relates to clarithromycin, which is the unique macrolide part of the therapeutic guidelines in this indication. The lack of robust clinical data in support of the use of azithromycin speaks against the use of this antibiotic in such indication.

For **treatment of acne vulgaris**, the IDWP considered that this indication can be removed from section 4.1 of the SmPC of azithromycin, considering that its long-term use for 9 to 12 weeks and beyond has been associated with macrolide resistance in C. acnes, a member of the normal skin microbiota and to disturbance of the latter. A call was made (Sardana et al. 2021) to restrict the use of oral azithromycin for acne which was based on the absence of regulatory approval in many EU MSs,

the risk of resistance, the indications of azithromycin for important infectious diseases and evidence showing that azithromycin is not superior to doxycycline or minocycline for acne. Consequently, the selection of non-antibiotic therapies is advocated.

Regarding **prophylaxis of** *Mycobacterium avium* **complex (MAC) infections,** based on the available data, the IDWP proposed some adjustment to the wording of the indication in section 4.1 to reflect it as "Prophylaxis of *Mycobacterium avium* complex (MAC) infections in people living with HIV with inadequate immune restoration." The IDWP noted that the need for prophylaxis would rarely occur, but in the few patients harbouring multi-resistant HIV strains with no optimal therapeutic management (e.g. those with CD4 counts < 50 cells/µL who remain viraemic on antiretroviral therapy), the need for MAC prophylaxis is still considered necessary.

**Acute exacerbations of chronic bronchitis** can be kept as an indication in section 4.1 of the SmPC in the view of the IDWP, considering that azithromycin is not considered a first option unless epidemiological data suggest the involvement of "atypical" organisms (Cantón et al. 2022) but its antibacterial spectrum of activity is the same as in the case of community-acquired pneumonia and, therefore, it can be also considered for the treatment of AECB.

On **odontostomatological infections**, IDWP recommended that this indication should be reworded as "Periodontal abscesses and periodontitis". Macrolides (including azithromycin) are not usually recommended due to increasing resistance among some strains of streptococci and their lack of optimal anaerobic activity. Its current use in clinical practice (which seems quite limited) is based on the lack of alternatives for penicillin-allergic patients, convenience (oral, once daily for 3 days) and PK/PD considerations, even though the clinical evidence supporting its use for this indication is very scarce. (Cantón et al. 2022, Peedikayil et al. 2016)

For **chronic prostatitis**, IDWP recommended that this indication can be kept in section 4.1 of the SmPC, provided that it is restricted to "Chronic prostatitis due to *Chlamydia trachomatis"*, *considering that the general term covers a wide range of bacteria, while azithromycin* shows a good *in vitro* activity against *Chlamydia trachomatis*. It also distributes and concentrates in the prostatic tissue. Epidemiological data do not reveal high level of resistance of this pathogen against azithromycin.

IDWP also highlighted that chronic (bacterial) prostatitis is considered a complicated (urinary tract) infection. Therefore, it should be ensured that no wording implying that chronic prostatitis is an uncomplicated infection is part of the indication.

For **urethritis and cervicitis caused by** *Mycoplasma genitalium*, IDWP noted that, this wording as such (i.e., urethritis and cervicitis due to *Mycoplasma genitalium*) is not included in section 4.1 of any of the SmPCs of azithromycin-containing medicinal products and it is not proposed by any of the MAHs, it can be considered part of a broad indication included in some SmPCs in the form of "mycoplasmosis".

In the current European guideline on the management of *Mycoplasma genitalium* infections (Jensen et al. 2022), azithromycin is included as first-line therapy for the treatment of uncomplicated *Mycoplasma genitalium* infection without macrolide resistance mutations or resistance testing. The regimen recommended is azithromycin 500 mg on day one, followed by 250 mg on days 2–5 (oral, total dose: 1.5 g). This regimen is also effective for the treatment of *Chlamydia trachomatis* uncomplicated infections. In contrast, azithromycin 1 g single dose (oral) is no longer recommended for the treatment of *Mycoplasma genitalium*, although it is effective for the treatment of *Chlamydia trachomatis*. Treatment of macrolide-susceptible *Mycoplasma genitalium* infections with a 1 g single dose of azithromycin results in selection of resistant-strain populations in 10%–12% of cases. Therefore, the regimen proposed for mycoplasmosis in the above mentioned SmPCs (single 1000 mg dose) carries a high risk of development of resistance. Similarly, treatment of uncomplicated disease due to *Chlamydia* 

trachomatis with a single 1000 mg dose may lead to emergence of resistance in *M. genitalium* to azithromycin in those cases where the organisms is not identified, but present.

Therefore, the IDWP would suggest that an explicit indication for urethritis and cervicitis due to *M. genitalium* at the dosing regimen of azithromycin 500 mg on day one, followed by 250 mg on days 2–5 (oral, total dose: 1.5 g) is included in the SmPC of those azithromycin-containing medicinal products with appropriate pharmaceutical form and strengths. This same posology could be considered for *Chlamydia trachomatis*. A warning may be considered for section 4.4 of all SmPCs in relation to the risk that the single 1000 mg dose represents.

Regarding **pelvic inflammatory disease,** IDWP considered that this indication can be included in section 4.1 of the SmPCs of the oral formulations in the view of the IDWP provided that treatment has been initiated intravenously, however, given the usual polymicrobial origin of the disease, combination therapy is always recommended (e.g. ceftriaxone  $\pm$  metronidazole), also taking into account that resistance to azithromycin has increased in recent years. This is particularly the case if Neisseria gonorrhoeae is involved.

The recommended posology is that treatment should always be initially commenced with IV azithromycin (if appropriate in the view of the treating physician), and then subsequently converted to oral therapy (in accordance with clinical response).

For prevention of **exacerbations of eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic asthma** the evidence available is not sufficient to support this indication in the view of IDWP, based on the following rationale: azithromycin 500 mg three times a week for 48 weeks is authorised in few SmPCs as an additional drug for the prevention of exacerbations of eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic asthma in adult patients with symptomatic asthma, who are already receiving treatment with medium and high doses of inhaled glucocorticosteroids and a long-acting  $\beta$ -2 agonist. This is based on a randomised and double-blind study (Gibson et al. 2017) described in section 5.1 of the concerned SmPC. In this study, the dosing regimen assessed is the same as above, but other regimens have also been assessed in other trials. Various clinical trials have been performed to support the use of azithromycin for this indication with inconsistent results.

In a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials to assess the efficacy and safety of azithromycin in patients with persistent asthma, it was concluded that add-on therapy of azithromycin failed to improve asthma exacerbations and other relevant endpoints (Wang et al. 2019).

Similar conclusions were reached in another systematic review and meta-analysis (Tian et al. 2019) that included seven randomised controlled trials, where azithromycin administration showed no significant improvement in FEV1, total airway inflammatory cells and symptom assessment.

Regarding the use of azithromycin for the **treatment of uncomplicated urethritis and cervicitis due to** *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* in view of the current prevalence of resistance, IDWP does not recommend restricting the indications for treatment of uncomplicated gonorrhoea.

However, the CHMP could consider a cross-reference from 4.1 to a statement in 4.4 that is similar to that placed in fluoroquinolone SmPCs to reflect near uniform resistance in MRSA. This could read as follows:

"Gonococcal cervicitis and urethritis and pelvic inflammatory disease

Neisseria gonorrhoeae is very likely to be resistant to macrolides, including the azalide azithromycin (see section 5.1). Therefore, azithromycin is not recommended for the treatment of uncomplicated gonorrhoea and pelvic inflammatory disease unless laboratory results have confirmed susceptibility of the organism to azithromycin. If left untreated or treated sub-optimally, both conditions may lead to late onset complications such as infertility and ectopic pregnancy."

The IDWP also made wording proposals for all the indications.

In addition to the proposed actions with respect to sections 4.1 and 4.4, some members of the IDWP were of the view that the PK characteristics of azithromycin may be particularly of concern in what refers to the risk of emergence of resistance. Therefore, a recommendation was made to include a cautionary statement in section 4.4 of the SmPC, as follows: "In the decision-making process for the use of azithromycin, the risk of emergence of resistance in relation to its long half-life and extensive distribution to tissues and the safety profile of the drug, should be carefully weighed. Moreover, it should be considered that for several indications only targeted treatment is recommended (see section 4.1)."

Other members of the IDWP, however, strongly opposed to such statement. Considering that:

- Data has not been provided to support that azithromycin, based on its distribution to tissues and long terminal elimination half-life, has an increased risk of causing resistance compared with other macrolides or other antibacterials that lack these characteristics.
- There are no major concerns over the safety of this agent compared with other macrolides.
- The message of the last sentence of the proposal is unclear (*Moreover, it should be considered that for several indications only targeted treatment is recommended*).

# 4. Discussion and conclusions on benefit-risk balance

Available consumption data shows that the use of azithromycin has increased in recent years, including during the COVID-19 pandemic, whereas it is included in the WHO WATCH category, which carries the notion that "These medicines should be prioritized as key targets of stewardship programs and monitoring". At the same time, there is an increasing global prevalence of azithromycin resistance in several pathogens relevant to the approved indications.

In addition, there are significant differences between the product information of azithromycin-containing products across the EU/EEA, in particular in the approved indications and posology, but also in other sections of the product information. Several indications might be considered too broad which could promote overuse and resistance development. Furthermore, these indications are not in line with the recommendation in the current EMA guideline on the evaluation of medicinal products indicated for treatment of bacterial infections (CPMP/EWP/558/95 Rev 3).

Within this referral procedure, the CHMP critically reviewed all available data in relation to the efficacy and safety of the authorised indications for intravenous and oral azithromycin-containing medicinal products, including from clinical studies, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies, epidemiological studies, susceptibility testing, scientific literature and post-marketing reporting information about resistance development against pathogens relevant for the approved indications in the EU, and a risk assessment on the probability of development of resistance during treatment as well as recommendations in current national and European treatment guidelines, considering that 1) azithromycin has been classified into the WATCH category by WHO, 2) data is suggesting an overuse of systemic azithromycin and 3) increasing resistance to azithromycin has been found in the EU. The CHMP also consulted the Infectious Disease Working Party (IDWP) and the Pharmacovigilance Risk Assessment Committee (PRAC).

In relation to a potential need to restrict the indications of azithromycin to second-line use, the IDWP pointed out that on the one hand the standard sentence in section 4.1 of the SmPCs "Consideration should be given to official guidance on the appropriate use of antibacterial agents." sufficiently addresses the need to consult national or international treatment guidelines as well as available regional/national information on antimicrobial resistance by prescribers when choosing an antibacterial

agent. On the other hand, it was noted that this standard sentence has been included in the SmPCs of azithromycin-containing products for many years and that, despite this, consumption data suggest that azithromycin is prescribed too broadly and too often, and an increasing resistance of bacteria to azithromycin has been found in some MSs. Nevertheless, in view of the low level of safety concerns, and the fact that no threshold mean level of resistance above which a first-line indication would no longer be appropriate can be reasonably established, CHMP considered that the current data was not sufficient to support a restriction of indications to second-line. In order to maintain the use of azithromycin-containing medicinal products effective and safe in their therapeutic indications further outlined below it was considered more appropriate to include the following warning in section 4.4 of the SmPC: "Potential for emergence of resistance: Azithromycin could favour the development of resistance due to the associated long-lasting and decreasing levels in plasma and tissues after the end of treatment (see section 5.2). Treatment with azithromycin should only be initiated after a careful assessment of the benefit and the risks, considering the local prevalence of resistance, and when preferred treatment regimens are not indicated." This is supplemented by corresponding descriptions in section 5.2 of the SmPC, based on the existing data.

In addition, relevant for all indications, but particularly in the case of sexually transmitted diseases due to the rapid changes in the treatment landscape and the importance that treatment failures may have from a public health perspective, the following sentence has been included in section 4.2: "Considerations should be given to the treatment regimens, doses and duration of treatment as recommended in updated treatment guidelines for each indication."

Having reviewed all available data and taking into account current clinical guideline recommendations, the CHMP considered overall that azithromycin still remains an important therapeutic option in most therapeutic indications. The CHMP concluded that the benefit-risk balance of the azithromycin-containing medicinal products for systemic use are **positive** in the following therapeutic indications, however some of them required rewording as detailed below:

# Lower respiratory tract infections (LRTIs)

The CHMP reviewed the data corresponding to this broad indication, with a view of refining it and specifying for which defined condition the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin is positive.

# Community-acquired pneumonia (CAP)

While there is sufficient evidence supporting the efficacy of oral azithromycin in all populations, no clinical data are available for paediatric patients with CAP for the intravenous formulation. Therefore, the CHMP concluded that the benefit-risk balance is positive for azithromycin-containing medicinal products in the CAP indication for solid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, dispersible tablets in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, liquid oral formulations in paediatric patients aged 6 months and older weighing less than 45 kg and adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg who are unable to swallow solid pharmaceutical forms, and intravenous formulations in adults.

Regarding atypical pneumonia, the CHMP agreed to the IDWP conclusions that the term CAP covers both atypical and typical organisms and thus atypical pneumonia does not need to be specified in the indications section of the SmPC.

# Acute exacerbations of chronic bronchitis (AECB)

The CHMP agreed with IDWP that azithromycin is effective in treating AECB, however requested to restrict the indication AECB to adults only, where it is nearly in all cases diagnosed. Therefore, considering the available data on efficacy in the light of the known safety profile for azithromycin, the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products in the indication AECB is positive for solid oral formulations in adults weighing at least 45 kg, dispersible tablets in adults weighing at least

45 kg and liquid oral formulations in adults weighing at least 45 kg who are unable to swallow solid pharmaceutical forms.

# Other LRTI

The indication "acute bronchitis" stated in Product Information (PI) at the start of this procedure is covered by the broad term LRTI, however, more recent reviews showed only limited evidence and small benefits in cough and activity level in patients with acute bronchitis. Current guidelines suggest that general antibiotics including azithromycin should not routinely be offered to adults or children with an acute bronchitis.

Regarding "exacerbation of bronchiectasis (AEB)" this was not explicitly stated in PI at the start, further, the European Guidelines for the management of adult lower respiratory tract infections (Woodhead et al. 2005) does not recommend macrolide antibiotics for the treatment of AEB. Instead, the European Respiratory Society guidelines for the management of adult bronchiectasis (Polverino et al., 2017) suggests long-term treatment with macrolides under certain circumstances which however is not covered by current approved dose regimens, and can lead to high levels of macrolide resistance.

Therefore, the CHMP, in line with the IDWP recommendation, considered that the wording of the indications under LRTIs should be restricted to AECB and CAP (including atypical pneumonia).

# **Upper respiratory tract infections (URTIs)**

Under this broad indication, the CHMP reviewed the data relevant to streptococcal infections of the upper respiratory tract in studies on tonsillitis, pharyngitis and bacterial sinusitis, with a view of refining it and specifying for which defined condition the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin is positive.

# Acute streptococcal tonsillitis and pharyngitis

The CHMP concluded that the benefit-risk balance remains positive for azithromycin-containing medicinal products in the treatment of acute streptococcal tonsillitis and pharyngitis, for solid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, dispersible tablets in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, liquid oral formulations in paediatric patients aged 6 months and older weighing less than 45 kg, and adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg who are unable to swallow solid pharmaceutical forms. However, in the paediatric studies conducted, the dosing regimen of 10 mg/kg for 3 days was shown to achieve similar clinical response but inferior bacteriological eradication than the regimen of 12 mg/kg for 5 days. Therefore, the dosing regimen of 10 mg/kg for 3 days should be removed from section 4.2 of the SmPC, so the two dosing regimens which should remain for acute streptococcal pharyngotonsillitis are 20 mg/kg for 3 days or 12 mg/kg for 5 days.

# Acute bacterial sinusitis

The CHMP concluded to a positive benefit-risk balance for azithromycin-containing medicinal products in the treatment of acute bacterial sinusitis for solid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, dispersible tablets in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, liquid oral formulations in paediatric patients aged 6 months and older weighing less than 45 kg and adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg who are unable to swallow solid pharmaceutical forms.

# Acute otitis media

Data from randomised clinical trials, microbiological data and literature data indicate that azithromycin is effective in the treatment of acute otitis media in children and is comparable to that of amoxicillin or amoxicillin/clavulanate.

Since AOM is uncommon in adults and the complications can be severe, it seems advisable to treat all adult AOM patients with antibiotics in addition to analgesic therapy. In the few published data available, amoxicillin or amoxicillin/clavulanic acid followed by cephalosporins are recommended as first-line therapies.

Current treatment guidelines are consistent in listing amoxicillin as the drug of first choice. The combination with clavulanic acid is only necessary in regions with increased  $\beta$ -lactamase formation of *Haemophilus influenzae* or *Moraxella catarrhalis*. In the current clinical guidelines, macrolides such as azithromycin are only considered for patients with penicillin allergies.

It should be noted that azithromycin is one of the more common antibiotics prescribed by paediatricians, particularly for respiratory infections and AOM, as azithromycin is easily administrable to children as an oral suspension, with once-a-day dosing for a relatively short treatment duration (three to five days) and a favourable side effect profile. However, the decision whether to use an antibiotic at all for the treatment of acute bacterial otitis media in children should be carefully considered. Due to the high spontaneous healing rate of AOM in the paediatric population of almost 80%, the benefit of an antibiotic needs to be assessed individually in relation to its risks, including the risk of the selection of more resistant bacteria on both an individual and collective level. The main problems with using azithromycin to treat acute otitis media, however, are recurrent resistant pneumococcal strains and a suboptimal clinical efficacy against *Haemophilus influenzae*, determined by bacterial eradication levels in middle-ear fluid (Ovetchkine et al., 2013). High and increasing resistance rates of over 30% have been described for infections caused by *Streptococcus pneumonia* isolates to macrolides including azithromycin, whereas the CHMP noted that the most common bacterial pathogens of AOM in children and adults is *Streptococcus pneumoniae*.

On balance as explained above, no additional restriction was considered warranted in section 4.1 of the SmPC, with the addition of the new warning on resistance in section 4.4. In view of the available data on efficacy in the light of the known safety profile for azithromycin, and following the IDWP advice, the CHMP concluded that the benefit-risk balance for azithromycin-containing medicinal products in the treatment of acute bacterial otitis media (AOM) remains positive for solid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, dispersible tablets in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, liquid oral formulations in paediatric patients aged 6 months and older weighing less than 45 kg and adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg who are unable to swallow solid pharmaceutical forms.

However, the CHMP noted that prophylaxis/treatment of recurrent AOM, not previously specified as part of the indications, was not recommended in clinical guidelines. Considering the limited data the available in support the use of azithromycin for antibiotic prophylaxis/treatment of recurrent AOM, and following the wording suggested by IDWP for this indication, it was decided to leave this out of the AOM indication.

# Acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections (ABSSSI)

In view of the available data on efficacy in the light of the known safety profile for azithromycin, the CHMP concluded that the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products in the indication ABSSSI is positive for solid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, dispersible tablets in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, liquid oral formulations in paediatric patients aged 6 months and older weighing less than 45 kg and adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg who are unable to swallow solid pharmaceutical forms. In section 5.1, *S. aureus* is listed under the organisms for which acquired resistance may be a problem, however, as explained above, no additional restriction was considered warranted in section 4.1 of the SmPC, considering that a new warning on resistance was added in section 4.4.

# **Erythema migrans (early localised Lyme disease)**

Considering the available data on efficacy in the light of the known safety profile for azithromycin, the CHMP concluded that the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products in the treatment of erythema migrans (early localised Lyme disease) remains positive for solid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, dispersible tablets in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, liquid oral formulations in paediatric patients aged 6 months and older weighing less than 45 kg and adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg who are unable to swallow solid pharmaceutical forms. Further, as more recent studies and recent EU and US treatment guidelines recommend longer treatment duration with azithromycin in erythema migrans the CHMP considered that the treatment duration should be extended from 5 to 10 days in the dosing recommendations in section 4.2 of the SmPC.

# Periodontal abscesses and periodontitis

The CHMP reviewed the data corresponding to the broad indication of dental / odontostomatological infections, with a view of refining it and specifying for which defined condition(s) the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin is positive. The indication "dental infections" was present in some SmPCs whereas "periodontal abscesses and periodontitis" was already included in other PIs. Most of the clinical trials where conducted in periodontal abscesses and periodontitis. Overall, within the field of dental infections CHMP, in line with IDWP, concluded that the azithromycin-containing medicinal products are efficacious in the indications "periodontal abscesses and periodontitis".

It has been, however, noted in guidelines that antibiotics should only be used as an adjunct to mechanical debridement and that good oral hygiene is crucial for long-term success, therefore physicians should consult the local official guidance as per the recommendation in section 4.1. In addition, the limited antibacterial activity of azithromycin against organisms of the *Bacteroides fragilis* group was highlighted leading to the inclusion of *Bacteroides* spp. in the list of organisms for which acquired resistance may be a problem in section 5.1 of the SmPC.

In view of the above, considering the available data on efficacy in the light of the known safety profile for azithromycin, the CHMP concluded that the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products is positive for the treatment of periodontal abscesses and periodontitis for solid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, dispersible tablets in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, liquid oral formulations in paediatric patients aged 6 months and older weighing less than 45 kg and adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg who are unable to swallow solid pharmaceutical forms.

# Sexually transmitted diseases caused by *Chlamydia trachomatis*, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* or *Mycoplasma genitalium* (urethritis, cervicitis, chronic prostatitis)

The CHMP reviewed the data supporting the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin in the treatment of these conditions caused by *Chlamydia trachomatis* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Consideration was also given to these when caused by *M. genitalium*, although it was not specifically referred to in preexisting indications.

Clinical data showed that azithromycin is generally effective as a single oral 2 g dose for the treatment of acute gonococcal urethritis/cervicitis. However, the European Guideline on Diagnosis and Treatment of Gonorrhoea in Adults (2020) recommends that when azithromycin is used for gonococcal infections, it should be given in combination with ceftriaxone. The use of azithromycin in monotherapy for the treatment of urogenital infections due to *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* is not recommended unless the organism is shown to be susceptible. When immediate laboratory evaluations (e.g. Gram stain) of urethral specimens are accessible, the empiric treatment for gonococcal urethritis involves ceftriaxone.

As suggested by the IDWP, the CHMP considered that a warning should be added in section 4.4 to reflect the fact that *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* is very likely to be resistant to macrolides, including azithromycin. Therefore, azithromycin is not recommended for the treatment of uncomplicated gonorrhoea and pelvic inflammatory disease unless laboratory results have confirmed susceptibility of the organism to azithromycin. If left untreated or treated sub-optimally, this condition may lead to late onset complications such as infertility and ectopic pregnancy. The statement is cross-referred to at the beginning of section 4.1 and the warning itself cross-refers to section 5.1 of the SmPC where *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* is listed in the table listing the organisms for which acquired resistance may be a problem.

Regarding chlamydial urethritis/cervicitis, earlier studies and more recent literature data demonstrated that a single dose of azithromycin was as safe and effective as a standard 7-day regimen of doxycycline.

Regarding chronic prostatitis, azithromycin is known to show *in vitro* activity against *Chlamydia trachomatis*, therefore following the advice of IDWP this indication should be limited to this pathogen. The efficacy was also supported by the available clinical data.

While urethritis and cervicitis due to *Mycoplasma genitalium* was not mentioned in the indications, it can be considered part of a broad indication included in some SmPCs in the form of "mycoplasmosis". Based on the available EU treatment guidelines the IDWP suggested to include it explicitly in the authorised indication for those azithromycin-containing medicinal products with appropriate pharmaceutical form and strengths, with a 5-day treatment course. This was however not supported by CHMP considering the already high rates of selection for resistance mutations and more recent data indicating reduced efficacy (Mitjà et al. 2023). Furthermore, given that testing for *M. genitalium* may not be broadly available and due to the high risk of emergence of resistance in this organism, a warning was added to section 4.4 for concomitant urogenital infection by *Mycoplasma genitalium* to be excluded before considering the treatment of urethritis and cervicitis due to *Neisseria gonorrhoea* or *Chlamydia trachomatis* with the single dose regimens.

Considering the available data on efficacy in the light of the known safety profile for azithromycin, the CHMP concluded that the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products is positive for treatment of urethritis and cervicitis caused by *Chlamydia trachomatis or Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (the latter in combination with another appropriate antibacterial agent (e.g. ceftriaxone)), and chronic prostatitis caused by *Chlamydia trachomatis* for solid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, dispersible tablets in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, and liquid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg who are unable to swallow solid pharmaceutical forms.

# Chancroid

Treatment of uncomplicated infections of the uro-genital tract by *Haemophilus ducreyi* with oral azithromycin is sufficiently supported the available data. The CHMP concluded that the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products is positive in the treatment of chancroid for solid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, dispersible tablets in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, and liquid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg who are unable to swallow solid pharmaceutical forms.

# Pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), in combination with other appropriate antibacterial agent(s) (e.g. metronidazole)

Clinical studies showed similar efficacy of azithromycin alone or in combination in PID compared to other antibiotics, however, based on the current clinical guidelines, the role of azithromycin for the treatment of PID is limited given that it is only recommended as part of alternative regimens. In addition, monotherapy with azithromycin is seldom recommended and there is a general trend to add

metronidazole to all regimens for the treatment of PID. The PID indication is limited to adults only, considering that there is no relevant use of azithromycin for the treatment of pelvic inflammatory disease in children under 12 years of age and that the safety and efficacy in adolescent girls have not been established.

As explained above in relation to other sexually transmitted diseases, in view of the increased rates of resistance reported in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* CHMP supported the suggestion from the IDWP to include a statement warning against empirical treatment with azithromycin and highlighting the need for susceptibility testing.

If azithromycin is used for the treatment of PID (which is only recommended as part of alternative regimens or in very concrete situations), treatment should always be initiated intravenously. While the SmPCs of the intravenous formulation foresee the possibility to switch to oral formulations to continue the treatment, PID was not reflected under 4.1 in those SmPCs. Therefore, and considering the supportive data available, the CHMP considered that the SmPC of the oral formulations should be aligned with the existing recommendations in the SmPC for IV formulations.

In view of the above, considering the available data on efficacy in the light of the known safety profile for azithromycin, the CHMP confirmed that the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products is positive in the treatment of PID in combination with other appropriate antibacterial agent(s) in adults for the intravenous formulation, and as follow-up treatment to IV azithromycin for the oral solid formulations, including dispersible tablets.

# Disseminated *Mycobacterium avium* complex (DMAC) infection in people living with advanced HIV infection, in combination with ethambutol and prophylaxis of *Mycobacterium avium* complex (MAC) infection in people living with HIV with inadequate immune restoration

These indications are expected to occur very rarely given the current recommendations for treatment of HIV and the availability of potent antiretroviral regimens.

The test and treat approach with highly potent combined antiretroviral regimens have sharply reduced the likelihood of opportunistic infections thanks to the adequate and sustained immune restoration. Consequently, prophylaxis is no longer recommended if antiretroviral therapy has started according to EU treatment guidelines (EACS, 2023). Nevertheless, in the few patients harbouring multi-resistant strains with no optimal therapeutic management, the need for prophylaxis is still considered relevant in people living with HIV (PLWHIV) with CD4 counts <50 cells/µL who remain viraemic on antiretroviral therapy, this indication should therefore be limited to these patients.

Given the recommended posology of 1200 mg once weekly for MAC *prophylaxis*, this requires the availability of the 600 mg strength. However, as this strength is not generally available, the posology should be updated to 1250 mg once weekly (in line with EACS Guidelines version 12.0, October 2023) in the SmPCs including this indication but lacking the information on the appropriate strength.

With respect to *treatment* of disseminated MAC, clinical data found comparable efficacy of azithromycin and clarithromycin, and taking also into account on PK studies the CHMP agreed that a dose of 500mg or 600 mg once daily would be adequate. Adolescents weighing at least 45 kg are included in section 4.1 of the SmPC of the solid oral azithromycin formulations considering that efficacy can be extrapolated from adults with the same weight, while the efficacy of azithromycin for the prevention or treatment of MAC infections have not been established in children.

Current recommendations include the use of azithromycin at a dose of 500 or 600 mg once daily in combination with other antimycobacterial agents. Therefore, dosing recommendation should be aligned to the strengths available in the respective SmPC (i.e. revised to 500 mg or remain 600 mg once daily).

The duration of therapy with azithromycin in the indication treatment and prophylaxis of MAC will depend on various patient-specific factors (e.g. ART, CD4 cell counts, safety and tolerability while on azithromycin therapy, other opportunistic infections), which must be taken into account by the treating physician. Given the above and the fact that section 4.2 include the following information: "Considerations should be given to the treatment regimens, doses and duration of treatment as recommended in updated treatment guidelines for each indication." length of azithromycin therapy for these two indications is not included in section 4.2.

Furthermore, both indications were included in the SmPCs for liquid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg, only when unable to swallow solid pharmaceutical forms.

Regarding children under 12 years of age, the safety and efficacy for the prevention or treatment of MAC have not been established. Based on paediatric pharmacokinetic data, a dose of 20 mg/kg would be similar to the adult dose of 1200 mg but with a higher  $C_{\text{max}}$ . Given that currently the recommendation for children living with HIV is to initiate antiretroviral treatment as soon as the diagnosis is made and given the potential need for long-term treatment with azithromycin, an indication for prophylaxis or treatment of MAC infection would not be considered appropriate for children.

In view of the above, considering the available data on efficacy in the light of the known safety profile for azithromycin, the CHMP concluded that the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products is positive for azithromycin in:

- Treatment of disseminated *Mycobacterium avium* complex (DMAC) infection in persons living with advanced HIV infection, in combination with ethambutol
- Prophylaxis of *Mycobacterium avium* complex (MAC) infections in persons living with HIV with inadequate immune restoration.

This applies to adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg for the 600 mg tablets (and 500 mg tablets, when it is already authorised), as well as for the dispersible tablets in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg and for the liquid oral formulations in adults and adolescents weighing at least 45 kg who are unable to swallow solid pharmaceutical forms.

However, the benefit-risk balance of the following indications for the oral formulations of azithromycin was considered **negative**, and these should be removed from the product information of those products in which they are currently included:

# · Moderate acne vulgaris

Azithromycin was authorised in this indication in very few MS. However, over time the role of antibiotics in acne therapy has changed. Currently, oral antibiotics in general as part of a treatment regimen are considered a second- or third-line therapy in patients that did not respond to previous treatments. While there is data suggesting some efficacy for the treatment of moderate acne vulgaris with azithromycin, its use for 9 to 12 weeks and beyond has been associated to macrolide resistance in C. acnes, a member of the normal skin microbiota and to disturbance of the latter. The CHMP noted that according to current US guidelines referenced also by IDWP, azithromycin may have only a residual role for the treatment of moderate acne when tetracyclines such as doxycycline or minocycline are unsuitable. Sardana et al. 2021 recommended restricting the use of oral azithromycin for acne, considering the risk of resistance, the indications of azithromycin for important infectious diseases and evidence of low efficacy in acne therapy. According to the authors, consequently non-antibiotic therapies are advocated.

Overall, considering the change in the therapeutic landscape towards non-antimicrobial treatments, the risk of long term treatment in terms of selection for resistance (supported by more recent

susceptibility data) together with the insufficient evidence available to support this indication, the CHMP, following the advice of IDWP, concluded that the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products in the treatment of moderate acne vulgaris is negative.

# • Eradication of Helicobacter pylori

The management of *H.pylori* infections is well established in existing therapeutic guidelines and mainly relies more recently on a bismuth quadruple therapy (i.e. PPI, bismuth, tetracycline, metronidazole) for empirical first line therapy. Azithromycin is not listed in European or international guidelines for the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection, this indication was authorised in two MSs. Treatment regimens that have achieved an eradication rate of at least ≥80% in intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis in randomised, controlled treatment trials should be used.

To date, the clinical demonstration in support of the use of macrolides in such indication only relied on clarithromycin, which is the unique macrolide part of the therapeutic guidelines in this indication. Due to the design of study SUM-AD-05-97-HR-2, which included azithromycin treatment in both arms and thus did not compare azithromycin with an established standard treatment without azithromycin, this study is not considered sufficient to support the efficacy of azithromycin for  $Helicobacter\ pylori$  eradication. Even though data on clinical efficacy of azithromycin as part of a treatment regime for  $Helicobacter\ pylori$  eradication are available, a review of more recent scientific literature shows that the heterogeneity of combinations, doses and durations of treatment across the published studies (with eradication rates ranging from 15 to 90%) is such that an eradication rates of  $\geq 80\%$  of azithromycin as part of a treatment regimen for  $Helicobacter\ pylori$  eradication cannot be considered adequately demonstrated. All in all, no sufficient microbiological or clinical evidence from RCTs is available to support the efficacy of azithromycin in the indication 'Gastro-duodenal infections caused by  $Helicobacter\ pylori\ (Helicobacter\ pylori)$ '.

In view of the above and considering the increasing resistance rate of clarithromycin in *Helicobacter pylori* and the high cross-resistance between macrolides, the CHMP, following the advice of the IDWP, considered the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin for the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infections negative.

# Prevention of exacerbations of eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic asthma

Various clinical trials, including with other regimens, have been performed to support the use of azithromycin for this indication, with conflicting results. This indication was initially authorised in very few MS, based on a randomised and double-blind study evaluating this regimen as an add-on for the prevention of exacerbations of eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic asthma in adult patients with symptomatic asthma, who are already receiving treatment with medium and high doses of inhaled glucocorticosteroids and a long-acting  $\beta$ -2 agonist. However, two more recent systematic reviews and meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials concluded that add-on therapy of azithromycin failed to be effective to treat asthma exacerbations and other relevant endpoints.

Therefore, the CHMP, following the advice of the IDWP, concluded that the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin for the prevention of exacerbations of eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic asthma is negative.

# Other changes

The CHMP further considered that a number of additional changes were needed to the product information of azithromycin-containing medicinal products for systemic use.

In addition to the changes highlighted above, the posology and method of administration section was further revised to provide appropriate and up-to-date guidance on the use of azithromycin to

prescribers. The CHMP reviewed the current available data and harmonised the contraindications associated with the use of azithromycin.

The CHMP also reviewed the existing data on adverse reactions and exposure during pregnancy observed with the use of azithromycin and provided revisions for section 4.6 and 4.8 in accordance with the advice from PRAC.

Further changes considered necessary for the product information pertained to the updates of interactions, information on adverse events, and on the prevalence of resistance to azithromycin in the organisms that are relevant for the indications for which the benefit-risk balance is considered positive.

In addition, information recommending against the use of azithromycin for the treatment of malaria based on studies in children (PT/W/0007/pdWS/001) was removed from SmPC section 5.1. Considering that azithromycin is not recommended for treatment of malaria by any current treatment guideline and the low investigational activity evaluating azithromycin used in malaria, the CHMP concluded that the risk of off-label use was low. Therefore, the information on the negative study results is no longer relevant for prescribing physicians.

The package leaflet was amended accordingly.

MAHs are also reminded of their obligation to maintain the product information up to date, this includes the statements on excipients with known effect, as well as instructions for reconstitution and administration, particularly those of the powder for oral suspension in bottle.

#### Conclusion

Overall, the CHMP considered that the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products for systemic use remains favourable subject to the agreed amendments to the product information.

# 5. Grounds for Opinion

Whereas,

- The Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP) considered the procedure under Article 31 of Directive 2001/83/EC for azithromycin-containing medicinal products for systemic use.
- The CHMP considered the totality of the available data including from clinical studies, pharmacokinetics studies, pharmacodynamics studies, epidemiological studies, susceptibility testing, scientific literature and post-marketing reporting, submitted by the marketing authorisation holders in writing, as well as the outcome of a consultation with the Infectious Disease Working Party and the Pharmacovigilance Risk Assessment Committee (PRAC).
- The CHMP concluded that indications should be revised, but that the efficacy of azithromycincontaining medicinal products for systemic use continued to outweigh its risks, in different age groups depending on indications and with specificities in term of formulations in the treatment of:
  - Acute streptococcal tonsillitis and pharyngitis,
  - Acute bacterial sinusitis,
  - Acute bacterial otitis media,
  - Community-acquired pneumonia,

- Acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections,
- Erythema migrans (early localised Lyme disease),
- Periodontal abscesses and periodontitis,
- o Urethritis and cervicitis caused by Chlamydia trachomatis,
- Urethritis and cervicitis caused by Neisseria gonorrhoeae, in combination with another appropriate antibacterial agent (e.g. ceftriaxone),
- o Chronic prostatitis caused by Chlamydia trachomatis,
- Chancroid,
- Disseminated Mycobacterium avium complex (DMAC) infection in people living with advanced HIV infection, in combination with ethambutol,
- Acute exacerbations of chronic bronchitis,
- Pelvic inflammatory disease in combination with other appropriate antibacterial agent(s) (e.g. metronidazole),

and in the prophylaxis of *Mycobacterium avium* complex (MAC) infection in people living with HIV with inadequate immune restoration.

- In the context of evolving treatment standards and the concern over selection for resistance with long-term treatment, the CHMP considered that the data available do not demonstrate a positive benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products for systemic use in the treatment of (moderate) acne vulgaris and of gastro-duodenal infections caused by *Helicobacter pylori*. Further, recent data cast serious doubts on the efficacy of azithromycin in the prevention of exacerbations of eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic asthma, and the CHMP concluded that the benefit-risk balance is also negative in this indication.
- The CHMP considered that new warnings should be included in relation to the potential for
  resistance in general, as well as the need for susceptibility testing prior to treatment of
  sexually transmitted infections, and the exclusion of certain pathogens before treatment of
  some of these infections. Special warnings and precautions were otherwise harmonised.
- The CHMP considered that revisions of the dosage regimen for azithromycin-containing medicinal products for systemic use were needed for streptococcal tonsillitis and erythema migrans, while adjustments were introduced for the various approved indications and patient subpopulations. In addition, the need to consider treatment guidelines was highlighted.
- The CHMP also reviewed the existing data on adverse reactions observed with the use of azithromycin-containing medicinal products for systemic use and concluded that the required updates to reflect the data adequately.
- Finally, the CHMP recommended updates to the adverse events section and to the
  recommendations for pregnancy and lactation in the product to reflect the available clinical and
  non-clinical data on exposure in pregnancy. The interactions as well as pharmacokinetic and
  pharmacodynamic data in the product information also needed to be updated.

In view of the above, the Committee considers that the benefit-risk balance of azithromycin-containing medicinal products for systemic use remains favourable subject to the agreed amendments to the product information.

The Committee, as a consequence, recommends the variation to the terms of the marketing authorisations for azithromycin-containing medicinal products for systemic use.	

# References

Abdelazeem, B., R. M. Hollander, S. Ayad, K. Gergis and M. E. Gismalla (2021). "Azithromycin-Induced Bradycardia." Cureus 13(8): e16995.

Agah, S., B. Shazad and B. Abbaszadeh (2009). "Comparison of azithromycin and metronidazole in a quadruple-therapy regimen for Helicobacter pylori eradication in dyspepsia." Saudi J Gastroenterol 15(4): 225-228.

al-Assi, M. T., R. M. Genta, T. J. Karttunen, R. A. Cole and D. Y. Graham (1995). "Azithromycin triple therapy for Helicobacter pylori infection: azithromycin, tetracycline, and bismuth." Am J Gastroenterol 90(3): 403-405.

Al-Salloum, J., S. W. Gillani, R. K. Mahmood and S. M. Gulam (2021). "Comparative efficacy of azithromycin versus clarithromycin in combination with beta-lactams to treat community-acquired pneumonia in hospitalized patients: a systematic review." J Int Med Res 49(10): 3000605211049943.

Al Saeedy, D., S. W. Gillani, J. Al-Salloum, A. Moosvi, M. Eissa and S. M. Gulam (2020). "Comparative Efficacy of Beta-Lactams and Macrolides in the Treatment of Pediatric Pneumonia: A Systematic Review." Curr Pediatr Rev 16(4): 307-313.

Alagić-Smailbegović, J., E. Saracević and K. Sutalo (2006). "Azithromycin versus amoxicillin-clavulanate in the treatment of acute sinusitis in children." Bosn J Basic Med Sci 6(4): 76-78.

Albert, R. H. (2010). "Diagnosis and treatment of acute bronchitis." Am Fam Physician 82(11): 1345-1350.

Altenburg, J., C. S. de Graaff, Y. Stienstra, J. H. Sloos, E. H. van Haren, R. J. Koppers, T. S. van der Werf and W. G. Boersma (2013). "Effect of azithromycin maintenance treatment on infectious exacerbations among patients with non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis: the BAT randomized controlled trial." Jama 309(12): 1251-1259.

Amsden, G. W., G. Foulds and K. Thakker (2000). "Pharmacokinetic study of azithromycin with fluconazole and cotrimoxazole (trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole) in healthy volunteers." Clin Drug Investig 20(2): 135-142.

Amsden, G. W. and C. L. Gray (2001). "Serum and WBC pharmacokinetics of 1500 mg of azithromycin when given either as a single dose or over a 3 day period in healthy volunteers." J Antimicrob Chemother 47(1): 61-66.

Amsden, G. W., A. N. Nafziger and G. Foulds (1999). "Pharmacokinetics in serum and leukocyte exposures of oral azithromycin, 1,500 milligrams, given over a 3- or 5-day period in healthy subjects." Antimicrob Agents Chemother 43(1): 163-165.

Ardila, C. M. and J. A. Bedoya-García (2022). "Antimicrobial resistance in patients with odontogenic infections: A systematic scoping review of prospective and experimental studies." J Clin Exp Dent 14(10): e834-e845.

Arguedas, A., C. Soley, B. J. Kamicker and D. M. Jorgensen (2011). "Single-dose extended-release azithromycin versus a 10-day regimen of amoxicillin/clavulanate for the treatment of children with acute otitis media." Int J Infect Dis 15(4): e240-248.

Arnez, M., D. Pleterski-Rigler, T. Luznik-Bufon, E. Ruzić-Sabljić and F. Strle (2002). "Solitary erythema migrans in children: comparison of treatment with azithromycin and phenoxymethylpenicillin." Wien Klin Wochenschr 114(13-14): 498-504.

- Arnež, M. and E. Ružić-Sabljić (2015). "Azithromycin Is Equally Effective as Amoxicillin in Children with Solitary Erythema Migrans." Pediatr Infect Dis J 34(10): 1045-1048.
- Arredondo, A., V. Blanc, C. Mor, J. Nart and R. León (2019). "Azithromycin and erythromycin susceptibility and macrolide resistance genes in Prevotella from patients with periodontal disease." Oral Dis 25(3): 860-867.
- Arrieta, A., A. Arguedas, P. Fernandez, S. L. Block, P. Emperanza, S. L. Vargas, W. A. Erhardt, P. J. de Caprariis and C. D. Rothermel (2003). "High-dose azithromycin versus high-dose amoxicillin-clavulanate for treatment of children with recurrent or persistent acute otitis media." Antimicrob Agents Chemother 47(10): 3179-3186.
- Baldwin, D. R., R. Wise, J. M. Andrews, J. P. Ashby and D. Honeybourne (1990). "Azithromycin concentrations at the sites of pulmonary infection." Eur Respir J 3(8): 886-890.
- Barkai, G., D. Greenberg, N. Givon-Lavi, E. Dreifuss, D. Vardy and R. Dagan (2005). "Community prescribing and resistant Streptococcus pneumoniae." Emerg Infect Dis 11(6): 829-837.
- Barsic, B., T. Maretic, L. Majerus and J. Strugar (2000). "Comparison of azithromycin and doxycycline in the treatment of erythema migrans." Infection 28(3): 153-156.
- Basta-Juzbasić, A., J. Lipozencić, L. Oremović, L. Kotrulja, F. Gruber, I. Brajac, D. Marasović, D. Andjelinović, L. Herceg-Harjacek and L. Cvitković (2007). "A dose-finding study of azithromycin in the treatment of acne vulgaris." Acta Dermatovenerol Croat 15(3): 141-147.
- Berbel, D., A. González-Díaz, G. López de Egea, J. Càmara and C. Ardanuy (2022). "An Overview of Macrolide Resistance in Streptococci: Prevalence, Mobile Elements and Dynamics." Microorganisms 10(12).
- Bertoni, G., R. Sassatelli, E. Nigrisoli, P. Tansini, G. Bianchi, G. Della Casa, A. Bagni and G. Bedogni (1996). "Triple therapy with azithromycin, omeprazole, and amoxicillin is highly effective in the eradication of Helicobacter pylori: a controlled trial versus omeprazole plus amoxicillin." Am J Gastroenterol 91(2): 258-263.
- Bevan, C. D., G. L. Ridgway and C. D. Rothermel (2003). "Efficacy and safety of azithromycin as monotherapy or combined with metronidazole compared with two standard multidrug regimens for the treatment of acute pelvic inflammatory disease." J Int Med Res 31(1): 45-54.
- Bischoff, W. E., M. L. Wallis, K. B. Tucker, B. A. Reboussin and R. J. Sherertz (2004). "Staphylococcus aureus nasal carriage in a student community: prevalence, clonal relationships, and risk factors." Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 25(6): 485-491.
- Bradley, J. S., C. L. Byington, S. S. Shah, B. Alverson, E. R. Carter, C. Harrison, S. L. Kaplan, S. E. Mace, G. H. McCracken, Jr., M. R. Moore, S. D. St Peter, J. A. Stockwell and J. T. Swanson (2011). "Executive summary: the management of community-acquired pneumonia in infants and children older than 3 months of age: clinical practice guidelines by the Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society and the Infectious Diseases Society of America." Clin Infect Dis 53(7): 617-630.
- Bujanda, L., O. P. Nyssen, D. Vaira, I. M. Saracino, G. Fiorini, F. Lerang, S. Georgopoulos, B. Tepes, F. Heluwaert, A. Gasbarrini, T. Rokkas, D. Bordin, S. Smith, V. Lamy, M. Caldas, E. Resina, R. Muñoz, Á. Cosme, I. Puig, F. Megraud, C. O'Morain and J. P. Gisbert (2021). "Antibiotic Resistance Prevalence and Trends in Patients Infected with Helicobacter pylori in the Period 2013-2020: Results of the European Registry on H. pylori Management (Hp-EuReg)." Antibiotics (Basel) 10(9).
- Burr, L. D., S. L. Taylor, A. Richard, V. Schreiber, S. Lingman, M. Martin, L. E. Papanicolas, J. M. Choo and G. B. Rogers (2022). "Assessment of Long-Term Macrolide Exposure on the Oropharyngeal

Microbiome and Macrolide Resistance in Healthy Adults and Consequences for Onward Transmission of Resistance." Antimicrob Agents Chemother 66(4): e0224621.

Cadenas-Jiménez I, Saiz-Escobedo L, Carrera-Salinas A, Camprubí-Márquez X, Calvo-Silveria S, Camps-Massa P, Berbel D, Tubau F, Santos S, Domínguez MA, González-Díaz A, Ardanuy C, Martí S. Molecular characterization of macrolide resistance in Haemophilus influenzae and Haemophilus parainfluenzae strains (2018-21). J Antimicrob Chemother. 2024 Sep 3;79(9):2194-2203. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkae214. PMID: 38946313.

Cammarota, G., A. Papa, R. Cianci, O. Cannizzaro, A. Armuzzi, A. Gasbarrini, G. Addolorato and G. B. Gasbarrini (1999). "Three-day antibiotic therapy with azithromycin and tinidazole plus lansoprazole or pantoprazole to cure Helicobacter pylori infection: a pilot study." Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 11(3): 247-250.

Cammarota, G., A. Tursi, A. Papa, M. Montalto, G. Veneto, L. Cuoco, G. Fedeli and G. Gasbarrini (1996). "Helicobacter pylori eradication using one-week low-dose lansoprazole plus amoxycillin and either clarithromycin or azithromycin." Aliment Pharmacol Ther 10(6): 997-1000.

Cantón R, Barberán J, Linares M, Molero JM, Rodríguez-González-Moro JM, Salavert M, González Del Castillo J. Decalogue for the selection of oral antibiotics for lower respiratory tract infections. Rev Esp Quimioter. 2022 Feb;35(1):16-29. doi: 10.37201/req/172.2021. Epub 2022 Jan 19. PMID: 35041328; PMCID: PMC8790641.

Carpenter, A. E. and M. E. Hofto (2023). "Clinical progress note: Update in management in community acquired pneumonia in children." J Hosp Med 18(9): 837-840.

Carr TF, Zeki AA, Kraft M. Eosinophilic and Noneosinophilic Asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018 Jan 1;197(1):22-37.

Carrera-Salinas, A., A. González-Díaz, R. L. Ehrlich, D. Berbel, F. Tubau, X. Pomares, J. Garmendia, M. Domínguez, C. Ardanuy, D. Huertas, A. Marín, C. Montón, J. C. Mell, S. Santos and S. Marti (2023). "Genetic Adaptation and Acquisition of Macrolide Resistance in Haemophilus spp. during Persistent Respiratory Tract Colonization in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Patients Receiving Long-Term Azithromycin Treatment." Microbiol Spectr 11(1): e0386022.

Caselli, M., L. Trevisani, A. Tursi, S. Sartori, M. Ruina, I. Luzzi, P. Gaudenzi, V. Alvisi and G. Gasbarrini (1997). "Short-term low-dose triple therapy with azithromycin, metronidazole and lansoprazole appears highly effective for the eradication of Helicobacter pylori." Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 9(1): 45-48.

Casiano, R. R. (1991). "Azithromycin and amoxicillin in the treatment of acute maxillary sinusitis." Am J Med 91(3a): 27s-30s.

Chey, W. D., L. Fisher, J. Barnett, J. Delvalle, G. H. Elta, W. L. Hasler, T. Nostrant, J. Palaniappan and J. Scheiman (1998). "Low- versus high-dose azithromycin triple therapy for Helicobacter pylori infection." Aliment Pharmacol Ther 12(12): 1263-1267.

Chua T.P. Evolving antimicrobial resistance in Mycoplasma genitalium: an updated global systematic review and meta-analysis. Late breaker abstract LB2.1. World STI and HIV Congress; 2023.

Ciftçi, E., U. Dogru, H. Güriz, D. Aysev and E. Ince (2002). "Investigation of risk factors for tonsillopharyngitis with macrolide resistant Streptococcus pyogenes in Turkish children." Pediatr Int 44(6): 647-651.

- Cluver, C., N. Novikova, D. O. Eriksson, K. Bengtsson and G. K. Lingman (2017). "Interventions for treating genital Chlamydia trachomatis infection in pregnancy." Cochrane Database Syst Rev 9(9): Cd010485.
- Cohen, R., P. Reinert, F. De La Rocque, C. Levy, M. Boucherat, M. Robert, M. Navel, N. Brahimi, D. Deforche, B. Palestro and E. Bingen (2002). "Comparison of two dosages of azithromycin for three days versus penicillin V for ten days in acute group A streptococcal tonsillopharyngitis." Pediatr Infect Dis J 21(4): 297-303.
- Cole, M. J., M. Day, S. Jacobsson, A. J. Amato-Gauci, G. Spiteri and M. Unemo (2022). "The European response to control and manage multi- and extensively drug-resistant Neisseria gonorrhoeae." Euro Surveill 27(18).
- Cole, M. J., W. Tan, H. Fifer, C. Brittain, L. Duley, T. Hepburn, T. Lawrence, A. A. Montgomery, K. Sprange, S. Thandi, C. Churchward, F. Tripodo, N. Woodford and J. D. C. Ross (2020). "Gentamicin, azithromycin and ceftriaxone in the treatment of gonorrhoea: the relationship between antibiotic MIC and clinical outcome." J Antimicrob Chemother 75(2): 449-457.
- Coulibaly, B., D. Kiemde, G. Zonou, A. Sié, C. Dah, M. Bountogo, J. Brogdon, H. Hu, E. Lebas, T. C. Porco, T. Doan, T. M. Lietman and C. E. Oldenburg (2022). "Effect of Single-dose Azithromycin on Pneumococcal Carriage and Resistance: A Randomized Controlled Trial." Pediatr Infect Dis J 41(9): 728-730.
- Crescioli, G., V. Brilli, C. Lanzi, A. Burgalassi, A. Ieri, R. Bonaiuti, E. Romano, R. Innocenti, G. Mannaioni, A. Vannacci and N. Lombardi (2021). "Adverse drug reactions in SARS-CoV-2 hospitalised patients: a case-series with a focus on drug-drug interactions." Intern Emerg Med 16(3): 697-710.
- Christova I, Komitova R. Comparative Study of Azithromycin versus Doxycycline for Treatment of Early Lyme Borreliosis. *European Journal of Inflammation*. 2003;1(3):109-112.
- Dagan, R., C. E. Johnson, S. McLinn, N. Abughali, J. Feris, E. Leibovitz, D. J. Burch and M. R. Jacobs (2000). "Bacteriologic and clinical efficacy of amoxicillin/clavulanate vs. azithromycin in acute otitis media." Pediatr Infect Dis J 19(2): 95-104.
- Dagan, R., E. Leibovitz, D. M. Fliss, A. Leiberman, M. R. Jacobs, W. Craig and P. Yagupsky (2000). "Bacteriologic efficacies of oral azithromycin and oral cefaclor in treatment of acute otitis media in infants and young children." Antimicrob Agents Chemother 44(1): 43-50.
- Dalby J, Stoner BP. Sexually Transmitted Infections: Updates From the 2021 CDC Guidelines. Am Fam Physician. 2022 May 1;105(5):514-520. PMID: 35559639.
- Dawit, G., S. Mequanent and E. Makonnen (2021). "Efficacy and safety of azithromycin and amoxicillin/clavulanate for otitis media in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials." Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob 20(1): 28.
- Day, M. J., S. Jacobsson, G. Spiteri, C. Kulishev, N. Sajedi, N. Woodford, B. Blumel, M. J. van der Werf, A. J. Amato-Gauci, M. Unemo, M. J. Cole, C. Eder, S. Pleininger, S. Huhlescu, I. de Baetselier, B. Hunjak, T. N. Blažić, P. Maikanti-Charalampous, D. Pieridou, H. Zákoucká, H. Žemličková, S. Hoffmann, S. Cowan, R. Peetso, J. Viktorova, N. Ndeikoundam, B. Bercot, A. P. Sampo, V. Kirjavainen, S. Buder, K. Jansen, V. Miriagou, E. Balla, M. Dudás, G. Sigmundsdóttir, L. R. Asmundsdottir, S. Saab, B. Crowley, A. Carannante, P. Stefanelli, G. Pakarna, V. Mavcutko, R. Cassar, C. Barbara, F. Vella, A. Van Dam, I. Linde, D. Caugant, H. Kløvstad, B. Mlynarczyk-Bonikowska, M.-J. Borrego, P. Pavlik, I. Klavs, T. Kustec, J. Vazquez, A. Diaz, R. A. Torreblanca, I. Velicko, M. Unemo, H. Fifer, K. Templeton and G. n. The Euro (2022). "Significant increase in azithromycin "resistance" and susceptibility to

- ceftriaxone and cefixime in Neisseria gonorrhoeae isolates in 26 European countries, 2019." BMC Infectious Diseases 22(1): 524.
- Di Mario, F., N. Dal Bó, S. A. Grassi, M. Rugge, M. Cassaro, P. M. Donisi, F. Vianello, S. Kusstatscher, S. Salandin, G. A. Grasso, M. Ferrana and G. Battaglia (1996). "Azithromycin for the cure of Helicobacter pylori infection." Am J Gastroenterol 91(2): 264-267.
- Diaby, V., R. D. Almutairi, Z. Chen, R. K. Moussa and A. Berthe (2021). "A pharmacovigilance study to quantify the strength of association between the combination of antimalarial drugs and azithromycin and cardiac arrhythmias: implications for the treatment of COVID-19." Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res 21(1): 159-168.
- Di Mario F, Dal Bo N, Ferrana M et al. Azithromycin: A new useful therapeutic strategy for the eradication of Helicobacter pylori infection. Modification of serum gastrin, pepsinogen and anti-HP antibodies (IgG). The VIIth Workshop on Gastro-duodenal Pathology and Helicobacter pylori, Houston, Texas, Sep 30 Oct 1, 1994.
- Djamin, R. S., S. Talman, E. J. A. Schrauwen, C. J. H. von Wintersdorff, P. F. Wolffs, P. H. M. Savelkoul, S. Uzun, R. Kerstens, M. M. van der Eerden and J. Kluytmans (2020). "Prevalence and abundance of selected genes conferring macrolide resistance genes in COPD patients during maintenance treatment with azithromycin." Antimicrob Resist Infect Control 9(1): 116.
- Dong, J., X. F. Yu and J. Zou (2009). "Azithromycin-containing versus standard triple therapy for Helicobacter pylori eradication: a meta-analysis." World J Gastroenterol 15(48): 6102-6110.
- Eberl, S., B. Renner, A. Neubert, M. Reisig, I. Bachmakov, J. König, F. Dörje, T. E. Mürdter, A. Ackermann, H. Dormann, K. G. Gassmann, E. G. Hahn, S. Zierhut, K. Brune and M. F. Fromm (2007). "Role of p-glycoprotein inhibition for drug interactions: evidence from in vitro and pharmacoepidemiological studies." Clin Pharmacokinet 46(12): 1039-1049.
- Eisenblätter, M., C. Klaus, M. W. Pletz, H. Orawa, H. Hahn, J. Wagner and H. Lode (2008). "Influence of azithromycin and clarithromycin on macrolide susceptibility of viridans streptococci from the oral cavity of healthy volunteers." Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 27(11): 1087-1092.
- Ferwerda, A., H. A. Moll, W. C. Hop, J. M. Kouwenberg, C. V. Tjon Pian Gi, S. G. Robben and R. de Groot (2001). "Efficacy, safety and tolerability of 3 day azithromycin versus 10 day co-amoxiclav in the treatment of children with acute lower respiratory tract infections." J Antimicrob Chemother 47(4): 441-446.
- Fine, J. S., D. P. Calello, S. M. Marcus and J. A. Lowry (2012). "2011 Pediatric fatality review of the National Poison Data System [corrected]." Clin Toxicol (Phila) 50(10): 872-874.
- Fireman, B., S. B. Black, H. R. Shinefield, J. Lee, E. Lewis and P. Ray (2003). "Impact of the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on otitis media." Pediatr Infect Dis J 22(1): 10-16.
- Foulds, G., K. H. Chan, J. T. Johnson, R. M. Shepard and R. B. Johnson (1991). "Concentrations of azithromycin in human tonsillar tissue." Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 10(10): 853-856.
- Foulds, G., D. R. Luke, R. Teng, S. A. Willavize, H. Friedman and W. J. Curatolo (1996). "The absence of an effect of food on the bioavailability of azithromycin administered as tablets, sachet or suspension." J Antimicrob Chemother 37 Suppl C: 37-44.
- Foulds, G., P. Madsen, C. Cox, R. Shepard and R. Johnson (1991). "Concentration of azithromycin in human prostatic tissue." Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 10(10): 868-871.
- Foulds, G., R. M. Shepard and R. B. Johnson (1990). "The pharmacokinetics of azithromycin in human serum and tissues." J Antimicrob Chemother 25 Suppl A: 73-82.

- Garatti, G., S. Squillaci, C. Pecunia and A. Deantoni (1997). "[Eradicating therapy of Helicobacter pylori in the duodenal ulcer]." Minerva Gastroenterol Dietol 43(1): 7-18.
- Garey, K. W. and G. W. Amsden (1999). "Intravenous azithromycin." Ann Pharmacother 33(2): 218-228.
- Garin, N., C. Marti, A. Skali Lami and V. Prendki (2022). "Atypical Pathogens in Adult Community-Acquired Pneumonia and Implications for Empiric Antibiotic Treatment: A Narrative Review." Microorganisms 10(12).
- Geisler, W. M. (2007). "Management of uncomplicated Chlamydia trachomatis infections in adolescents and adults: evidence reviewed for the 2006 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention sexually transmitted diseases treatment guidelines." Clin Infect Dis 44 Suppl 3: S77-83.
- Geisler, W. M., A. Uniyal, J. Y. Lee, S. Y. Lensing, S. Johnson, R. C. Perry, C. M. Kadrnka and P. R. Kerndt (2015). "Azithromycin versus Doxycycline for Urogenital Chlamydia trachomatis Infection." N Engl J Med 373(26): 2512-2521.
- Gerbase, A. C., J. T. Rowley, D. H. Heymann, S. F. Berkley and P. Piot (1998). "Global prevalence and incidence estimates of selected curable STDs." Sex Transm Infect 74 Suppl 1: S12-16.
- Gibson PG, Yang IA, Upham JW, Reynolds PN, Hodge S, James AL, Jenkins C, Peters MJ, Marks GB, Baraket M, Powell H, Taylor SL, Leong LEX, Rogers GB, Simpson JL. Effect of azithromycin on asthma exacerbations and quality of life in adults with persistent uncontrolled asthma (AMAZES): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2017 Aug 12;390(10095):659-668. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31281-3.
- Giebink, G. S. (2000). "Otitis media prevention: non-vaccine prophylaxis." Vaccine 19 Suppl 1: S129-133.
- Gijs, P. J., C. Daccord, E. Bernasconi, M. Brutsche, C. F. Clarenbach, K. Hostettler, S. A. Guler, L. Mercier, N. Ubags, M. Funke-Chambour and C. von Garnier (2023). "Azithromycin alters spatial and temporal dynamics of airway microbiota in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis." ERJ Open Res 9(3).
- Gomes, T., M. M. Mamdani and D. N. Juurlink (2009). "Macrolide-induced digoxin toxicity: a population-based study." Clin Pharmacol Ther 86(4): 383-386.
- Gorišek J, Rogl J. Azithromycin in the treatment of Erythema migrans. The Third ICMAS\*, Lisbon, Portugal, Jan 24-27, 1996.
- Goyal, V., K. Grimwood, C. A. Byrnes, P. S. Morris, I. B. Masters, R. S. Ware, G. B. McCallum, M. J. Binks, J. M. Marchant, P. van Asperen, K. F. O'Grady, A. Champion, H. M. Buntain, H. Petsky, P. J. Torzillo and A. B. Chang (2018). "Amoxicillin-clavulanate versus azithromycin for respiratory exacerbations in children with bronchiectasis (BEST-2): a multicentre, double-blind, non-inferiority, randomised controlled trial." Lancet 392(10154): 1197-1206.
- Greenblatt, D. J., L. L. von Moltke, J. S. Harmatz, M. Counihan, J. A. Graf, A. L. Durol, P. Mertzanis, S. X. Duan, C. E. Wright and R. I. Shader (1998). "Inhibition of triazolam clearance by macrolide antimicrobial agents: in vitro correlates and dynamic consequences." Clin Pharmacol Ther 64(3): 278-285.
- Hafner, R., J. Bethel, H. C. Standiford, S. Follansbee, D. L. Cohn, R. E. Polk, L. Mole, R. Raasch, P. Kumar, D. Mushatt and G. Drusano (2001). "Tolerance and pharmacokinetic interactions of rifabutin and azithromycin." Antimicrob Agents Chemother 45(5): 1572-1577.
- Hamill, J. (1993). "Multicentre evaluation of azithromycin and penicillin V in the treatment of acute streptococcal pharyngitis and tonsillitis in children." J Antimicrob Chemother 31 Suppl E: 89-94.

- Harris, M., J. Clark, N. Coote, P. Fletcher, A. Harnden, M. McKean and A. Thomson (2011). "British Thoracic Society guidelines for the management of community acquired pneumonia in children: update 2011." Thorax 66 Suppl 2: ii1-23.
- Hart, J. D., L. Samikwa, H. Meleke, S. E. Burr, J. Cornick, K. Kalua and R. L. Bailey (2022). "Prevalence of nasopharyngeal Streptococcus pneumoniae carriage and resistance to macrolides in the setting of azithromycin mass drug administration: analysis from a cluster-randomised controlled trial in Malawi, 2015-17." Lancet Microbe 3(2): e142-e150.
- Hazel, A., A. M. Arzika, A. Abdou, E. Lebas, T. C. Porco, R. Maliki, T. Doan, T. M. Lietman, J. D. Keenan and S. Blumberg (2023). "Temporal Trends in Phenotypic Macrolide and Nonmacrolide Resistance for Streptococcus pneumoniae Nasopharyngeal Samples Up to 36 Months after Mass Azithromycin Administration in a Cluster-Randomized Trial in Niger." Am J Trop Med Hyg 109(5): 1107-1112.
- Hedin, K., S. Thorning and M. L. van Driel (2023). "Different antibiotic treatments for group A streptococcal pharyngitis." Cochrane Database Syst Rev 11(11): Cd004406.
- Heifets, L., N. Mor and J. Vanderkolk (1993). "Mycobacterium avium strains resistant to clarithromycin and azithromycin." Antimicrob Agents Chemother 37(11): 2364-2370.
- Hoberman, A., D. Preciado, J. L. Paradise, D. H. Chi, M. Haralam, S. L. Block, D. H. Kearney, S. Bhatnagar, G. B. Muñiz Pujalt, T. R. Shope, J. M. Martin, D. E. Felten, M. Kurs-Lasky, H. Liu, K. Yahner, J. H. Jeong, N. L. Cohen, B. Czervionke, J. P. Nagg, J. E. Dohar and N. Shaikh (2021). "Tympanostomy Tubes or Medical Management for Recurrent Acute Otitis Media." N Engl J Med 384(19): 1789-1799.
- Hooi, J. K. Y., W. Y. Lai, W. K. Ng, M. M. Y. Suen, F. E. Underwood, D. Tanyingoh, P. Malfertheiner, D. Y. Graham, V. W. S. Wong, J. C. Y. Wu, F. K. L. Chan, J. J. Y. Sung, G. G. Kaplan and S. C. Ng (2017). "Global Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori Infection: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." Gastroenterology 153(2): 420-429.
- Hooton, T. M. (1991). "A comparison of azithromycin and penicillin V for the treatment of streptococcal pharyngitis." Am J Med 91(3a): 23s-26s.
- Hughes, J. H., K. Sweeney, S. Ahadieh and D. Ouellet (2020). "Predictions of Systemic, Intracellular, and Lung Concentrations of Azithromycin With Different Dosing Regimens Used in COVID-19 Clinical Trials." CPT Pharmacometrics Syst Pharmacol 9(8): 435-443.
- Iacopini, F., P. Crispino, O. A. Paoluzi, A. Consolazio, R. Pica, M. Rivera, D. Palladini, F. Nardi and P. Paoluzi (2005). "One-week once-daily triple therapy with esomeprazole, levofloxacin and azithromycin compared to a standard therapy for Helicobacter pylori eradication." Dig Liver Dis 37(8): 571-576.
- Illouz, M., M. Alcaraz, F. Roquet-Banères and L. Kremer (2021). "[Mycobacterium abscessus, a model of resistance to multiple antibiotic classes]." Med Sci (Paris) 37(11): 993-1001.
- Ivashkin, V. T., T. L. Lapina, O. Y. Bondarenko, O. A. Sklanskaya, P. Y. Grigoriev, Y. V. Vasiliev, E. P. Yakovenko, P. V. Gulyaev and V. I. Fedchenko (2002). "Azithromycin in a triple therapy for H.pylori eradication in active duodenal ulcer." World J Gastroenterol 8(5): 879-882.
- Jamal, A., A. Alsabea, M. Tarakmeh and A. Safar (2022). "Etiology, Diagnosis, Complications, and Management of Acute Otitis Media in Children." Cureus 14(8): e28019.
- Jennings, M. B., J. M. McCarty, N. M. Scheffler, A. D. Puopolo and C. D. Rothermel (2003). "Comparison of azithromycin and cefadroxil for the treatment of uncomplicated skin and skin structure infections." Cutis 72(3): 240-244.

- Jensen JS, Cusini M, Gomberg M, Moi H, Wilson J, Unemo M. 2021 European guideline on the management of Mycoplasma genitalium infections. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2022;36(5):641-650. doi: 10.1111/jdv.17972.
- Jhun, B. W., S. Y. Kim, S. M. Moon, K. Jeon, O. J. Kwon, H. J. Huh, C. S. Ki, N. Y. Lee, S. J. Shin, C. L. Daley and W. J. Koh (2018). "Development of Macrolide Resistance and Reinfection in Refractory Mycobacterium avium Complex Lung Disease." Am J Respir Crit Care Med 198(10): 1322-1330.
- Kahn, R., N. Eyal, S. O. Sow and M. Lipsitch (2023). "Mass drug administration of azithromycin: an analysis." Clin Microbiol Infect 29(3): 326-331.
- Keestra, J. A., I. Grosjean, W. Coucke, M. Quirynen and W. Teughels (2015). "Non-surgical periodontal therapy with systemic antibiotics in patients with untreated chronic periodontitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis." J Periodontal Res 50(3): 294-314.
- Kenyon, C. (2021). "Dual Azithromycin/Ceftriaxone Therapy for Gonorrhea in PrEP Cohorts Results in Levels of Macrolide Consumption That Exceed Resistance Thresholds by up to 7-Fold." J Infect Dis 224(9): 1623-1624.
- Khoshnood, A., P. Hakimi, H. Salman-Roghani and M. Reza Mirjalili (2014). "Replacement of clarithromycin with azithromycin in triple therapy regimens for the eradication of Helicobacter pylori: A randomized clinical trial." J Med Life 7(2): 254-259.
- Killeen, B. M. and A. B. Wolfson (2020). "Antibiotics for Acute Bronchitis." Am Fam Physician 102(9): Online.
- Kim, J. E., A. Y. Park, S. Y. Lee, Y. L. Park, K. U. Whang and H. J. Kim (2018). "Comparison of the Efficacy of Azithromycin Versus Doxycycline in Acne Vulgaris: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials." Ann Dermatol 30(4): 417-426.
- Koga, T., T. Rikimaru, N. Tokunaga, T. Higashi, M. Nakamura, Y. Ichikawa and K. Matsuo (2011). "Evaluation of short-term clinical efficacy of 3-day therapy with azithromycin in comparison with 5-day cefcapene-pivoxyl for acute streptococcal tonsillopharyngitis in primary care." J Infect Chemother 17(4): 499-503.
- Kogan, R., M. A. Martínez, L. Rubilar, E. Payá, I. Quevedo, H. Puppo, G. Girardi and J. A. Castro-Rodriguez (2003). "Comparative randomized trial of azithromycin versus erythromycin and amoxicillin for treatment of community-acquired pneumonia in children." Pediatr Pulmonol 35(2): 91-98.
- Koletar, S. L., A. J. Berry, M. H. Cynamon, J. Jacobson, J. S. Currier, R. R. MacGregor, M. W. Dunne and D. J. Williams (1999). "Azithromycin as treatment for disseminated Mycobacterium avium complex in AIDS patients." Antimicrob Agents Chemother 43(12): 2869-2872.
- Kuriyama, T., D. W. Williams, M. Yanagisawa, K. Iwahara, C. Shimizu, K. Nakagawa, E. Yamamoto and T. Karasawa (2007). "Antimicrobial susceptibility of 800 anaerobic isolates from patients with dentoalveolar infection to 13 oral antibiotics." Oral Microbiol Immunol 22(4): 285-288.
- Kus, S., D. Yucelten and A. Aytug (2005). "Comparison of efficacy of azithromycin vs. doxycycline in the treatment of acne vulgaris." Clin Exp Dermatol 30(3): 215-220.
- Kuster, S. P., W. Rudnick, A. Shigayeva, K. Green, M. Baqi, W. L. Gold, R. Lovinsky, M. P. Muller, J. E. Powis, N. Rau, A. E. Simor, S. L. Walmsley, D. E. Low and A. McGeer (2014). "Previous antibiotic exposure and antimicrobial resistance in invasive pneumococcal disease: results from prospective surveillance." Clin Infect Dis 59(7): 944-952.
- Kwon, Y. S., W. J. Koh and C. L. Daley (2019). "Treatment of Mycobacterium avium Complex Pulmonary Disease." Tuberc Respir Dis (Seoul) 82(1): 15-26.

- Laine, L., R. Estrada, M. Trujillo, K. Cheybani, P. Yeramian, S. Smith and G. Neil (1999). "Once-daily therapy for H. pylori infection: a randomized comparison of four regimens." Am J Gastroenterol 94(4): 962-966.
- Lakoš, A. K., A. Pangerčić, M. Gašparić, M. M. Kukuruzović, D. Kovačić and B. Baršić (2012). "Safety and effectiveness of azithromycin in the treatment of respiratory infections in children." Curr Med Res Opin 28(1): 155-162.
- Lantos, P. M., J. Rumbaugh, L. K. Bockenstedt, Y. T. Falck-Ytter, M. E. Aguero-Rosenfeld, P. G. Auwaerter, K. Baldwin, R. R. Bannuru, K. K. Belani, W. R. Bowie, J. A. Branda, D. B. Clifford, F. J. DiMario, Jr., J. J. Halperin, P. J. Krause, V. Lavergne, M. H. Liang, H. Cody Meissner, L. E. Nigrovic, J. J. Nocton, M. C. Osani, A. A. Pruitt, J. Rips, L. E. Rosenfeld, M. L. Savoy, S. K. Sood, A. C. Steere, F. Strle, R. Sundel, J. Tsao, E. E. Vaysbrot, G. P. Wormser and L. S. Zemel (2021). "Clinical Practice Guidelines by the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA), American Academy of Neurology (AAN), and American College of Rheumatology (ACR): 2020 Guidelines for the Prevention, Diagnosis, and Treatment of Lyme Disease." Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 73(1): 1-9.
- Laopaiboon, M., R. Panpanich and K. Swa Mya (2015). "Azithromycin for acute lower respiratory tract infections." Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015(3): Cd001954.
- Laurent, J., F. Mégraud, J. F. Fléjou, A. Caekaert and P. Barthélemy (2001). "A randomized comparison of four omeprazole-based triple therapy regimens for the eradication of Helicobacter pylori in patients with non-ulcer dyspepsia." Aliment Pharmacol Ther 15(11): 1787-1793.
- Lee, E., I. S. Sol, J. D. Kim, H. J. Yang, T. K. Min, G. C. Jang, Y. H. Hwang, H. J. Cho, D. I. Suh, K. Kim, H. S. Kim, Y. H. Kim, S. I. Woo, Y. J. Lee, S. Jung and Y. H. Jeon (2021). "Long-term macrolide treatment for non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis in children: a meta-analysis." Sci Rep 11(1): 24287.
- Lefèvre, S., E. Njamkepo, S. Feldman, C. Ruckly, I. Carle, M. Lejay-Collin, L. Fabre, I. Yassine, L. Frézal, M. Pardos de la Gandara, A. Fontanet and F. X. Weill (2023). "Rapid emergence of extensively drug-resistant Shigella sonnei in France." Nat Commun 14(1): 462.
- Li, P., G. Jiang and X. Shen (2019). "Evaluation of 3-day azithromycin or 5-day cefaclor in comparison with 10-day amoxicillin for treatment of tonsillitis in children." Can J Physiol Pharmacol 97(10): 939-944.
- Lieberthal, A. S., A. E. Carroll, T. Chonmaitree, T. G. Ganiats, A. Hoberman, M. A. Jackson, M. D. Joffe, D. T. Miller, R. M. Rosenfeld, X. D. Sevilla, R. H. Schwartz, P. A. Thomas and D. E. Tunkel (2013). "The diagnosis and management of acute otitis media." Pediatrics 131(3): e964-999.
- Heaney, Liam G., Eosinophilic and Non-eosinophilic Asthma, An Expert Consensus Framework to Characterize Phenotypes in a Global Real-Life Severe Asthma Cohort, CHEST 2021; 160(3):814-830
- Lim, W. S., S. V. Baudouin, R. C. George, A. T. Hill, C. Jamieson, I. Le Jeune, J. T. Macfarlane, R. C. Read, H. J. Roberts, M. L. Levy, M. Wani and M. A. Woodhead (2009). "BTS guidelines for the management of community acquired pneumonia in adults: update 2009." Thorax 64 Suppl 3: iii1-55.
- Lu, Z., D. A. Tadi, J. Fu, K. Azizian and E. Kouhsari (2022). "Global status of Azithromycin and Erythromycin Resistance Rates in Neisseria gonorrhoeae: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis." Yale J Biol Med 95(4): 465-478.
- Machalek DA, Tao Y, Shilling H, et al. Prevalence of mutations associated with resistance to macrolides and fluoroquinolones in Mycoplasma genitalium: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2020;20:1302–1314.

Mack, I., M. Sharland, J. A. Berkley, N. Klein, S. Malhotra-Kumar and J. Bielicki (2020). "Antimicrobial Resistance Following Azithromycin Mass Drug Administration: Potential Surveillance Strategies to Assess Public Health Impact." Clin Infect Dis 70(7): 1501-1508.

Maleszka, R., K. Turek-Urasinska, M. Oremus, J. Vukovic and B. Barsic (2011). "Pulsed azithromycin treatment is as effective and safe as 2-week-longer daily doxycycline treatment of acne vulgaris: a randomized, double-blind, noninferiority study." Skinmed 9(2): 86-94.

Malizia, T., M. R. Tejada, E. Ghelardi, S. Senesi, M. Gabriele, M. R. Giuca, C. Blandizzi, R. Danesi, M. Campa and M. Del Tacca (1997). "Periodontal tissue disposition of azithromycin." J Periodontol 68(12): 1206-1209.

Margaritis, V. K., G. S. Ismailos, S. S. Naxakis, N. S. Mastronikolis and P. D. Goumas (2007). "Sinus fluid penetration of oral clarithromycin and azithromycin in patients with acute rhinosinusitis." Am J Rhinol 21(5): 574-578.

Marchisio, P., E. Nazzari, S. Torretta, S. Esposito and N. Principi (2014). "Medical prevention of recurrent acute otitis media: an updated overview." Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther 12(5): 611-620.

Martin-Loeches, I., A. Torres, B. Nagavci, S. Aliberti, M. Antonelli, M. Bassetti, L. D. Bos, J. D. Chalmers, L. Derde, J. de Waele, J. Garnacho-Montero, M. Kollef, C. M. Luna, R. Menendez, M. S. Niederman, D. Ponomarev, M. I. Restrepo, D. Rigau, M. J. Schultz, E. Weiss, T. Welte and R. Wunderink (2023). "ERS/ESICM/ESCMID/ALAT guidelines for the management of severe community-acquired pneumonia." Intensive Care Med 49(6): 615-632.

Martin, D. H., T. F. Mroczkowski, Z. A. Dalu, J. McCarty, R. B. Jones, S. J. Hopkins and R. B. Johnson (1992). "A controlled trial of a single dose of azithromycin for the treatment of chlamydial urethritis and cervicitis. The Azithromycin for Chlamydial Infections Study Group." N Engl J Med 327(13): 921-925.

Mason, L. C. E., D. R. Greig, L. A. Cowley, S. R. Partridge, E. Martinez, G. A. Blackwell, C. E. Chong, P. M. De Silva, R. J. Bengtsson, J. L. Draper, A. N. Ginn, I. Sandaradura, E. M. Sim, J. R. Iredell, V. Sintchenko, D. J. Ingle, B. P. Howden, S. Lefèvre, E. Njamkepo, F. X. Weill, P. J. Ceyssens, C. Jenkins and K. S. Baker (2023). "The evolution and international spread of extensively drug resistant Shigella sonnei." Nat Commun 14(1): 1983.

Matzneller, P., S. Krasniqi, M. Kinzig, F. Sörgel, S. Hüttner, E. Lackner, M. Müller and M. Zeitlinger (2013). "Blood, tissue, and intracellular concentrations of azithromycin during and after end of therapy." Antimicrob Agents Chemother 57(4): 1736-1742.

Megraud, F., R. Bruyndonckx, S. Coenen, L. Wittkop, T. D. Huang, M. Hoebeke, L. Bénéjat, P. Lehours, H. Goossens and Y. Glupczynski (2021). "Helicobacter pylori resistance to antibiotics in Europe in 2018 and its relationship to antibiotic consumption in the community." Gut 70(10): 1815-1822.

Mikamo, H., K. Iwasaku, Y. Yamagishi, M. Matsumizu and M. Nagashima (2014). "Efficacy and safety of intravenous azithromycin followed by oral azithromycin for the treatment of acute pelvic inflammatory disease and perihepatitis in Japanese women." J Infect Chemother 20(7): 429-435.

Minakari, M., A. H. Davarpanah Jazi, A. Shavakhi, N. Moghareabed and F. Fatahi (2010). "A randomized controlled trial: efficacy and safety of azithromycin, ofloxacin, bismuth, and omeprazole compared with amoxicillin, clarithromycin, bismuth, and omeprazole as second-line therapy in patients with Helicobacter pylori infection." Helicobacter 15(2): 154-159.

Mitjà O, Suñer C, Giacani L, Vall-Mayans M, Tiplica GS, Ross JDC, Bradshaw CS. Treatment of bacterial sexually transmitted infections in Europe: gonorrhoea, Mycoplasma genitalium, and syphilis. Lancet

Reg Health Eur. 2023 Oct 26;34:100737. doi: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2023.100737. PMID: 37927440; PMCID: PMC10625009.

Mohs, E., A. Rodriguez-Solares, E. Rivas and Z. el Hoshy (1993). "A comparative study of azithromycin and amoxycillin in paediatric patients with acute otitis media." J Antimicrob Chemother 31 Suppl E: 73-79.

Mousavi, S., J. Toussy, S. Yaghmaie and M. Zahmatkesh (2006). "Azithromycin in one week quadruple therapy for H pylori eradication in Iran." World J Gastroenterol 12(28): 4553-4556.

Müller, O. (1993). "Comparison of azithromycin versus clarithromycin in the treatment of patients with upper respiratory tract infections." J Antimicrob Chemother 31 Suppl E: 137-146.

Müller, O. (1996). "An open comparative study of azithromycin and roxithromycin in the treatment of acute upper respiratory tract infections." J Antimicrob Chemother 37 Suppl C: 83-92.

Muniz, F. W., C. C. de Oliveira, R. de Sousa Carvalho, M. M. Moreira, M. E. de Moraes and R. S. Martins (2013). "Azithromycin: a new concept in adjuvant treatment of periodontitis." Eur J Pharmacol 705(1-3): 135-139.

Newman, L. M., J. S. Moran and K. A. Workowski (2007). "Update on the management of gonorrhea in adults in the United States." Clin Infect Dis 44 Suppl 3: S84-101.

O'Brien, K. S., P. Emerson, P. J. Hooper, A. L. Reingold, E. G. Dennis, J. D. Keenan, T. M. Lietman and C. E. Oldenburg (2019). "Antimicrobial resistance following mass azithromycin distribution for trachoma: a systematic review." Lancet Infect Dis 19(1): e14-e25.

O'Doherty, B. (1996). "An open comparative study of azithromycin versus cefaclor in the treatment of patients with upper respiratory tract infections." J Antimicrob Chemother 37 Suppl C: 71-81.

Olsen, K. M., G. San Pedro, L. P. Gann, P. O. Gubbins, D. M. Halinski and G. D. Campbell, Jr. (1996). "Intrapulmonary pharmacokinetics of azithromycin in healthy volunteers given five oral doses." Antimicrob Agents Chemother 40(11): 2582-2585.

Ovetchkine, P. and M. J. Rieder (2013). "Azithromycin use in paediatrics: A practical overview." Paediatr Child Health 18(6): 311-316.

Pakhale, S., S. Mulpuru, T. J. Verheij, M. M. Kochen, G. G. Rohde and L. M. Bjerre (2014). "Antibiotics for community-acquired pneumonia in adult outpatients." Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014(10): Cd002109.

Parsad, D., R. Pandhi, R. Nagpal and K. S. Negi (2001). "Azithromycin monthly pulse vs daily doxycycline in the treatment of acne vulgaris." J Dermatol 28(1): 1-4.

Patel, A. M., S. Shariff, D. G. Bailey, D. N. Juurlink, S. Gandhi, M. Mamdani, T. Gomes, J. Fleet, Y. J. Hwang and A. X. Garg (2013). "Statin toxicity from macrolide antibiotic coprescription: a population-based cohort study." Ann Intern Med 158(12): 869-876.

Patel, P. H. and M. F. Hashmi (2024). Macrolides. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL) ineligible companies. Disclosure: Muhammad Hashmi declares no relevant financial relationships with ineligible companies., StatPearls Publishing

Copyright © 2024, StatPearls Publishing LLC.

Pellegrino, R., E. Timitilli, M. C. Verga, A. Guarino, I. D. Iacono, I. Scotese, G. Tezza, G. Dinardo, S. Riccio, S. Pellizzari, S. Iavarone, G. Lorenzetti, G. Simeone, M. Bergamini, D. Donà, L. Pierantoni, S. Garazzino, S. Esposito, E. Venturini, G. C. Gattinara, A. Lo Vecchio, G. L. Marseglia, G. Di Mauro, N. Principi, L. Galli and E. Chiappini (2023). "Acute pharyngitis in children and adults: descriptive

comparison of current recommendations from national and international guidelines and future perspectives." Eur J Pediatr 182(12): 5259-5273.

Penning-van Beest, F. J., J. Koerselman and R. M. Herings (2008). "Risk of major bleeding during concomitant use of antibiotic drugs and coumarin anticoagulants." J Thromb Haemost 6(2): 284-290.

Peters, D. H., H. A. Friedel and D. McTavish (1992). "Azithromycin. A review of its antimicrobial activity, pharmacokinetic properties and clinical efficacy." Drugs 44(5): 750-799.

Pleterski-Rigler D. Azithromycin treatment for children with erythema migrans. Program and abstracts of 6th Europian Congress of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, March 1993

Pleterski-Rigler D. Treatment of Erythema migrans in children - comparison of azithromycin and phenoxymethylpenicillin. Pliva, Zagreb, Croatia, 1994.

Pichichero, M. E. (2016). "Ten-Year Study of the Stringently Defined Otitis-prone Child in Rochester, NY." Pediatr Infect Dis J 35(9): 1033-1039.

Polverino, E., P. C. Goeminne, M. J. McDonnell, S. Aliberti, S. E. Marshall, M. R. Loebinger, M. Murris, R. Cantón, A. Torres, K. Dimakou, A. De Soyza, A. T. Hill, C. S. Haworth, M. Vendrell, F. C. Ringshausen, D. Subotic, R. Wilson, J. Vilaró, B. Stallberg, T. Welte, G. Rohde, F. Blasi, S. Elborn, M. Almagro, A. Timothy, T. Ruddy, T. Tonia, D. Rigau and J. D. Chalmers (2017). "European Respiratory Society guidelines for the management of adult bronchiectasis." Eur Respir J 50(3).

Pukander, J. and M. Rautianen (1996). "Penetration of azithromycin into middle ear effusions in acute and secretory otitis media in children." J Antimicrob Chemother 37 Suppl C: 53-61.

Ramblière, L., D. Guillemot, E. Delarocque-Astagneau and B. T. Huynh (2021). "Impact of mass and systematic antibiotic administration on antibiotic resistance in low- and middle-income countries? A systematic review." Int J Antimicrob Agents 58(1): 106364.

Rivers CM, Hoffman RS, Nelson LS. Cardiovascular Collapse Following an Intravenous Azithromycin Overdose in an Infant. 2012. Abstracts of the 2012 International Congress of the European Association of Poisons Centres and Clinical Toxicologists, 25 May–1 June 2012, London, UK, Clinical Toxicology, 50:4, 273-366.

Rijk, M. H., S. Hullegie, A. G. M. Schilder, M. F. Kortekaas, R. Damoiseaux, T. J. M. Verheij and R. P. Venekamp (2021). "Incidence and management of acute otitis media in adults: a primary care-based cohort study." Fam Pract 38(4): 448-453.

Rolfe, R. J., H. Shaikh and L. G. Tillekeratne (2022). "Mass drug administration of antibacterials: weighing the evidence regarding benefits and risks." Infect Dis Poverty 11(1): 77.

Rosenfeld, R. M., J. F. Piccirillo, S. S. Chandrasekhar, I. Brook, K. Ashok Kumar, M. Kramper, R. R. Orlandi, J. N. Palmer, Z. M. Patel, A. Peters, S. A. Walsh and M. D. Corrigan (2015). "Clinical practice guideline (update): adult sinusitis." Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 152(2 Suppl): S1-s39.

Ross, J., S. Guaschino, M. Cusini and J. Jensen (2018). "2017 European guideline for the management of pelvic inflammatory disease." Int J STD AIDS 29(2): 108-114.

Rothermel, C. D. (2003). "Single-dose azithromycin for acute otitis media: a pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic rationale." Curr Ther Res Clin Exp 64(Suppl 1): 4-15.

Ruscio M. Efficacy of selected chemotherapeutics in Erythema migrans. Study of a homogeneous sample. The Third ICMAS\*, Lisbon, Portugal, Jan 24-27, 1996

Sáez-Llorens, X., E. Castaño, L. Wubbel, M. M. Castrejón, I. de Morales, D. Vallarino, I. de Atencio, L. Muñiz, K. Olsen and G. H. McCracken, Jr. (1998). "[Importance of Mycoplasma pneumoniae and

Chlamydia pneumoniae in children with community-acquired pneumonia]." Rev Med Panama 23(2): 27-33.

Sánchez, F., J. Mensa, J. A. Martínez, R. Badia, M. Albarracín, J. E. Losa, M. Ruiz, M. A. Marcos, A. Torres and E. Soriano (1998). "[Treatment of pneumonia caused by Legionella with azithromycin]." Rev Esp Quimioter 11(2): 147-151.

Sanz, M. and W. Teughels (2008). "Innovations in non-surgical periodontal therapy: Consensus Report of the Sixth European Workshop on Periodontology." J Clin Periodontol 35(8 Suppl): 3-7.

Sardana K, Mathachan SR, Gupta T. Antibiotic resistance in acne an emergent need to recognize resistance to azithromycin and restrict its unapproved use in acne vulgaris. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2021 May;35(5):e347–8.

Savaris, R. F., L. M. Teixeira, T. G. Torres, M. I. Edelweiss, J. Moncada and J. Schachter (2007). "Comparing ceftriaxone plus azithromycin or doxycycline for pelvic inflammatory disease: a randomized controlled trial." Obstet Gynecol 110(1): 53-60.

Schentag, J. J. and C. H. Ballow (1991). "Tissue-directed pharmacokinetics." Am J Med 91(3a): 5s-11s.

Schilder, A. G., T. Chonmaitree, A. W. Cripps, R. M. Rosenfeld, M. L. Casselbrant, M. P. Haggard and R. P. Venekamp (2016). "Otitis media." Nat Rev Dis Primers 2(1): 16063.

Schouenborg, P., N. Gerdes, H. Rasmussen, N. Wickers-Nielsen and E. Mathiassen (2000). "Azithromycin versus pivampicillin in the treatment of acute exacerbations of chronic bronchitis: a single-blind, double-dummy, multicentre study." J Int Med Res 28(3): 101-110.

Seelis R, Dohmen W. 6-day H. pylori eradication therapy in primary care medicine using azithromycin, tinidazole, pantoprazole. Gastroenterology 1997; 112:A284.

Segura-Egea, J. J., K. Gould, B. H. Şen, P. Jonasson, E. Cotti, A. Mazzoni, H. Sunay, L. Tjäderhane and P. M. H. Dummer (2018). "European Society of Endodontology position statement: the use of antibiotics in endodontics." Int Endod J 51(1): 20-25.

Seidman, J. C., C. L. Coles, E. K. Silbergeld, J. Levens, H. Mkocha, L. B. Johnson, B. Muñoz and S. K. West (2014). "Increased carriage of macrolide-resistant fecal E. coli following mass distribution of azithromycin for trachoma control." Int J Epidemiol 43(4): 1105-1113.

Shao, L., C. You, J. Cao, Y. Jiang, Y. Liu and Q. Liu (2020). "High treatment failure rate is better explained by resistance gene detection than by minimum inhibitory concentration in patients with urogenital Chlamydia trachomatis infection." Int J Infect Dis 96: 121-127.

Siempos, II, G. Dimopoulos, I. P. Korbila, K. Manta and M. E. Falagas (2007). "Macrolides, quinolones and amoxicillin/clavulanate for chronic bronchitis: a meta-analysis." Eur Respir J 29(6): 1127-1137.

Silva, F. M., J. N. Eisig, A. C. Teixeira, R. C. Barbuti, T. Navarro-Rodriguez and R. Mattar (2008). "Short-term triple therapy with azithromycin for Helicobacter pylori eradication: low cost, high compliance, but low efficacy." BMC Gastroenterol 8: 20.

Simicevic, V. N., D. Erceg, C. Dohoczky, S. Radosevic, R. Spaventi, M. Buraglio, S. Canali and J. Culig (1998). "Lack of Effect of Food on the Bioavailability of Oral Azithromycin Tablets." Clinical Drug Investigation 16(5): 405-410.

Skalet, A. H., V. Cevallos, B. Ayele, T. Gebre, Z. Zhou, J. H. Jorgensen, M. Zerihun, D. Habte, Y. Assefa, P. M. Emerson, B. D. Gaynor, T. C. Porco, T. M. Lietman and J. D. Keenan (2010). "Antibiotic selection pressure and macrolide resistance in nasopharyngeal Streptococcus pneumoniae: a cluster-randomized clinical trial." PLoS Med 7(12): e1000377.

- Skerk, V., S. Schönwald, I. Krhen, A. Banaszak, J. Begovac, J. Strugar, Z. Strapac, R. Vrsalovic, J. Vukovic and M. Tomas (2003). "Comparative analysis of azithromycin and ciprofloxacin in the treatment of chronic prostatitis caused by Chlamydia trachomatis." Int J Antimicrob Agents 21(5): 457-462.
- Skerk, V., S. Schönwald, I. Krhen, L. Markovinović, B. Barsić, I. Mareković, S. Roglić, Z. Zeljko, A. Vince and V. Cajić (2002). "Comparative analysis of azithromycin and clarithromycin efficacy and tolerability in the treatment of chronic prostatitis caused by Chlamydia trachomatis." J Chemother 14(4): 384-389.
- Smith, S. M., T. Fahey, J. Smucny and L. A. Becker (2017). "Antibiotics for acute bronchitis." Cochrane Database Syst Rev 6(6): Cd000245.
- Stahl, J. P., B. Castan, E. Bonnet, J. P. Bru, R. Cohen, S. Diamantis, A. Faye, H. Hitoto, N. Issa, P. Lesprit, L. Maulin, D. Poitrenaud, J. Raymond, C. Strady, E. Varon, R. Verdon, F. Vuotto, Y. Welker and R. Gauzit (2022). "Utilization of macrolides. State of the art 2022 Spilf and GPIP." Infect Dis Now 52(5): 252-266.
- Stille (2012) "Antibiotikatherapie- Klinik und Praxis der antiinfektiösen Behandlung" 12. Auflage Schattauer.
- Strandell, J., A. Bate, S. Hägg and I. R. Edwards (2009). "Rhabdomyolysis a result of azithromycin and statins: an unrecognized interaction." Br J Clin Pharmacol 68(3): 427-434.
- Strle, F., V. Preac-Mursic, J. Cimperman, E. Ruzic, V. Maraspin and M. Jereb (1993). "Azithromycin versus doxycycline for treatment of erythema migrans: clinical and microbiological findings." Infection 21(2): 83-88.
- Strle, F., E. Ruzic and J. Cimperman (1992). "Erythema migrans: comparison of treatment with azithromycin, doxycycline and phenoxymethylpenicillin." J Antimicrob Chemother 30(4): 543-550.
- Sullivan, B., W. Coyle, R. Nemec and T. Dunteman (2002). "Comparison of azithromycin and clarithromycin in triple therapy regimens for the eradication of Helicobacter pylori." Am J Gastroenterol 97(10): 2536-2539.
- Suzuki, H. G., J. E. Dewez, R. G. Nijman and S. Yeung (2020). "Clinical practice guidelines for acute otitis media in children: a systematic review and appraisal of European national guidelines." BMJ Open 10(5): e035343.
- Swanston, W. H., P. Prabhakar, L. Barrow, B. S. Mahabir and C. Furlonge (2001). "Single dose (direct observed) azithromycin therapy for Neisseria gonorrhoeae and Chlamydia trachomatis in STD clinic attenders with genital discharge in Trinidad and Tobago." West Indian Med J 50(3): 198-202.
- Takahashi, S., H. Kiyota, S. Ito, A. Iwasawa, Y. Hiyama, T. Uehara, K. Ichihara, J. Hashimoto, N. Masumori, K. Sunaoshi, K. Takeda, N. Suzuki, T. Hosobe, H. Goto, H. Suzuki and S. Onodera (2014). "Clinical Efficacy of a Single Two Gram Dose of Azithromycin Extended Release for Male Patients with Urethritis." Antibiotics (Basel) 3(2): 109-120.
- Taylor, S. L., L. E. X. Leong, F. M. Mobegi, J. M. Choo, S. Wesselingh, I. A. Yang, J. W. Upham, P. N. Reynolds, S. Hodge, A. L. James, C. Jenkins, M. J. Peters, M. Baraket, G. B. Marks, P. G. Gibson, G. B. Rogers and J. L. Simpson (2019). "Long-Term Azithromycin Reduces Haemophilus influenzae and Increases Antibiotic Resistance in Severe Asthma." Am J Respir Crit Care Med 200(3): 309-317.
- Teughels, W., M. Feres, V. Oud, C. Martín, P. Matesanz and D. Herrera (2020). "Adjunctive effect of systemic antimicrobials in periodontitis therapy: A systematic review and meta-analysis." J Clin Periodontol 47 Suppl 22: 257-281.

Thiboutot, D. M., B. Dréno, A. Abanmi, A. F. Alexis, E. Araviiskaia, M. I. Barona Cabal, V. Bettoli, F. Casintahan, S. Chow, A. da Costa, T. El Ouazzani, C. L. Goh, H. P. M. Gollnick, M. Gomez, N. Hayashi, M. I. Herane, J. Honeyman, S. Kang, L. Kemeny, R. Kubba, J. Lambert, A. M. Layton, J. J. Leyden, J. L. López-Estebaranz, N. Noppakun, F. Ochsendorf, C. Oprica, B. Orozco, M. Perez, J. Piquero-Martin, J. A. See, D. H. Suh, J. Tan, V. T. Lozada, P. Troielli and L. F. Xiang (2018). "Practical management of acne for clinicians: An international consensus from the Global Alliance to Improve Outcomes in Acne." J Am Acad Dermatol 78(2 Suppl 1): S1-S23.e21.

Thorpe, E. M., Jr., W. E. Stamm, E. W. Hook, 3rd, S. A. Gall, R. B. Jones, K. Henry, G. Whitworth and R. B. Johnson (1996). "Chlamydial cervicitis and urethritis: single dose treatment compared with doxycycline for seven days in community based practises." Genitourin Med 72(2): 93-97.

Tian BP, Xuan N, Wang Y, Zhang G, Cui W. The efficacy and safety of azithromycin in asthma: A systematic review. J Cell Mol Med. 2019 Mar;23(3):1638-1646.

Tilelli, J. A., K. M. Smith and R. Pettignano (2006). "Life-threatening bradyarrhythmia after massive azithromycin overdose." Pharmacotherapy 26(1): 147-150.

Topic, A., V. Skerk, A. Puntaric, V. Milavec Puretic, A. Beus and J. Begovac (2006). "Azithromycin: 1.0 or 3.0 gram dose in the treatment of patients with asymptomatic urogenital chlamydial infections." J Chemother 18(1): 115-116.

Torbahn, G., H. Hofmann, G. Rücker, K. Bischoff, M. H. Freitag, R. Dersch, V. Fingerle, E. Motschall, J. J. Meerpohl and C. Schmucker (2018). "Efficacy and Safety of Antibiotic Therapy in Early Cutaneous Lyme Borreliosis: A Network Meta-analysis." JAMA Dermatol 154(11): 1292-1303.

Trevisani, L., S. Sartori, M. Caselli, M. Ruina, G. Verdianelli and V. Abbasciano (1998). "A four-day low dose triple therapy regimen for the treatment of Helicobacter pylori infection." Am J Gastroenterol 93(3): 390-393.

Trevisani, L., S. Sartori, F. Galvani, M. Ruina, M. Caselli, G. Verdianelli and V. Abbasciano (1998). "Evaluation of a new ultrashort triple therapy for Helicobacter pylori disease." Aliment Pharmacol Ther 12(12): 1269-1272.

Vcev, A., A. Vceva, D. Stimac, B. Takac, B. Dmitrović and D. Kovac (1998). "Omeprazole, azithromycin and either amoxycillin or metronidazole in eradication of Helicobacter pylori in duodenal ulcer patients." Aliment Pharmacol Ther 12(5): 453-456.

Wang X, Luo J, Wang D, Liu B, Liu C. The efficacy and safety of long-term add-on treatment of azithromycin in asthma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019 Sep;98(38):e17190.

Weber, K., B. Wilske, V. Preac-Mursic and R. Thurmayr (1993). "Azithromycin versus penicillin V for the treatment of early Lyme borreliosis." Infection 21(6): 367-372.

Westphal, J. F. (2000). "Macrolide – induced clinically relevant drug interactions with cytochrome P-450A (CYP) 3A4: an update focused on clarithromycin, azithromycin and dirithromycin." British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology 50(4): 285-295.

Wierzbowski, A. K., D. J. Hoban, T. Hisanaga, M. DeCorby and G. G. Zhanel (2006). "The use of macrolides in treatment of upper respiratory tract infections." Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 6(2): 171-181.

Wildfeuer, A., H. Laufen, M. Leitold and T. Zimmermann (1993). "Comparison of the pharmacokinetics of three-day and five-day regimens of azithromycin in plasma and urine." J Antimicrob Chemother 31 Suppl E: 51-56.

Woodhead, M., F. Blasi, S. Ewig, G. Huchon, M. Ieven, A. Ortqvist, T. Schaberg, A. Torres, G. van der Heijden and T. J. Verheij (2005). "Guidelines for the management of adult lower respiratory tract infections." Eur Respir J 26(6): 1138-1180.

Woodhead M, Blasi F, Ewig S, Garau J, Huchon G, Ieven M, Ortqvist A, Schaberg T, Torres A, van der Heijden G, Read R, Verheij TJ; Joint Taskforce of the European Respiratory Society and European Society for Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. Guidelines for the management of adult lower respiratory tract infections--full version. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2011 Nov;17 Suppl 6(Suppl 6):E1-59.

Worm, A. M. and A. Osterlind (1995). "Azithromycin levels in cervical mucus and plasma after a single 1.0g oral dose for chlamydial cervicitis." Genitourin Med 71(4): 244-246.

Yang, Z., J. K. Prinsen, K. R. Bersell, W. Shen, L. Yermalitskaya, T. Sidorova, P. B. Luis, L. Hall, W. Zhang, L. Du, G. Milne, P. Tucker, A. L. George, Jr., C. M. Campbell, R. A. Pickett, C. M. Shaffer, N. Chopra, T. Yang, B. C. Knollmann, D. M. Roden and K. T. Murray (2017). "Azithromycin Causes a Novel Proarrhythmic Syndrome." Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 10(4).

Yeo, Y. H., S. I. Shiu, H. J. Ho, B. Zou, J. T. Lin, M. S. Wu, J. M. Liou and C. Y. Wu (2018). "First-line Helicobacter pylori eradication therapies in countries with high and low clarithromycin resistance: a systematic review and network meta-analysis." Gut 67(1): 20-27.

Zhanel, G. G., K. D. Wolter, C. Calciu, P. Hogan, D. E. Low, K. Weiss and J. A. Karlowsky (2014). "Clinical cure rates in subjects treated with azithromycin for community-acquired respiratory tract infections caused by azithromycin-susceptible or azithromycin-resistant Streptococcus pneumoniae: analysis of Phase 3 clinical trial data." J Antimicrob Chemother 69(10): 2835-2840.

#### Links

Adebiyi EO, Ayoade F. Kingella Kingae. [Updated 2023 Jul 4]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 Jan <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK547690/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK547690/</a>

Andrašević AT, Zmak LJ, Obrovac M et al. Antibiotic resistance in Croatia, 2022. <a href="https://iskra.bfm.hr/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/Knjiga-2022">https://iskra.bfm.hr/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/Knjiga-2022</a> 1-za-web.pdf

DARWIN EU - DUS of Antibiotics in the 'Watch' category of the WHO AWaRe classification of antibiotics for evaluation and monitoring of use, 2023

 $\frac{\text{https://www.encepp.eu/encepp/openAttachment/studyResultLatest/104211;jsessionid=LC3z8a5t8GSr}{QAVaxIx8tT0NKSycvfzLpbSfQJ\ CTcF99\ a-jSsH!1933118450}$ 

# **European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control:**

Antimicrobial resistance in the EU/EEA (EARS-Net) - Annual Epidemiological Report, 2022. https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/AER-antimicrobial-resistance.pdf

Antimicrobial resistance surveillance in Europe 2023 - 2021 data

https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/antimicrobial-resistance-surveillance-europe-2023-2021-data

Gonococcal antimicrobial susceptibility surveillance in the European Union/European Economic Area - Summary of results for 2020

https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/gonococcal-antimicrobial-susceptibility-surveillance-2020

Surveillance Atlas of Infectious Diseases

# German national guidelines:

S3-Leitlinie Behandlung von erwachsenen Patienten mit ambulant erworbener Pneumonie

https://register.awmf.org/de/leitlinien/detail/020-020

S3-Leitlinie Odontogene Infektionen

https://register.awmf.org/de/leitlinien/detail/007-006

Aktualisierte S2k-Leitlinie Helicobacter pylori und gastroduodenale Ulkuskrankheit

https://register.awmf.org/de/leitlinien/detail/021-001

# NICE Guidelines:

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (acute exacerbation): antimicrobial prescribing.

https://www.nice.org.uk/quidance/ng114

Cough (acute): antimicrobial prescribing

https://www.nice.org.uk/quidance/nq120

Otitis media (acute): antimicrobial prescribing

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng91

Sinusitis (acute): antimicrobial prescribing

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng79

Panel on Opportunistic Infections in HIV-Exposed and HIV-Infected Children. Guidelines for the Prevention and Treatment of Opportunistic Infections in HIV-Exposed and HIV-Infected Children. Department of Health and Human Services. Available at

https://clinicalinfo.hiv.gov/en/guidelines/pediatric-opportunistic-infection . Accessed (September 2024) [Dosing Recommendations for Prevention and Treatment of Mycobacterium avium Complex (MAC)]

https://clinicalinfo.hiv.gov/en/quidelines/pediatric-opportunistic-infection

Rao J, Chen Jennifer, Butler DF. Acne vulgaris. Dermatology. Medscape. Updated Aug 27, 2020. <a href="https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/1069804-overview">https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/1069804-overview</a>

Robert Koch Institut - Antiinfektiva-Report - zeitlicher Verlauf

https://avs.rki.de/Content/ReferenceData/HospitalComparisonTime.aspx

Varon E et al. (2021). National Pneumococcal Resistance Center; Activity report 2021-Epidemiology 2020.

https://cnr-pneumo.com/docman/rapports/58-2021-epidemiologie-2020/file

WHO 2023 AWaRe classification

https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-MHP-HPS-EML-2023.04

WHO Regional Office for Europe/European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Antimicrobial resistance surveillance in Europe 2022 – 2020 data. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2022.

https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/351141/9789289056687-eng.pdf

Points to consider on wording of Helicobacter Pylori eradication therapy in selected SPC sections

https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/wording-helicobacter-pylori-eradication-therapy-selected-summary-product-characteristics-sections-scientific-guideline

Paediatric drug optimization (PADO) standard procedure. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 <a href="https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/349315">https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/349315</a>, accessed 17 May 2025).